
February 25, 2019City Council Agenda   Page 1 of 3 

 
 

 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 2019 – 6:00 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 

Members: 
Mayor Tom Hartz, Council President, Ken Howell, Council Vice President, John Halverson,  

Alderpersons: Selena Proksa, Doug Skates, Tim Dunn, Cindy Flower, Shari Straube, and Rich Hedlund 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Mayor Hartz calls the meeting to order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance – Alderperson Howell 
 
3. Roll Call 
 
4. Awards, Presentations, Proclamations, and Announcements 

 
a. Parking Enforcement will begin on March 1, 2019 
b. April 2, 2019 Spring Election- In-Office Absentee Voting will begin March 13, 2019 at City Hall 

 
5. Re-consider business from previous meeting 

 
6. Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 

hearing items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes 
 

7. Acknowledgement of Correspondence 
 

8. Approve Regular City Council Meeting minutes of February 11, 2019, as prepared and distributed 
 

9. CONSENT AGENDA– Recommended by Finance, License and Regulation on February 19, 2019 
Any item listed on the consent agenda may be removed at the request of any member of the Council.  The request 
requires no second, is not discussed, and is not voted upon. 

 
a. 2018-2019 Original & Renewal Operator License applications filed by various applicants as listed in packet 

 
b. Event Permit Application filed by Anissa Haywood for the event of Haywood Graduation Party to take place 

on June 2, 2019 (1:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m.) in Cobb Park 
 

c. Agent Change for Aldi Store #56 to Ryan McDermid  
 
10. Items Removed from the Consent Agenda 

 
11. Discussion/Action regarding naming City Administrator David Nord as Owner’s Designated Representative under the 

AIA contract between Owner and Construction Manager, with MSI General Corp 
 
12. Finance, License, and Regulation Committee Recommendations of February 19, 2019- Alderperson Howell 

 
a. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R08 a resolution authorizing the amendment of the 2019 General 

Fund Operating Budgets to utilize contingency funds for the increased wages/benefits for the Clerk’s Office 
Part-Time Front Counter Clerk position in an amount not to exceed $1,897 

 
City of Lake Geneva 
626 Geneva St 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 
(262) 248-3673 
www.cityoflakegeneva.com 

 



February 25, 2019City Council Agenda   Page 2 of 3 

 
b. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R09 a resolution authorizing the amendment of the 2018 

Operating Budgets to utilize 2018 contingency funds for the overage of City expenditures as listed in 
Schedule “A” of the resolution 

 
c. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R10 a resolution authorizing the carryover of 2018 Equipment 

Replacement Funds to the 2019 Equipment Replacement Fund 
 
d. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R11 a resolution authorizing the transfer of 2018 Lakefront 

Special Fund in an amount of $534,006 and of 2018 Parking Special Revenue Fund in an amount of 
$1,069,995 to the General Fund 

 
e. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R12 a resolution authorizing amendments in the City of Lake 

Geneva Fee Schedule; relating to the addition of annual West End Pier, Lagoon Slip, Buoy, Dinghy, Kayak & 
Paddleboard Rack Lease Permit Rates and Commercial Boat Launch Fees 

 
f. Discussion/Action on renewal of the TAPCO contract including Video Detection Maintenance for 2019/2020 
 
g. Discussion/Action regarding purchase of sixty-six (66) Cale CWT Touch Screen Parking Meters 
 
h. Discussion/Action regarding approving of agreement with UPSafety to add additional license plate lookup 

automation software 
 

13. Planning Commission Recommendations of February 18, 2019- Alderperson Skates 
 

a. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 18-R72 a Conditional Use Permit to Lake Geneva Plaza, LLC to 
construct a Fuel Station, Convenience Store, Carwash & Dunkin Donut Restaurant at Tax Key No. 
ZA370600001 
 

b. Discussion/Action regarding an Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) CSM for Applicant John & Jelka Leedle, 
N891 Hwy 120, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, for the Joseph Leedle N879 State Road 120, Lake Geneva, WI 
53147 property for the separation of farm structures from the farmland as identified on the certified survey 
dated 12/27/2018 located in the Town of Linn. Tax Key No. IL2600001. 

 
c. Discussion/Action regarding an Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) CSM for Applicant Purnell Enterprise 

LLC., N1886 Hwy 120, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, for the lot line adjustment to include the approximate 10’ 
strip of land that is currently enclosed by a fence as identified on the certified survey dated July 27, 2018 Tax 
Key No. MA403300001. 
 

d. Discussion/Action regarding a Land Division filed by Anagnos Properties, Inc., P.O. Box 1117, Lake Geneva, 
WI 53147, to create a 3 lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the property located at 811 Wrigley Dr. to 
generate three individual lots for the property in the Central Business (CB) zoning district, Tax Key No. 
ZOP00341-ZOP00345. 

 
e. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R13 a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by Daniel E. 

Schuld, 281 Keyes Ave, Hampshire, IL 60140, requesting the change of use for the building at 727 Geneva 
St, for a Brewery, Tap Room, & Gift Shop, and renovations to the existing exterior deck and patio, located in 
the Planned Development (PD) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZOP00157. 

 
f. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R14 a Conditional Use Permit filed by Tom Koenig, 5802 

Arlington Dr., Palatine, IL 60067, for the property located at 715 LaGrange Dr. to utilize the Single Family – 
4 (SR-4) zoning in the Estate   Residential – 1 (ER-1) zoning, to raze and rebuild a new Single Family 
Residence. Tax Key No. ZLE00016. 

 
 

 



February 25, 2019City Council Agenda   Page 3 of 3 

g. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 19-R15 for a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) and Development 
Agreement filed by McMurr II, LLC, 351 Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL. 60654, requesting a Planned 
Development for the property located on Lake Geneva Blvd. in the Summerhaven Condominium Subdivision 
to allow for the Precise Implementation Plan to continue the development of Phase II, located in Planned 
Development (PD) zoning district, and a corresponding Development Agreement, Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00001 
thru ZSUM0000247. 
 

14. Presentation of Accounts – Ald. Howell (Recommended by Finance, License and Regulation Committee on 
February 19, 2019) 
 

a. Prepaid Bills in the amount of $35,542.61 
b. Regular Bills in the amount of $394,689.69 

 
15. Motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85(1)(c) considering employment, promotion, 

compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the governmental body has 
jurisdiction or exercises responsibility regarding: 1) Detective Sergeant Glen Nettesheim 

 
16. Motion to return to open session pursuant to Wisconsin Statues 19.85 (2) and take action on any items 

discussed in closed session 
 

17. Adjournment 
 

Requests from persons with disabilities, who need assistance to participate in this meeting or hearing, should be made to the City 
Clerk’s office in advance so the appropriate accommodations can be made. 

 



February 11, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 1 of 3 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 11, 2019 – 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 
Members: Mayor Tom Hartz, Council President, Ken Howell, Council Vice President, John Halverson,  
Alderpersons: Selena Proksa, Doug Skates, Tim Dunn, Cindy Flower, Shari Straube, and Rich Hedlund 
 
 
Mayor Hartz called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 

 
Alderperson Hedlund let the Council in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
Roll Call 
Present: Proksa, Skates, Dunn, Flower, Straube, Halverson, Hedlund, and Howell 
Absent: None 

 
Awards, Presentations, Proclamations, and Announcements 

 
Parking Enforcement will begin on March 1, 2019 
Mayor Hartz noted that paid parking and parking enforcement will begin on March 1, 2019. 
 
Re-consider business from previous meeting 
None 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public hearing 
items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes 
None 
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence 
Clerk Kropf noted that there wasn’t any correspondence to acknowledge at this time. 

 
Approve Regular City Council Meeting minutes of January 28, 2019, as prepared and distributed 
Motion by Skates to approve, second by Straube. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA– Recommended by Finance, License and Regulation on February 5, 2019 
Any item listed on the consent agenda may be removed at the request of any member of the Council.  The request requires 
no second, is not discussed, and is not voted upon. 
 
-2018-2019 Original & Renewal Operator License applications filed by various applicants as listed in packet 

 
-Event Permit Application filed by the Geneva Lake Arts Foundation for the event of Art in the Park to take place on 
August 10, 2019 (10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.) and August 11, 2019 (10:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.) located in Flat Iron Park  

 
-Event Permit Application filed by Badger High School for the event of Badger High School Graduation to take place on 
June 9, 2019 (12:30 p.m. to 3:30 p.m.) located at 600 N Bloomfield Road 

 
-Event Permit Application filed by the Lake Geneva Jaycees for the event of the Easter Egg Hunt to take place on April 
20, 2019 (8:00 a.m. to Noon) located in Seminary Park 

 
-Temporary Class “B”/ “Class B” Retailer’s License Application filed by St Francis De Sales for the event of Italian Fest 
to be held March 2, 2019 (6:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.) located at 148 W Main St- Parish Center 

 
-Temporary Operator License Application filed by Phillip Neimeyer for the event of Walworth County Food Pantry 10th 
Anniversary Celebration to be held April 28, 2019 located at the Lake Geneva Museum, 255 Mill St, Lake Geneva, WI 

 

 



February 11, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 2 of 3 

-Temporary Class “B”/ “Class B” Retailer’s License Application filed by Brown’s Lake Aquaducks Water Ski Club for 
the event of Aquaduck Fall Fundraiser to be held November 9, 2019 located at the Riviera Ballroom, 812 Wrigley Dr, 
Lake Geneva, WI  
 
Motion by Howell to approve the consent agenda, second by Proksa. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Items Removed from the Consent Agenda 
None 
 
Second Reading of Ordinance 19-02 an ordinance amending Chapter 74, Traffic and Vehicles, Section 74-221, Parking 
Meters, Subsection (h), Authorized City Parking Stickers, Clarifying Limitations and Requirements for City Parking 
Stickers 
Mayor Hartz offered Ordinance 19-02 as a second reading for the Council consideration. 
 
Motion by Hedlund to approve Ordinance 19-02, second by Skates. Flower questioned why the amount of the allowable 
business stickers is being increased and questioned why the Walworth County is still available. She wondered if there 
could be a radius allowed instead. Finance Director Hall noted that previous administrations had authorized the 
availability of four stickers, but then the ordinance did not allow for that many. She spoke with Attorney Draper and they 
decided that this would be a better clarification for the front counter staff.  
 
Motion to amend by Flower to change item h(1) in the proposed ordinance to allow for business owners to have one 
sticker instead of two as currently stated, second by Straube. Motion failed 0-8, with all voting no. 
 
Original motion was reread, motion carried 8-0.  
  
Second Reading of Ordinance 19-03 an ordinance amending Chapter 74, Traffic and Vehicles, Section 74-221, Parking 
Meters, by adding Subsection (i), Challenges to Parking Citations, Adding Procedures for Contesting Parking Citations 
Mayor Hartz offered Ordinance 19-03 as a second reading for the Council consideration. 
 
Motion by Heldund to approve Ordinance 19-03, second by Halverson. Attorney Draper explained that there isn’t a 
limitation on when severely out of date parking tickets are reviewed by the Municipal Court. He noted that these changes 
would clarify that process. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Finance, License, and Regulation Committee Recommendations of February 5, 2019- Alderperson Howell 

 
Discussion/Recommendation regarding Resolution 19-R04 a resolution authorizing the amendment of the 2019 General 
Fund to reallocate 2019 Health Insurance Costs to City of Lake Geneva department budgets  
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Skates. Howell noted that this is a housekeeping issue and a better way to track 
the Health Insurance costs for each department. Motion carried 8-0. 
  
Discussion/Recommendation regarding Resolution 19-R05 a resolution authorizing the amendment of the 2019 General 
Fund and Parking Fund Operating Budgets to utilize contingency funds for increased wages/benefits for the full time 
Front Counter Clerks and Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant in an amount not to exceed $19,719 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Straube. Howell noted that this grade change was approved in December with 
the use of contingency, but that this resolution would show the amendment to the budget. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/Recommendation regarding Resolution 19-R06 creating a policy for Capital Projects; Specifically increasing 
the current threshold of $5,000 to $10,000 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Flower. City Administrator Nord explained that this is best practice and will not 
go into effect until budget year 2020. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/Recommendation regarding Resolution 19-R07 a resolution authorizing the Clerk’s Office Part-Time Front 
Counter Clerk Wage Grade increase from Grade 4 to Grade 7 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Flower. Proksa noted that this should have been taken care of when the full time 
front counter clerks were increased. Hedlund noted that this isn’t arbitrary, but is coming due to an increase in work 
responsibilities and duties. Motion carried 8-0. 



February 11, 2019City Council Minutes   Page 3 of 3 

Presentation of Accounts – Ald. Howell (Recommended by Finance, License and Regulation Committee on 
February 5, 2019) 

 
Purchase Orders 
None 
 
Prepaid Bills in the amount of $101,574.07 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Hedlund. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Regular Bills in the amount of $219,681.68 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Proksa. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Adjournment 
Motion by Hedlund to adjourn the meeting of the Common Council, second by Halverson. Motion carried 8-0. The 
meeting of the Common Council adjourned at 6:41 p.m. 
 



 
Original License: 
Catherine Steidiner 
Stephanie Appel 
Ethan Miller 
 
Renewal Operator: 

























 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the amendment of the 2019 General Fund Operating Budgets to utilize contingency 
funds for the increased ages/benefits for the Clerk’s Office Part-Time Front Counter Clerk position in an 
amount not to exceed $1,897 

 
Committee: 

 
Finance, License, and Regulation Committee to consider on February 19, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: $1,897 

File Number: 19-R08 Date: February 25, 2019 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Common Council approved the 2019 General Fund Operating Budget for the City of Lake 
Geneva, and 
 
WHEREAS, a Contingency account was budgeted at $151,087 for 2019 unbudgeted, approved expenditures, 
and  
  
WHEREAS, the Finance, Licensing and Regulation Committee approved the request for part-time front desk 
clerk wages and benefits increases totaling $1,897, and  
 
WHEREAS, this expenditure was not included in the 2019 Operating Budget and utilizing Contingency 
funds for this purpose would be appropriate, and 
    
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the Common Council adopt a budget amendment allowing for a 
transfer in the 2019 Operating Budget as follows: 
 
 Increase Acct # 11-14-30-51200, City Clerk Staff Wages, by $1,762 
 Increase Acct # 11-14-30-51520, City Clerk Social Security, by $135 
 Decrease Acct #11-10-00-57800, Contingency Fund, by $1,897 
 
Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February, 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
 

 

   Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _____________________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA
Costs of Increasing Front Desk Counter Clerk

Pay Grade 4 Pay Grade 7
Average Average

20/Hours Week 20/Hours Week
Front Desk Front Desk
Part-Time Part-Time

Rate of Pay 16.4024               18.0962               
Times:  Number of Hours 1,040.00              1,040.00              
Current Annual Pay 17,058.50            18,820.05            

FICA at 7.65% 1,304.97              1,439.73              

18,363.47            20,259.78            

Total Cost
Increase for 2019 1,896.31              



 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the amendment of the 2018 Operating Budgets to utilize 2018 contingency funds for the 
overage of City expenditures as listed in Schedule “A” of the resolution 

 
Committee: 

 
Finance, License, and Regulation Committee to consider on February 19, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: $77,900 

File Number: 19-R09 Date: February 25, 2019 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Council approved the 2018 General Fund Operating Budget for the City of Lake 
Geneva, and 
 
WHEREAS, a Contingency account was budgeted at $192,093 for 2018 unbudgeted, approved expenditures, 
and  
  
WHEREAS, certain expenditures exceeded their 2018 General Fund Operating Budget amounts and 
utilizing Contingency funds for this purpose would be appropriate, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Finance, Licensing and Regulation Committee reviewed the proposed budget amendment 
and found it is in the best interest of the City and recommends that the City of Lake Geneva Common 
Council approve the amendment as found in attached Schedule “A” in the amount of $77,900 utilizing 
Contingency funds, and  
     
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the Common Council adopt a budget amendment allowing for use 
of Contingency funds in the amount of $77,900. 
 
Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February, 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
 

 

   Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _____________________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA
PROPOSED BUDGET AMENDMENTS - 2018
SCHEDULE "A"

ACCOUNT NAME ACCOUNT NUMBER DR CR

INS REIMB-OTHER DEPTS 11-10-10-55090 3,600.00       
GENERAL LIABILITY INS 11-10-10-55120 700.00          
BOILER & MACH INS 11-10-10-55130 1,300.00       
WORKERS COMP INS 11-10-10-55160 1,100.00       

CITY ADMIN MISC 11-14-20-53990 7,500.00       

SALE OF POLICE EQUIPMENT 11-21-00-48300 11,000.00    
SALE OF POLICE EQUIPMENT 50-21-00-48300 11,000.00    

BUILDING PERMITS 11-24-00-44300 10,000.00    
CONTRACT BUILDING INSPECTOR 11-24-00-52190 7,000.00       
BLDG INSPECTOR OFFICE SUPPLIES 11-24-00-53100 2,000.00       
BLDG INSPECTOR TRAVEL-MILEAGE 11-24-00-53300 1,000.00       

ASST PW DIRECTOR SALARY 11-32-10-51100 76,365.00    
ST DEPT WAGES 11-32-10-51200 76,365.00    
ST DEPT WAGES 11-32-10-51200 4,000.00       

SOLID WASTE-RESIDENTIAL 11-36-00-52940 2,000.00       
SOLID WASTE-STREETS 11-36-00-52960 2,500.00       
SOLID WASTE-RECYCLING 11-36-00-52970 2,100.00       

MUSEUM MAINT & REPAIRS 11-51-10-52400 1,000.00       

PARK DONATION PURCHASES 11-52-00-57360 22,000.00    

VETS PARK WAGES 11-52-01-51200 7,000.00       
VETS PARK BLDG MAINT & REPAIR 11-52-01-53500 2,000.00       

OUTSIDE PROFESSIONAL PLANNING 11-69-30-52120 20,000.00    

RECREATION PROGRAMS & EVENTS 11-70-00-55300 1,100.00       

CONTINGENCY 77,900.00    

175,265.00  175,265.00  



 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the carryover of 2018 Equipment Replacement Funds to the 2019 Equipment 
Replacement Fund 

 
Committee: 

 
Finance, License, and Regulation Committee to consider on February 19, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: $272,000 

File Number: 19-R10 Date: February 25, 2019 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Council approved the 2018 Equipment Replacement Budget for the City of Lake 
Geneva for equipment purchases to occur during 2018, and 
 
WHEREAS, the actual pricing and timing on certain replacement equipment has changed from the budgeted 
assumptions, and  
 
WHEREAS, the Common Council hereby finds and determines that it is necessary, desirable and in the best 
interest of the City of Lake Geneva to amend the 2018 approved budget and carryover the following funds to 
the 2019 budget as follows: 
 
 Acct# 50-32-00-58000 – DPW Equipment Purchases $272,000 
 
WHEREAS, on February 19, 2019, the City of Lake Geneva, Finance, Licensing and Regulation Committee 
reviewed the proposed budget amendment and found it is in the best interest of the City and recommends that 
the City of Lake Geneva Common Council approve the carryover of $272,000 to the 2019 budget.  
    
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva be hereby 
directed and authorized to carryover 2018 funds and amend the 2019 budget as outlined above. 
 
Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February, 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
 

 

   Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _____________________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA
PROPOSED BUDGET CARRYOVERS
2018 TO 2019 BUDGET

SWEEPER TRUCK - DELIVERED FEB 2019 255,000.00  
FORKLIFT - DELIVERED JAN 2019 17,000.00    

TOTAL 272,000.00  



 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the transfer of 2018 Lakefront Special Fund in an amount of $534,006 and of 2018 
Parking Special Revenue Fund in an amount of $1,069,995 to the General Fund 

 
Committee: 

 
Finance, License, and Regulation Committee to consider on February 19, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: $1,604,001 

File Number: 19-R11 Date: February 25, 2019 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Council approved the 2018 Operating Budget for the General Fund which 
includes revenue from transfers from the Lakefront Fund of $526,286 and the Parking Fund of $901,787, and 
 
WHEREAS, it was previously approved that all but $75,000 of revenues over expenditures from each of 
these Special Revenue Funds be transferred to the General Fund, and 
 
WHEREAS, it is still desirable to have a fund balance remaining in each of these Special Revenue Funds 
and the level that would be most appropriate is $846,656 for the Lakefront Fund and $1,050,000 for the 
Parking Fund and that the excess could be transferred to the General Fund by the year end 2018,  
 
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the Common Council adopts a resolution to transfer to the General 
Fund, at year end 2018, an amount of $534,006 from the Lakefront Special Revenue Fund and an amount of 
$1,069,995 from the Parking Special Revenue Fund which will leave a $75,000 addition to the fund balance 
in each of these funds. 
 
Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February, 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
 

 

   Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _____________________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 







 1 

    

 SCHEDULE OF FEES  
   CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WISCONSIN 

 
The City of Lake Geneva may retain overpayments of taxes, fees, licenses, and similar 

charges when the overpayment is $2 or less, unless such refund is specifically requested by the 
remitter. 
 

LICENSES & PERMITS 
ALCOHOL LICENSE FEES * STATUTORY LIMITS  
           Temporary Retailer’s $10.00 Each 
           Provisional/Temp. Operator  (60 days) $15.00 each 
           Operator  $50.00 Annual 

Prorated after January 1 to $30.00 
           Class A Liquor $500.00  
           Class A Beer $100.00 
           Class C Wine $100.00 
           Class B Liquor (Quota License) $500.00 
           Class B Beer $100.00 
           Reserve Class B Liquor $10,000.00 
           Change of Agent $10.00 
           Publication Fee $25.00 

Extension of Premises $25.00 
ANNEXATION FILING FEE – DUE UPON PETITION $200.00 
AMUSEMENTS  
           Coin Operated music machine/juke box $20.00 per machine 
ASSESSMENT REQUEST LETTER              $35.00 each 
BANNER PERMIT $20.00 per banner per two-week time 

period 
BUSINESS LICENSE $25.00 Annual 
           Late fee after July 1 $20.00 (in addition to license fee) 
CAT LICENSE  
           Not Spayed/Neutered $8.00 Annual 
              Spayed/Neutered $4.00 Annual 
              Late fee after April 1, or 30 days after adoption    
            of new animal if adoption occurs after April 1 

$5.00 (in addition to license fee) 

DOG LICENSE  
           Not Spayed/Unneutered $30.00 Annual 
            Spayed/Neutered $15.00 Annual 
              Late fee after April 1, or 30 days after adoption of  
           new animal if adoption occurs after April 1 

$5.00 (in addition to license fee) 

BOWLING ALLEY $20.00 per lane 
BILLIARDS OR POOL TABLE $40.00 per table 
CARRIAGE  COMPANY LICENSE $50.00 Annual 
           Each Additional Carriage $25.00 
CLOSING OUT SALE $25.00 event 

Resolution 19-R12 
The Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva does hereby establish the 

following revised schedule of fees, effective February 25, 2019 



 2 

CIGARETTE/TOBACCO LICENSE * STATUTORY $100.00 Annual 
CREAMERY PERMIT $50.00 
DIRECT SELLERS PERMIT $50.00 nonrefundable application fee 
MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT  
           Investigation $50.00 Annual 
           Transfer $50.00 
MOBILE HOME PARK LICENSE $100.00 Annual 
PARADE PERMITS $25.00 nonrefundable application fee 
  
CITY PARK PERMITS 
    RENTAL FEES ARE PER DAY, PER LOCATION $25.00 nonrefundable application fee 
     49 Attendees or less  
           Non-Profit Organization $50.00 deposit, $30.00 Rental 
           Resident $50.00 deposit, $30.00 Rental 
           Non-Resident $100.00 deposit, $75.00 Rental 
     50 to 149 Attendees  
           Non-Profit Organization $100.00 deposit, $55.00 Rental 
           Resident $100.00 deposit, $55.00 Rental 
           Non-Resident $150.00 deposit, $125.00 Rental 
     150 or more Attendees  
           Non-Profit Organization Deposit Determined by Park Board, 

$105.00 Rental 
           Resident Deposit Determined by Park Board, 

$105.00 Rental 
           Non-Resident Deposit Determined by Park Board, 

$225.00 Rental 
BASEBALL TOURNAMENT PERMIT FEE – VETERAN’S PARK $1,000 Security Deposit 
     Friday Rental $150.00 
     Saturday Rental $300.00 
     Sunday Rental $300.00 
  
ADDITIONAL PARK AMENITIES  
           Brunk Pavilion Rental $250.00 Resident/Non-Profit 

$500.00 Non-Resident 
           Benches $50.00 deposit, $5.00 each 
           Picnic Tables $50.00 deposit, $15.00 each 
           Barricades $50.00 deposit, $5.00 each 
           Fencing – Snow $30.00 per 50 feet 
           Trash Receptacles $50.00 deposit, $8.00 each 
  
PARKING STICKERS  
           Resident & Non-Resident Residence Owners  
           – Lasts 2 years (even)  – 2 hours free parking 

4 free per residence 
each additional $25.00 

           Business Owner 
           – 2 hours free parking 

  $25.00 Lasts 2 years (even) 
$25.00 for 1 year (effective Jan. 1 2017) 

$50.00 (effective Jan. 1, 2018) 
           Walworth County Resident 
            - 2 hours free parking 

$160.00 Lasts 2 years (even) 
$80.00 for 1 year 



 3 

           Parking Lot Permit $400.00 Annual   
PARKING RATES  
           Parking Stall Rate for stalls on Wrigley Dr.,  
          10 stalls at the boat launch, stalls on lower Center St.  
          south of Main St., stalls on lower Broad St. south of  
          Main St., 700 & 800 blocks of Main St., and Center St. 
          Parking Lot  
          All other Parking Stalls Rate 

$2.00 per hour 
 
 
 
 

$1.00 per hour 
           Parking Meter Bags/Contractor Permits $10.00 administrative fee 

$25.00 deposit per locked bag 
March 1 – Nov 14: $20.00 daily per bag 

Nov 15 – Feb 29: $10.00 daily per bag 
PARKING TICKETS     
           Expired Stall (Over 2 hours; Over 5 hours; Over 25 min.) $20.00 
           More than 3 motorcycles $20.00 
           Improper Use or Display of Sticker $20.00 
           Backed into parking stall $25.00 
           Compact Car Only $25.00 
           No Parking Zone $25.00 
           Over the Line $25.00 
           Parking by fire hydrant $40.00 
           Handicap Zone $150.00 
           Parking with Trailer or Trailer alone in Sage Lot D $25.00 
           Parking any Vehicle without a Trailer or with an  
           occupied Trailer in Boat Launch Parking Lot F  

$25.00 

LATE FEES     
           Expired Stall After 10 days $40.00 
           More than 3 motorcycles After 10 days $40.00 
           Backed into parking stall After 10 days $50.00 
           Compact Car Only After 10 days $50.00 
           No Parking Zone After 10 days $50.00 
           Parking by fire hydrant $80.00 
           Handicap Zone  $300.00 
           Second Collection Letter Fee $6.00 
           Vehicle Suspension Release Fee $20.00 
PUBLIC ASSEMBLY PERMIT Free 
PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS * STATUTORY  
           Photocopies 
           (can include hourly wage for gathering data) 

$0.25 per page 

RADON TEST KIT $10.00 
REISSUE CHECK FEE $25.00 
RETURNED CHECK FEE (NSF) $30.00 each 
ROOM TAX LICENSE $10.00 Annual 
SHOWS, CIRCUS, CARNIVALS  
           Circus $50.00 per day 
           Tent Show – Day 1 $15.00 
           Tent Show – Each Additional Day $10.00 
           All Other $2.00 per day 



 4 

SIDEWALK CAFÉ PERMIT $15.00 per seat Annual 
  
STREET USE PERMIT $25.00 nonrefundable application fee 
           Up to two days                         $40.00 
           More than two days $100.00 
TAX EXEMPT REPORT FILING (every other year) $20.00 
              Late Fee $20.00 
TAXI CAB COMPANY LICENSE $50.00 Annual 
           Each Additional Car $25.00 
TAXI CAB DRIVER LICENSE $25.00 Annual 
THEATER LICENSE  
           Up to 1,200 seats $200.00 
           Over 1,200 seats $275.00 
TOURIST ROOMING/SHORT-TERM RENTAL LICENSE $2,000.00 Annual 
TRAPPING PERMIT $25.00 Annual 
CITY HALL MEETING ROOM RENT                $25 per event 

 
 
 

LAKEFRONT 
BEACH 
(Open Memorial Day thru Labor Day –  
  no glass containers allowed) 

 

           Children age 6 and under Free 
           Children age 7-12                        $4.00 per day 
           Ages 13 to Adult                         $8.00 per day 
Resident Beach Tags (Maximum 6 per Household) $3.00 per tag 
Seasonal Pass Adult 13 and up                      $70.00 per year 
Seasonal Pass Child 7-12               $40.00 per year 
Beach Use Permits 
  Rental Excludes Beach Operating Hours  
  Memorial Day through Labor Day 9:00am to 6:00pm  
    Rental Fees are Per Day $25.00 nonrefundable application fee 
     49 Attendees or less  
           Non-Profit Organization $50.00 deposit, $30.00 Rental 
           Resident $50.00 deposit, $30.00 Rental 
           Non-Resident $100.00 deposit, $75.00 Rental 
     50 to 149 Attendees  
           Non-Profit Organization $100.00 deposit, $55.00 Rental 
           Resident $100.00 deposit, $55.00 Rental 
           Non-Resident $150.00 deposit, $125.00 Rental 
     150 or more Attendees  
           Non-Profit Organization Deposit Determined by  

Piers, Harbors & Lakefront,  
$105.00 Rental 

           Resident Deposit Determined by  
Piers, Harbors & Lakefront, 

 $105.00 Rental 
           Non-Resident Deposit Determined by  

Piers, Harbors & Lakefront, 



 5 

 $225.00 Rental 
     Beach Bathrooms – Opening/Cleaning Hourly Rate 
  
BOAT LAUNCH PERMIT  
     One-Time Launch Resident Non-Resident 
           Non-Trailer Non-Motor $7.00 $8.00 
           Less than 20 feet $10.00 $11.00 
           20 feet to 25 feet 11 inches $14.00 $21.00 
           26 feet and over $16.00 $24.00 
     Season Launch Permit  Resident Non-Resident 
           Non-Trailer Non-Motor $70.00 $80.00 
           Less than 20 feet $100.00 $110.00 
           20 feet to 25 feet 11 inches $140.00 $210.00 
           26 feet and over $160.00 $240.00 
COMMERCIAL BOAT LAUNCH PERMIT $1,000 per year (unlimited launches) 
ANNUAL WEST END PIER SLIP, LAGOON SLIP, BUOY, DINGHY, 
KAYAK AND PADDLEBOARD RACK LEASE PERMITS  

Rates may change on an annual basis by the 
Common Council 

      WEST-END PIER 24’ SLIP  
             Resident $1,774.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $2,661.00 
             Non-Resident $3,547.00 
      WEST-END PIER 26’ SLIP  
             Resident $2,070.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $3,015.00 
             Non-Resident $3,842.00 
      LAGOON SLIP & BUOY   
             Resident $764.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $1,272.00 
             Non-Resident $1,774.00 
      DINGHY, KAYAK, & PADDLEBOARD RACKS  
             Resident $131.00 
             Non- Resident Property Owner $191.00 
             Non-Resident $262.00 
BUOY/SLIP RATES ESTABLISHED ANNUALLY BY RESOLUTION  $30.00 per year 
           Season Launch Pass for Kayaks, Canoes and 
           Paddleboards (non-trailer, non-motor) 

 

RIVIERA RENTALS 
           Maximum attendees is 380 

$1,000.00 

           Security Deposit  $2,500.00    
           Resident Rental Fee  (Friday, Saturday, Sunday)    $3,000.00 
           Non-Resident Rental Fee  (Friday, Saturday, Sunday)  

$500.00 
           Resident & Non-Resident Weekday Rental Fee  
          (Monday - Thursday) 

$400.00 

           Not-for-Profit Group Rental Fee $20.00 per hour 
           Per Hour Set Up Fee Additional Renter Expense– Hourly Rate 
           Security Guards for Event (2) Additional Renter Expense - Hourly Rate 
           Extra Security Guard over 250 attendees  



 6 

 

BUILDING & ZONING  

Building Residential $60.00 
Commercial $100.00 

Minimum permit fee for all building permits  

 Residential Construction: $0.31 / sq. ft. 
New Single Family Construction 

$1,000.00 Minimum 
            One & Two family & attached garage (new,  
            addition and alterations) 

 $0.25 / sq. ft. 

            Accessory buildings & garages $0.15 / sq. ft., or $60.00 Minimum 

            Decks  $60.00 

            Roofing and Siding  

Commercial Construction: $0.31 / sq. ft. 
New Commercial Construction 

 $1,500.00 Minimum 
Residences - Apartments, Three family & over, Row Housing, 
Multiple Family Dwellings, Institutional (new, addition and 
alterations) 

$0.30/ sq. ft. 

Local Business, Office Building (new, addition or alteration)  $0.30 / sq. ft. 

Manufacturing or Industrial (new, addition or alteration) $10.00 / $1,000.00 valuation 

Commercial , structures, alterations, residing, reroofing, 
repairs, where square footage cannot be calculated 

 

Plan Examination: $150.00 

            One and Two Family Residence $150.00 plus $10.00 /unit 
 

            Apartments, Three Family Residence, Row 
            Housing, Multiple family Building 
            State Approved Plans 

$350.00 
 

Commercial, Industrial, Institutional & Additions 
            State Approved Plans 

$125.00/ Plan 

            Heating Plans, Energy Calculations, or Lighting 
            Plans submitted separately 

$75.00 

 Additions, Alterations to 1 & 2 Family Dwellings $40.00 

            Accessory building over 240 sq. ft., and decks for 
            1 & 2 family dwellings 

$45.00 

Wisconsin Uniform Building Permit Seal $60.00 
$100.00 

Occupancy Permit – Residential 
Commercial and Industrial 

$75.00 

Temporary (6 months or less Commercial only) $200.00 Commercial  
$50 Residential 

Permit Renewal (6 month extension or less)  

Heating and Air Conditioning: $3.00/ 100 sq. ft. of conditioned area 
with a minimum fee of $60.00 



 7 

Heating and Air Conditioning Distribution Systems  $125.00 first unit, $60.00 each additional 
unit. 

 
$60.00 / unit 

 
$150.00/ unit, up to and including 

150,000 BTU units. Additional fee of 
$20.00 / each 50,000 BTU fraction thereof 

up to a maximum of $900.00 / unit. 
New Residential Heating 
 
 
Replacement Residential Heating 
 
Commercial New or Replacement Heating 

$60.00 / unit 
 

Residential Air Conditioning – Other than Wall Units (new or 
replacement) 
 

 
$150.00/ unit up to 5tons or 60,000 

BTU's. Additional fee of $20.00 each ton 
or 12,000 BTU's or fraction thereof up to 

a maximum of $900.00 / unit 
Commercial Air Conditioning - Other than Wall Units (new or 
replacement) 

$60.00 / unit 

Permanently installed Wall unit (example – Fireplace, wall pack) $75.00  

Commercial/Industrial Exhaust Hoods and Exhaust Systems  

Plumbing Permit: $15.00/ fixture, drain or device, 
 $60.00 Minimum 

Fixture Count $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   
private water main, $60.00 Minimum   

 
Water Main $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   

private water main, / $9.00 per 
manhole$60.00 Minimum 

Sanitary Sewer $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   
private water main / $12.00 per manhole 

or basin $60.00 Minimum 
Storm Sewer $100.00 

Exterior Grease Trap  

Electrical: $60.00 minimum.  
 

Residential Minimum $100.00/ Service First 200 Amps,  
$25.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

New Residential Service $1.00 / lineal foot of sewer or   
private water main,  $60.00 minimum & 

/ $9.00 per manhole. 
Sanitary Sewer $100.00/ Service 

Residential Service Update $50.00/ Panel 

Residential Sub-Panel $75.00 (includes gas piping) 



 8 

Residential Generator $100.00 up to 200 Amps. 
$25.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

Temporary Electrical Service $150.00 Minimum 

Commercial Electrical Minimum $150.00/ Inspection 

Commercial Electrical Re-Inspections $150.00 First 200 Amps,  
$25.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

Commercial Service ( New or Update) $50.00 First 100 Amps,  
$10.00 each additional 100 Amps. 

Commercial Sub-Panel $150.00 (included gas piping) 

Commercial Generator $1.00/ Device, $100.00 Minimum 

Commercial Low Voltage $100.00 per site 

Commercial Exterior Light Fixture Replacement $0.10 / sq. ft. of area served,   
$60.00 minimum. 

 
$0.10 / sq. ft. of area served,  

$150.00 minimum. 
Residential Electrical Permit - for minor installations with fees 
not exceeding $5.00, the permit fee may be waived by the 
inspector.  
Commercial Electrical Permit - for minor installations with 
fees not exceeding $5.00, the permit fee may be waived by the 
inspector. 

 

Erosion control fees: $125.00 / lot 

            New One and Two Family Buildings $50.00 

            One and Two Family Additions and Accessory 
            Structures 

 $175.00/Building, plus $5.00/1,000 sq. 
ft. disturbed lot area up to $2,000.00 max. 

            Multi-Family Residential, Commercial, Industrial  
            and Institutional 

$40.00 

            Other  

Zoning $60.00 

Zoning Permit $60.00 

Certificate of Occupancy (per Section 98-909) $60.00 

Temporary Use (per Section 98-906) $50.00 

Zoning Verification Letter $60.00 minimum or $0.35/ sq ft of sign 
area 

Sign Permit (per Section 98-907) $125.00 (1-2 family) 
$250.00 (all others) 

Early Start Permit to start construction $75.00 administrative fee/ tank for 
installation or removal 

Fuel Tanks $100.00 ( One or two family residences 
and accessory Structure over 250 sq ft) 

Wrecking or Razing- Building Inspector may waive the fee if 
the structure is condemned 

$350.00 

Commercial/ Industrial Razing $250.00 plus $0.03/ sq ft 

Moving buildings over public right-of-ways $150.00/ inspection report 



 9 

Special Inspections and Reports $400.00 

Text Amendment (per Section 98-902) $400.00 

Zoning Map Amendment (per Section 98-903) For each new Residential Lot Created: 
$400.00 

For each new Commercial Lot Created: 
$200.00 

Certified Survey Map (CSM) $150.00 

Plat Renewal $400.00 
$100.00 

Conditional Use (per Section 98-905) $400.00 

Site Plan (per Section 98-908) $400.00 

Variance (per Section 98-910) $150.00 

Interpretation (per Section 98-911) $400.00 

Appeal (per Section 98-912) $750.00 

PD Zoning Map Amendment (Includes 1 PIP Review) $400.00 

PIP Review $10.00 

Filing or Recording fee with City Clerk, plus actual recording 
fee 

 

• Triple Fees: Upon failure to obtain a permit 
before work on a building has been started, 
except in emergency cases, the total fee shall be 
triple the total fees charged. 

 

NOTE: Fees shall be charged on gross square footage defined 
as follows: 
The exterior dimensions, including attached garage and each 
floor level 

 

NOTE: In determining costs, all construction shall be included 
with the exception of heating, air conditioning, electrical or 
plumbing work. 

 

NOTE: All fee amounts shall be rounded up to the next full 
dollar amount. 

 

NOTE: An additional fee for plan review may be assessed at the time of application for renewal of the 
permit. 

* Base fee may be modified by Subsection (4) of Section 98-935, Fees of the Zoning Code 

 
CEMETERY FEES $675.00 
Opening Grave – Weekdays (Full Burial) $800.00 
Opening Grave - Saturdays (Full Burial) $450.00 
Opening Grave – Weekdays (Cremation) $525.00 
Opening Grave – Saturdays (Cremation) $100.00 extra charge 
Two cremations buried in same grave at one time $200.00 
Opening Grave – Weekdays - Baby Under 1 Year   $300.00 
Opening Grave – Saturdays - Baby Under 1 Year  $650.00 
Grave (50% Perpetual Care) $400.00 
Grave – Single Cremation (50% Perpetual Care) $500.00 



 10 

Grave – Double Cremation (50% Perpetual Care)  $1,200.00 
$1,000.00 bottom row 

Columbarium Niche (includes opening & inurnment)  
($200 Perpetual Care) 

$150.00 additional 

2nd Inurnment if Niche allows for two $240.00 
Niche Door Inscriptions $75.00 
Frost Charges (November 1 to March 15) $50.00 
Stake Out Fee for Foundations $0.40 per square inch 
Foundation Charges 20% of Gross Receipts 

Use of Cemetery for Functions 

POLICE DEPARTMENT FEES  
FINGERPRINTING $15.00 
          City Residents  

$15.00 
          Individuals employed in business in city limits  
          or working for city licensed business 

$60.00 

          Non-Residents 

PUBLIC WORKS FEES  
CONSTRUCTION PERMIT FEE $25.00 
          Curb Cut/Driveway Approach Fee $25.00 
          Right-of-Way Excavation Fee $25.00 
          Storm Sewer Connection Fee $25.00 
          Sanitary Sewer Connection Fee $24.00 per 15 minutes 
Special brush, limb and refuse pick-up $50.00 per dumpster 
Dumpster Delivery $50.00 plus additional landfill fees 
Dumpster Pick-up  

 
 
 
 
 

FIRE DEPARTMENT FEES 

Fees for Apparatus and Personnel 1 hour minimum 
and fractions 

thereafter 
on hourly rates 
unless stated 

otherwise 
Chief, Deputy Chief or Assistant Chief $26.00/hr. 
Fire and EMS Personnel $26.00/hr. 
Engine/Squad $550.00/hr. 
Truck (aerial apparatus) $875.00/hr. 
Brush Truck $300.00/hr. 
Air Boat $300.00/hr. 
Technical Rescue and Utility $500.00/hr. 



 11 

Chief, Deputy Chief, Assistant Chief, or Command Vehicle $50.00/hr. 
Utility $50.00/hr. 
Ambulance $270.00/hr. 
Paramedic Intercept Fee $600.00 
EMS First Responder and Transport Fees   

Residents Fee $150.00 per call 
Non-Resident Fee $200.00 per call 

Ambulance Transport Fee Schedule   
Advanced Life Support Base Rate $918.89 
Advanced Life Support Base Rate (ALS2) $1010.47 
Advanced Life Support Base Rate (Intercept) $918.89 
Advanced Life Support Base Rate (Intercept ALS2) $1010.47 
Equal Level Staffing Mutual Aid $300.00 
Basic Life Support Base Rate $700.00 
Mileage Charge $20.00 per mile 
Supplies used fee   

Defibrillation $100.00 
EKG Monitoring $150.00 
Spinal Immobilization $150.00 
I/O Needle & Associated Supplies $200.00 
Airway Placement $150.00 
Oxygen & Associated Supplies $100.00 
IV & Associated Supplies $150.00 
CPAP Disposable $150.00 
Epi 1:1,000 $35.00 
Nitro Tabs $22.00 
Albuterol/Ventolin $30.00 
Glucagon $211.00 
Narcan $48.00 
ASA $32.00 
Dextrose 25gms/50cc $32.00 
Glucose $10.50 
CO2 Monitor Nasal/Tube $40.00 
Oil Dry $10.00 per bag 
Class A, B, or AB Firefighting Foam $30.00/gallon 
BLS Supplies Used $75.00 
ALS Supplies Used $125.00 

Paramedic Medications  
Adenocard $31.00 
Amiodorone $125.00 
Atropine $37.00 



 12 

Calcium Chloride $43.00 
Dextrose 5% $32.00 
Diltiazem $9.00 
Diphenhydramine $5.00 
Epi 1:10,000 $16.00 
Etomidate $94.00 
Heparin $32.00 
Ketamine $54.00 
Lidocaine $36.00 
Magnesium Sulfate $7.00 
Methylprednisolone $101.00 
Metoprolol $9.00 
Midazolam $68.00 
Norepinephrine $22.00 
Ondansteron $28.00 
Sodium Bicarbinate $37.00 
Sublimaze $5.00 
Succinylcholine $41.00 
Clopidogral $19.00 
Dopamine $97.00 
Hydromorphone $10.00 
Hydroxycobalamin $1270.00 
Metoclopromide $5.00 
Morphine Sulfate $56.00 
Trananexamic Acid $96.00 

Fees Relating To Permits Required  

           Fire pit burn permit 
$15.00 each fire or 

$50.00 yr 
           Fireworks permit $50.00 
           Burning permits $50.00 
           Key box processing fee $10.00 
           Operational Permit $75.00 
Fees Relating To Fire Protection Systems  
Basic system Review  
Fee is charged for systems without hydraulic calcs 

                    $250 

Fire Sprinkler, Fire Control and/or Fire Suppression system plan 
review with one set of hydraulic calculations.  (Fee is charged for 
each separate floor and /or area of building per system and 
review.) 

$300.00 

Verifications of  Additional Hydraulic Calcs 
(fee is charged for each additional set of hydraulic calculations 
required by the AHJ) 

$175.00 

Additional review of same system.  (Fee applies to all re-
submittals.) 

       $300 

 Site inspection during installation 
2 hour minimum Note: system may not be concealed prior to 
inspection.  Inspections are required for all systems. 

$75.00/hr. 

Modifications to existing systems  



 13 

   Min. fee per system without hydraulic calcs $75.00 
   Fee per sprinkler up to 15 sprinklers w/o calcs $20.00 ea. 
   Fee per sprinkler up to 15 with calcs $200.00 
   Fire Pumps per review $300.00 
Fire prevention inspection fee schedule:  
Residential Building Type:  

   4 to 36 units 
 $10 per unit per 

year 
   37 to 60 units  $400 per year 
   61 to 99 units  $450 per year 
   100 units and above  $500 per year 
Commercial:  
   Under 1,000 square feet  $50 
   1,000 to 4,999 square feet  $100 
   5,000 to 24,999 square feet  $150 
   25,000 to 99,000 square feet  $200 
   100,000 to 174,999 square feet  $400 
   175,000 to 249,999 square feet  $700 
Industrial:  
   Under 5,000 square feet  $100 
   5,000 to 24,999 square feet  $200 
   25,000 to 99,000 square feet  $300 
   100,000 to 174,999 square feet  $500 
   175,000 to 349,999 square feet  $800 
Additional conditions: 
(a) The fee for hotels and motels shall be the same as for 
residential property, except that the fee shall be calculated on a 
per room basis. 
(b) Square footage refers to the total floor area of any building or 
structure. 
(c) Inspection fees shall be charged to the property owner. Any 
fees unpaid by November 1 of each year shall be entered upon the 
tax roll as a special charge against the property and all 
proceedings in relation to the collection, return, and sale of the 
property for delinquent real estate taxes, shall apply to the 
inspection fee. 

 

Sprinkler system underground mains  
   0-200 feet $75.00 
   201-999 feet $125.00 
   1000 or more                 $300 
Fire hose standpipe connections $15.00 each 
Other fire protection systems (hood, wet & dry chem.)                    $300 
Fire alarm systems per control panel $250.00 
Fire Alarm system manual pull stations, initiating devices; this 
includes smoke, heat, flame, ionization, photoelectric detectors, 
water flow devices and all monitoring devices per review. 

$50.00 up to 3 
$10 each additional 

Witness of all required tests – 2 hour minimum           $150/hr. 
Inspection during installation $75.00/hr. 

https://www.ecode360.com/14136054#14136054
https://www.ecode360.com/14136055#14136055
https://www.ecode360.com/14136056#14136056


 14 

Fire protection Consulting on systems and or for occupancies or 
permits 

$75.00/hr. 
1 Hour Minimum 

 
Adopted this 25th day of February, 2019. 
       
        _________________________________ 

Tom Hartz, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
______________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk 



































 

                                           CITY OF LAKE GENEVA 
   626 Geneva Street 

                                                                        Lake Geneva, WI  53147 
                                                              www.cityoflakegeneva.com 
 

Memorandum 

TO:  Chairman Flower & Public Works Committee 
  
FROM:  Sylvia Mullally, Parking Manager  

DATE:  February 12, 2019 

RE:  Request for Purchase of 63 Cale CWT – touchscreen parking meters  
 
Background: 

• August 7, 2018, During the FY19 budget process, FLR approved as one of the City’s goals 
to, “Improve parking infrastructure and equipment to improve efficiency and customer 
service.” 

• October 8, 2018, Council approved a 120-day testing trial with the company, Total 
Parking Solutions, demoing (2) different models of parking meters to test data 
communication speed, customer usability, maintenance and compatibility with the 
City’s existing parking operational system.   

• January 8, 2018, staff reported findings regarding the (2) models to PWC and was 
directed to re-report findings along with financial and budget recommendations to 
PWC on February 12, 2019.   

 
Staff Recommendation: 

• Staff recommends the City purchase (63) Cale CWT touch screen parking meters/pay 
stations & associated back office software system as agreed in FY19 Budget Goals 

• Staff considerations for upgrade include: improve user experience, improve service 
delivery time, enhanced power source, upgrade options and vendor consistency. 

 
Product Criteria Tested: 

√ Faster Service Delivery Time:  Unit sends/receives data 30 seconds faster 
√ Proven Compatibility with existing parking enforcement/permit/financial system 
√ Improved User Experience:  More comprehensible & easier to read directions  
√ *Users responded positively to touch screen over tactile & non-tactile keyboard  
√ Improved screen visibility: Screen is 9 inches in color and easier to view  
√ Improved Power System:  Solar panel- 13W solar powered and antennae 
√ Improved battery recharging system: 80 amp battery with more lasting power 
 

Funding:  
• Initial Purchase: Parking Department fund allocated for equipment upgrades  
• Annual Costs:  Parking Department budgeted support contract line item  

 

 

http://www.cityoflakegeneva.com/


EXCLUSIVE METER “TOUCH SCREEN” MODEL 
 
 CALE touch CALE/keyboard T2 Cosmo Parkeon 
TOUCH 
SCREEN 
UNIT 

CWT NONE NONE NONE 

 
 

ONE-TIME PURCHASE COSTS PER UNIT 
 
 CALE touch CALE/keyboard T2 Cosmo Parkeon StradaPal 
PER UNIT $7,495 $7,250 tba $6,995 
63 units $472,185 $455,750 tba $440,685 
Installation 
shipping 

$14,931 $14,931 tba $36,300 

Total  $487,116 $477,931 tba $476,985 
 

*DEPARTMENTAL ANNUAL COSTS 
 
 Current 

Luke II 
CALE touch CALE keyboard T2 

Cos
mo 

Parkeon 
StradaPal 

Maintenance  
per 63 units 

$925 per 
year/$58,275 

$560 per 
year/$35,280 

$560 per 
year/$35,280 

tba $560 per 
year/$35,280 

Software/Firmwar
e 
per 63 units 

$35 per 
month/$37,80
0 

$65 per 
month/$49,14
0 

$65 per 
month/$49,140 

tba $60 per 
month/$45,36
0 

M2M data  
per 63 units $15 per month included included 

tba 
included 

 $96,075 $84,420 $84,420 tba  
 
Special Considerations: 

• Cost Savings:  40% less per unit per year on annual maintenance contract 
• Longevity:  Modem is 3G/4G HSPA+ compatible with 4G network; no modem update 

required; YR2020 3G de-supported concerns.   
 
 
Per approval Staff recommends the following dates: 
 
Phase Recommendation: 

Phase     Date 
Purchase     March 2019 
Installation      April-May 2019 (before Memorial Weekend) 

 

 







 

                                           CITY OF LAKE GENEVA 
   626 Geneva Street 

                                                                        Lake Geneva, WI  53147 
                                                              www.cityoflakegeneva.com 
 

Memorandum 

TO:  Chairman Flower & Public Works Committee 
  
FROM:  Sylvia Mullally, Parking Manager  

DATE:  February 12, 2019 

RE:  Action-Approval Requested for Office Automation-License Plate Lookup Process 
 
Recommendation 

1) Approve the agreement, to automate (license plate) owner lookups from our current 
vendor, UPSafety. 

Agreement  
• Allows UPSafety to lookup vehicle owner information  
• Allows found vehicle information to be populated in the City’s cloud account  
• Provides a detailed owner lookup spreadsheet on a monthly basis 
• Invoiced at a rate of $2.50 per successful lookup on a monthly basis  
• Automates and consolidates parking administrative process currently performed by 

Front Counter/PD Dispatch staff 
 
Background 
The City’s current practices of license plate owner lookups:  

• Requires duplicate data-entry work involving (2) departments-Police Dispatch & Front 
Counter 

• Results in inconsistent and/or slow delivery response time in sending notices  
• Results in inconsistent and/or slow delivery response time in sending accounts to 

collection  
 
Funding 
Budget in FY19 Parking Department Line Item #Support Contracts  
 
FY20 Budgetary Consideration-Shared Wages 
As a result of cost and time savings in administration, staff would request FY20 budget to 
reevaluate “shared wages” (monies allocated for NON-parking staff wages/benefits/retirees).  

 

http://www.cityoflakegeneva.com/


$fiTHY

United Public Safety

321 Morris Road

Fort Washington, pA

19034

OFFICE HOURS:

8AM _5PM EST

TECHNICALSUPPORT: SUppORTHOURS:

TEL 215.394.1906 x3 24171365

FAX 267.803.1971
su p po rt@ u psafetv. n et

E Rhode tsland
E South Carolina
E South Dakota
0 Tennessee
u I exas
E Vermont
E Washington
E West Virginia
E Wisconsin
E Wyoming

E Alabama
E Alaska
D Arkansas
E Colorado
E Connecticut
E Delaware
trDC
tr Florida
D Georgia
tr ldaho

fl tllinois
E lndiana
E Kansas
E Kentucky
E Louisiana
E Maine
E Maryland
E Massachusetts
tr Michigan
E Minnesota

E Mississippi
E Missouri
B Montana
E Nebraska
E New Jersey
E New Mexico
tr North Carolina
E North Dakota
B ohio
E oklahoma

Automated Owner Lookups
HOW DOES IT WORK?

Each night, the cloud will lookup vehicle owner information for vehicles registered to the states selected below that haveticket(s) that have been unpaid for a timeframe you specify (such as 7 days unpaid). lf vehicle owner data is found, it willpopulate into your cloud automatically. No user action is required. Please note that you are only charged for successful
lookups, which are invoiced monthly at a rate of 52.50 per successful lookup. An invoice as well as a Detailed owner
Lookups Requested spreadsheet detailing all successful lookups will be sent to your accounting staff via email on the 1st ofthe month.

UTILIZATION REQUI REMENTS:

The following agencies ARE approved to lookup owner information:
o GovernmentMunicipalities
o Accredited Law Enforcement Agencies (police Departments)
o Parking Authorities (onry if public and managed by a Municiparity)
o Colleges and Universities
r Hospitals/Healthcare Centers (only if owned by the State)

The following agencies ARE Nor approved to lookup owner information:
r Parking Management Agencies
o Private Property Management Corporations

REQUEST FOR AUTOMATED OWNER LOOKUPS:

(Your Name), request the ability on behalf of

ff : : :t) il;il#I["l;i:iJ,'[ H ;:'ilJ [.;J:" 
n "',

(#) days for any ticket containing a vehicle registered to one of the below states. i ,gr"" and consent to the fee
of S2'50 per successful vehicle owner found and understand that I will receive a monthly invoice with reconciliation
spreadsheet that is due NET 30.

LOOKUP lN ALt AVAILABIE STATES (or select specific states below):

Signature: Date:

LJNIT



CONDITIONAL USE RESOLUTION 18-R72 

A resolution authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit to Lake Geneva Plaza LLC, 
W3323 Lake Forest Dr. Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to construct a Fuel Station, Convenience Store, 
Carwash, & Dunkin Donut Restaurant.  

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of Lake Geneva 
Plaza LLC, for an In-vehicle sales and services land use & commercial development; 

WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper 
notice given on May 21, 2018. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is 
hereby authorized, to issue a Conditional Use Permit to Lake Geneva Plaza LLC, W3323 Lake 
Forest Dr. Lake Geneva, WI 53147, for an In-vehicle sales and services land use & commercial 
development located at 190 E. Main Street, located in the Planned Business (PB) zoning district, 

Tax Key No. ZA370600001 

to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 

Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of 
February, 2019.

___________________________ 
Tom Hartz, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk 



 1

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  May 21, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Description: 
The applicant is submitting a proposal for the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to utilize the 
property located as 190 E. Main Street for the In-Vehicle Sales or Services land use located in the 
Planned Business (PB) zoning district.   
The request is to allow the new construction of a Convenience Store, Fuel Station, Car Wash, and 
Dunkin Donut store.  
 
Project Details from CUP Submittal 
The proposed request of In-Vehicle Sales or Services land use is allowed in the (PB) zoning district with 
the issuance of a CUP. The applicants have met with staff and are requesting the review of the request 
with the understanding that final utility engineering will be conducted in the consideration of the 
positive motion by the Plan Commission. This will allow the application to submit final engineering to 
the City Engineer and Utility Department at a later date understanding “no permits” will be issued 
without first being approved by City Staff. 
 
Staff Review Comments: 
In speaking with the applicants, it is understood by the applicants, that the process for the request is to 
get the approval for the Conditional Use Permit with the understanding the costly engineering will be 
conducted and submitted after an approval by Lake Geneva. And only then, will the issuance of any 
permits be permitted for the project with the final review and approval by the Lake Geneva Engineering 
staff. 
 
Action by the Plan Commission: 
Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Conditional Use Permit (CUP): 
As part of the consideration of the requested CUP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CUP; 
 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 
 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

Agenda Item: 10 

Applicant: 
Lake Geneva Plaza LLC 
W3323 Lake Forest Dr. 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request: 
190 E Main Street 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for  
In-vehicle Sales or Services land use in the  
Planned Business (PB) Zoning District 
Tax Key No. ZA370600001 



 2

Required Plan Commission Findings on the CUP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 
A proposed CUP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 
A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 

fact finding would be all of the following: 
a. In general, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 
does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any 
other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed conditional use maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed conditional use is located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will 
not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 
public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use outweigh all potential adverse 
impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal 
and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 
 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be one or more of the following: 
a. In general, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 
does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any 
other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 



 3

d. The proposed conditional use does not maintain the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed conditional use is not located in an area that will be adequately served by, and 
will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services 
provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use do not outweigh all potential 
adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 
proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

 
Staff Recommendation on the proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed conditional 
use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above, 
noting that the proposal is a fully consistent with the setback requirements of the SR-4 zoning 
district, and results in compliance to the setbacks on all four sides of the building over the current 
home. 

3. Finally, staff recommends that the following additional condition of approval be attached to the 
approval: 

a. That the location of all approved building setbacks be verified by an on-site inspection by 
the Building Administrator prior to pouring building foundation walls. 

 

















































1 of 4 
May 21, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
MONDAY, MAY 21, 2018 – 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 
Mayor Hartz called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m.  
 
Roll Call.  Present: Mayor Hartz, Alderman Doug Skates, John Gibbs, Ann Esarco, Michael Krajovic. Absent (Excused) 
Sarah Hill, Ted Horne, City Planner Slavney. Also Present: Planner Assistant Mich, City Attorney Draper, City 
Administrator Oborn, Building and Zoning Administrator Walling, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant 
Follensbee. 
 
Approve Minutes of the April 16th Plan Commission meeting as distributed.  
Skates/Krajovic motion to approve.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 
hearing items. Comments will to be limited to 5 minutes.  
None.  
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence. 
Correspondence was received from Charlene Klein, 817 Wisconsin Street, opposing the Conditional Use Permit at 190 E 
Main Street and also opposing the General Development Plan for 1111 N Edwards Blvd. Correspondence has been 
distributed to the Plan Commission and the City Council. 
 
Downtown Design Review 
 
6.A.  Application by Oakfire Properties LLC, for the Oakfire Restaurant, a request to change the front façade and 

install a roll up ½-wall with windows, located at 831Wrigley Dr., Tax Key No. ZOP00340. 
David Scotney, owner of Oakfire, presented his request. Zoning Administrator Walling said the façade change will 
comply with the city specifications. 

 
Esarco/Skates motion to approve the change to the front façade and include all staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
7.   Continuation of the Review and Recommendation of a Land Division, for a Condominium Plat, to create two 

condominium lots for an existing duplex building currently located at 530 & 532 South Stone Ridge Drive 
situated in the Two-Family Residential – 6 (TR-6) zoning, filed by Judith E. Castleman, 530 South Stone Ridge 
Drive, Lake Geneva, WI 53147. Tax Key No. ZSR00066. 

 Jim Howe, Godfrey Law Firm, representing Judith Castleman, presented the request. Howe said the parcel has 1 
common public water lateral but each unit is metered separately. Attorney Draper stated the changes suggested by 
staff are reflected in the condominium documents. Mayor Hartz asked if there was a condominium association. Howe 
replied no, it is a stand alone duplex. 

 
Skates/Esarco motion to approve the Land Division to create two condominium lots and include all staff 
recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
8.    Public Hearing and Recommendation on an application for a Conditional Use Permit filed by Ryan Finley, 805 

Cumberland Trail, Lake Geneva, WI 53147 to install a 48” fence along the property line abutting Townline 
Road. The property zoned SR-4 and allows for a maximum street side fence height of 36” & 60% opaqueness. 
Tax Key No. ZTT00041. 

   Ryan Finley, 805 Cumberland Trail, presented his request. Alderman Skates asked for the style of fence. Finley said 
the fence will be picket, with normal spacing, but asking for a 4 feet high allowance. 



2 of 4 
May 21, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

Skates/Esarco motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Skates/Gibbs motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit and include all staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
9.   Public Hearing and Recommendation on an application for a Conditional Use Permit filed by Renee T. Wu, 

527 Forest Glen Dr, Fontana, WI 53125 to operate a restaurant located at 239 Cook Street, Lake Geneva, WI 
53147 located in the Central Business (CB) zoning, Tax Key No. ZOP00253. 

 Bill Wu, 527 Forest Glen Dr, Fontana, presented the request.  
 

Skates/Gibbs motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Administrator Oborn asked if applicant was applying for a sign in the future. Walling stated this application is only for the 
Conditional Use Permit for the restaurant and business plan. The sign can be reviewed at a later date through Downtown 
Design. 
 
Gibbs/Skates motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit and include all staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
10.  Public Hearing and Recommendation on an application for a Conditional Use Permit filed by William and 

Carol Dick, 723B Geneva Street, Lake Geneva WI, 53147 to operate a Commercial Indoor Lodging at 723 
Geneva Street, located in the Central Business (CB) zoning, Tax Key No. ZOP000158. 

 William Dick, 723B Geneva Street, presented the request. Esarco asked if both units would be included in the 
Conditional Use. The applicants live in upper unit and wish to convert the upper unit for Commercial Indoor Lodging. 
The summary statement in the packet states the whole building would be used in this manner. Applicant plans to 
convert the upper unit within 2 years. 

 
Skates/Gibbs motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Krajovic asked about who follows up with applicant. Walling stated the city will be alerted when the applicant registers 
with city. 
 
Skates/Esarco motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit which is limited to applicant and include all staff 
recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
11. Public Hearing and Recommendation on an application for a Conditional Use Permit filed by Lake Geneva  

Plaza LLC, W3323 Lake Forest Drive, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to allow for the construction on a Convenience 
Store, Fueling Station, Dunkin Donuts, Restaurant, and Car Wash at 190 E. Main Street, Lake Geneva, WI 
53147 located in the Planned Business (PB) zoning district with an In-vehicle Sale or Services zoning land use, 
Tax Key No. ZA370600001. 
Richard Torhorst, attorney, representing Lake Geneva Plaza LLC, presented their request. A building material board 
was shared with the Plan Commission. Krajovic asked about the turning and passing lane on the plan. Walling stated 
the city Public Works director said the lanes meet the city standards for turn lanes and are wide enough for the pass 
through. Esarco questioned the sidewalks and shoulder currently being used by individuals to get to Wal-Mart. 
 
Speaker #1: Susan Fritz, Curtis St, secretary of the Twins on Curtis, a 34 unit home association, shared the owner’s 
opposition to the project.  
Speaker #2: Charlene Klein, 817 Wisconsin St, shared her opposition to the project, stating the traffic problem. 
Speaker #3: Mary Jo Fesenmaier, 1085 S Lake Shore Drive, shared her opposition to the project. 
 
 



3 of 4 
May 21, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

Joe Kopecky, N3127 McClain Rd, Architect, shared some specifics of the project including 2 retaining walls, the 
lighting, the location of building from the back lot line and noted most activity would be at the front of the building. 
Krajovic asked about the landscaping for a buffer on the south side of the property. The Plan Commission discussed 
the new state statute for Conditional Use Permits. Esarco questioned the pedestrian traffic. 
 
Speaker #4: Gary Dunham, 614 Sage St, shared his positive business experience with the owners and information 
about available office space in Lake Geneva, which was a discussion item earlier. 
 

Skates/Esarco motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Skates/Krajovic motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit to include all staff recommendations and fact finding; 
contingent on the Department of Transportation approval of merging and passing lanes; the operational hours of car wash 
will be 7am – 9pm; maximizing screening for adjoining properties in southwest corner of property; contingent on staff 
approval for all engineering and utilities prior to recommending to the City Council for approval; if the staff has 
significant changes to the site, the project goes back to the Plan Commission. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Krajovic voting “yes” and Gibbs, Esarco voting “no.”  Motion carried 3-2.  
 
 
12.  Public Hearing and Recommendation on an application for a General Development Plan for the Hampton Inn 

located at 1111 N. Edwards Blvd, filed by 1111 N. Edwards Blvd LLC, to construct a 5 story, 92 unit, Hampton 
Inn hotel at the South East corner of the Sheridan Springs Rd and North Edwards Blvd intersection adjacent 
to the Highway 12 corridor. Located in the Planned Industrial (PI) zoning district, Tax Key Nos. ZA468000003 
& ZA468000004. 
Jim Howe, Godfrey Law Firm, representing 1111 N Edwards Blvd LLC, presented the request. Esarco clarified this 
project is north of the White River Wetlands and asked if the north driveway could be moved south due to the tight 
corner at Sheridan Springs Road. Krajovic asked about the first floor elevations. Howe verified the building will blend 
into the lot.  
 

Gibbs/Esarco motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Esarco/Gibbs motion to approve the General Development Plan to include all staff recommendations and fact finding; 
specifically identify facts and finding for items #1 and #3; flexibilities: a 5th floor; building height of 65’; a floor area ratio 
of 45%; a landscaping surface ratio of 42%; north access point is approximately 100’ but no less than 98’; contingent on 
staff approval for all engineering and utilities prior to this item being sent to the City Council for the PIP approval. 
 – if the staff has significant changes to the site, the project goes back to the Plan Commission. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously.  
 
 
13.  Public Hearing and Recommendation of an amendment to the Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) for property 

located in the Summerhaven of Lake Geneva Condominiums located on Lake Geneva Blvd, filed by McMurr 
II LLC. The request is to amend the existing PIP to complete Phase 1 of the development. Overlapping 
Multiple Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00101 – ZSUM00247. 

 Jim Howe, Godfrey Law Firm, representing McMurr II LLC, presented the request including the revised packet. 
Walling asked for clarification on stamped and colored asphalt in cul-de-sac. Howe verified this item would be at 
surface grade in cul-de-sac. Krajovic asked for clarification of the various phases of the Summerhaven development. 
Howe explained the phases.   

 
Gibbs/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Oborn asked about adding the approval of Developers Agreement as part of motion. Walling explained the procedure to 
correct the spider web utilities on this location which has been discussed with the Utilities. This item is included in the 
Developers Agreement. 
 
Skates/Esarco motion to approve the amendment to the Precise Implementation Plan and include all staff 
recommendations and fact finding and recommend approval of the Developers Agreement.  



4 of 4 
May 21, 2018 Plan Commission Minutes 
 

Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously.  
 
 
14.  Conceptual Plan for the proposed subdivision of 17.14 acres of land to be called The Vista of Lake Geneva,  

located south of LaSalle Street and west of Woodridge Ct, by Omega Homes, 210 O’Connor Dr., Elkhorn, WI 
53121.  The request is to develop the property into a higher density single family development than currently 
permitted, using Planned Development zoning. Tax Key No. ZA424700001. 
Paul Van Henkelum, Cardinal Engineering, representing Omega Homes, presented the Conceptual Plan 
modifications. Van Henkelum stated the Primary Environmental Corridor boundary shown on the City of Lake 
Geneva Comprehensive Plan differs from the boundary shown on the SEWRPC Map for Outlot 5 of this project. Staff 
recommends using the SEWRPC boundary until this discrepancy is verified. Outlot 5 has been removed from the 
development at this time. The plan will be modified at a later date.  This parcel is zoned as MR-8. The developer 
wants to move forward with single family residences instead of condominiums and asks for Planned Development 
process to go to smaller lots. Cardinal Engineering has been contacted by the Hillcrest Condominium Association, 
adjacent to this site, asking to work together on some drainage issues. Krajovic asked about homes sizes for a 5,000 sq 
ft lot. Van Henkelum replied 2,200 sq ft. with some variations. Oborn asked if the roads would be public or private. 
Van Henkelum said LaSalle Street is already public and Hilltop Street is proposed as public, with the cul-de-sacs 
remaining private as outlots. Roads would include curb and gutter. The walkway through subdivision would be 
private with public access and the garages would be pulled back at least 2’ from the front of the house. Walling 
requested complete engineering prior to the PIP. 
 
 

15.  Review and Recommendation for a Certified Survey Map (CSM) Land Division for the applicant Dodge Street 
Properties LLC, 500 Stone Ridge Drive, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to divide the property zoned SR-4 for, 2 lots 
as .98 acres and 1 parcel at 1.09 acres located to the north of Dodge Street, and west of Freemont Ave located 
in the SR-4 zoning district. Tax Key No. ZYUP00053. 
Paul Van Henkelum, Cardinal Engineering, representing Dodge Street Properties, LLC, presented the request. 
Krajovic asked for clarification of the acreage for the 2 lots. Walling verified it should read .93 acres. Krajovic 
suggested an amendment to the motion. 

 
Skates/Krajovic motion to approve the CSM Land Division for 2 lots at .93 acres each and 1 parcel at 1.09 acres and 
include all staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Hartz, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Krajovic voting “yes.”  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
16.  Discussion regarding fence installation at property known as the Downtowner located at 640 West Main Street,  
 Lake Geneva, WI  53147. Tax Key No. ZOP00306. 
 Tisha Erdman, 5455 Steele Rd, Burlington, presented her request and asked for a discussion regarding the fence along 

Main Street & Mill Creek. Staff discussed possibilities including landscaping and safety. 
 
17.  Discussion/Action regarding opening the annual plan amendment process and review of draft public  
 participation plan to amend the City of Lake Geneva’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 Planner Mich introduced the 2018 Comprehensive Plan Amendment Calendar and provided explanation of process. 

Attorney Draper suggested the need to adopt a public participation plan. Walling noted revisions to our 
Comprehensive Plan are due in 2020. Mich suggested beginning this process in 2019. Draper suggested doing the 
Public Participation Plan later in the year. The 2018 Comprehensive Plan Amendment process is now open from May 
21- June 29th. The 2018 Comprehensive Plan Amendment process will be announced at next Council meeting. 

 
 
18.  Adjournment.  Krajovic/ Gibbs motion to adjourn at 9:10 pm. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
        
/s/ Brenda Follensbee, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant 
 

THESE ARE NOT OFFICIAL MINUTES UNTIL APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION 



 
Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1224 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ www.kapurengineers.com                                 Page 1 of 5 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\170093_2017_Lake_Geneva_Plan_Review\PHSE10 Lake Geneva Plaza\Shell Plaza 
Engineers Report 2-4-2019.doc 

 

                               Memo to the City of Lake Geneva 
 

  Phone:  (262) 767-2747 
 Fax:  (262) 767-2750 
 
 
To: Common Council Date: February 4, 2019 
 
 From: Greg Governatori, P.E. 
   
Subject:  Engineer’s Report:  Lake Geneva Plaza – Amended 2/04/2019 
    
  

As part of the review and planning process for the Lake Geneva Plaza (Dunkin’) 
development City staff has met with the development group multiple times, providing 
feedback and requirements as well as review memorandums dating to July of 2017. 

The recommendations of our reviews as well as comments and requests made via the planning 
staff meeting process have been satisfactorily addressed. 

General – 

The development was reviewed for accessibility, adequate drainage, site erosion control, 
permitting requirements, as well as impacts to city infrastructure, utilities and highway access.   
Items discussed and addressed as part of the process included:  

-Public Sidewalks         -Pavement Markings -          -ADA Ramps 
-Sheet Requirements   -Traffic Analysis                   -Utility Connections 
-Snow Storage              -Project Detail                      -Storm Sewer Calculations   
-Construction Details    -Retaining Walls                  -Traffic Control 
-Detailed Grading         -Landscaping/Signage         -Lighting 
 

      A brief overview is detailed below. 
 
Storm Water Management – 

The development is required to meet the City of Lake Geneva Storm Water Ordinance for water 
quality and water quantity restrictions.  The development has provided a underground storage 
facility adequately design to capture and provide a controlled release of storm water.  A storm 
water agreement is required to be recorded for maintenance of the facility into perpetuity, storm 
water agreements are not recorded until completion and final certification of the facility is done. 

 
Utilities – 

The utility review and coordination of the property has been extensive as there is no available 
sewer connection near the property and the watermain is to remain public.  Through close 
coordination with the Lake Geneva Utility the applicant has provided a new water service 
connection as well as public hydrant.  The new service connections will satisfy both the water 
needs of the Plaza as well as public safety requirements. 
 
A new private sanitary sewer pump station and force main will be provided at the rear of the 
building, connecting to the public sewer on Curtis Street.  An existing dedicated sanitary sewer 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1124 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ Phone 262.767.2747 ~ Fax 262.767.2750     Page 2 of 5 
www.kapurengineers.com 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\170093_2017_Lake_Geneva_Plan_Review\PHSE10 Lake Geneva Plaza\Shell Plaza 
Engineers Report 2-4-2019.doc 

 

easement is in place for the new sewer construction.  This work will be constructed using 
directional drilling to limit land disturbance.  The car wash will have a grit separator and is 
required to obtain state approved plumbing drawings for all onsite private utilities. 

 
Access – 

Existing access to Main Street is from a driveway at the east side of the property, very close to 
the existing bowling alley access which creates conflict points for vehicles.  The development was 
restricted to a single access point from Main Street.  The access point is proposed near the point 
main Street begins to widen, allowing for a designated left turn into the site.  In addition: state 
requirements for lane widths, shoulders, slopes, and bike accommodations have been required, 
reviewed and met for Main Street.  
 

Pedestrian Improvements – 
The pavement will be widened on both the north and south sides of the road to accommodate 
bike travel.  This includes providing a four-foot pavement lane on both sides meeting the 
requirements of the Wisconsin Bike Facility Handbook.  The lanes will be striped and marked 
appropriately. 
 
Sidewalk has been proposed to extend through the property and be five feet in width.  The side 
walk will meet ADA requirements for width, cross slope and at all driveway crossings.  In addition, 
the plaza has agreed to fund the extension of the five foot sidewalk west to Curtis Street. 
 
With the extension of sidewalk to Curtis Street the opportunity to connect sidewalk from the north 
and west side of the streets would be available.  The improvements will require the construction 
of accessible ramps at both the north and south side of Main Street at Curtis as well as to the 
west.  Currently no accessible ramp is located at Curtis Street on neither side. 
 
The are many alternatives for cross walk improvements such as 
  
     In-pavement lights alert motorists to the presence of a pedestrian crossing or preparing to 

cross the street. The amber lights are embedded in the pavement on both sides of the 
crosswalk and oriented to face oncoming traffic. In-road LED markers produce a bright, 
daytime-visible light focused directly in the driver’s line of sight clearly indicating the 
crosswalk. When the pedestrian activates the system, either by using a push-button or 
through detection from an automated device, the lights begin to flash in unison, warning the 
motorist that a pedestrian is near the crosswalk ahead. The flashing LEDs shut off after a set 
period. 

 
Flashing LED sign pedestrian crossing.  The perimeter of the sign lights up when push 
button control is pushed, it is solar powered and requires v-loc mounting poles.  Passive 
Activation is also available 

 
Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon pedestrian crossing system. – It is also solar powered 
with push button operation and V-Loc poles, primary difference is the led flasher vs sign 
perimeter lights.  Flashers can be installed on sign mounted poles or on overhead arms. 

 
A combination of signing and pavement markings is also an option like the crosswalks at 
East and West streets. 

 
 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1124 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ Phone 262.767.2747 ~ Fax 262.767.2750     Page 3 of 5 
www.kapurengineers.com 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\170093_2017_Lake_Geneva_Plan_Review\PHSE10 Lake Geneva Plaza\Shell Plaza 
Engineers Report 2-4-2019.doc 

 

Traffic – 
As part of the review and planning process for the Lake Geneva Plaza (Dunkin’) 
development city staff required the development to complete a traffic analysis for the 
intersection with STH 50.  The analysis was complete by a recognized professional traffic 
design firm specializing in this type work.  The traffic analysis report recommended the 
following improvements be made to STH 50 to improve traffic. 

 
     Provide one exclusive left-turn and one exclusive right-turn lane on the development 
driveway northbound approach.  
     Install stop control on the development driveway approach to STH 50. 
     Widen shoulder on the south side of STH 50 for eastbound right-turn traffic.  
     Widen shoulder on the north side of STH 50 for a by-pass lane on the westbound 
approach to allow westbound through traffic to proceed along STH 50 if a vehicle is 
waiting to turn left into the development. 

 
The recommendations of the traffic report have been addressed by the applicant, in addition 
bike lanes, sidewalks and drainage have been included. 

The Left turn movement out of the plaza during morning and evening hours in peak 
summer months will function at a level of service “F” which is the lowest level.  The study 
shows a wait of up to 130 seconds in the morning and 416 seconds in the evening.  
Under normal operating conditions the left turn movement will have a wait of less than 
30 seconds.  The right turn movement has a designated lane and will function well with 
the longest wait of 23.5 seconds during peak summer evening hours. 

The service flow rates under normal conditions are above a level “C” for all movements 
and provide an acceptable operating service.  

In response to the concern over traffic congestion and impacts to the Main Street/HWY 
50 corridor the Traffic Impact analysis was reviewed by two separate independent 
persons In addition to my review for feedback on possible alternatives or additional 
improvements that may improve the driveway level of service.  I have included both 
professional statements for consideration. 

“For high volume tourist areas (Lake Geneva, Door County, Wisconsin Dells, etc.) LOS F is typically 
experienced on private driveways (two-way stop controlled) during the peak travel hours during the peak 
summer season.  During the non-summer months, those same driveways typically operate at LOS D or 
better during the AM and PM peak hours.  Most travelers during the peak season during those peak hours 
have an expectation of higher traffic delays and have accepted them.  In these situations, if complaints 
persist on a certain movement, typically a crash analysis is completed to determine if safety is an issue at 
the intersection.  If the crash rate is high, then typically turn movements are prohibited with 
curbs/channelization, etc. or other improvements are made.   
  
In this particular case, most all private non-signalized driveways along the STH 50 corridor operate at 
LOS F conditions during the peak season peak hours of the day.  However, during the non-peak season 
(the other 9+ months of the year), the driveway on STH 50 is expected to operate at LOS D (about 30 
seconds or less delay), which is an acceptable level of service. 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1124 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ Phone 262.767.2747 ~ Fax 262.767.2750     Page 4 of 5 
www.kapurengineers.com 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\170093_2017_Lake_Geneva_Plan_Review\PHSE10 Lake Geneva Plaza\Shell Plaza 
Engineers Report 2-4-2019.doc 

 

  
To avoid LOS F for the northbound left turn movement, the northbound left turns would have to be 
prohibited, thereby forcing those left turns to turn right on STH 50.  Then those vehicles would be making 
U-turns along STH 50  or turning around in other driveways along STH 50 to proceed westbound on STH 
50.   In other words, by prohibiting the northbound left turn movement, it would then shift those left turns 
to the east on STH 50, which typically results in U-turn and left turn issues to the east (i.e. just moving the 
same issue to the east). 
  
If the intersection was signalized, then all movements would operate at LOS D or better during the peak 
season peak hours, however, the volumes are not high enough to meet traffic signal warrants.   Some 
communities have installed traffic signals without being warranted based on safety, metering traffic or 
being close to meet warrants.   However, in this case, this location is not close to meeting signal warrants.  
The traffic on the driveway after the development is operational would have to be at least three times 
higher than expected to warrant signals.  
John A. Bieberitz, PE, PTOE 
TADI (Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc.) 
 

The info and analysis in the TIA appear straight forward. I would think that any alternative proposed 
would end up with more negatives than positives compared to the current configuration. 
 
Options that could possibly be looked into include: 
- eliminate the NB left turns and make the exit from the driveway right turn only  
- change the intersection to all-way stop controlled instead of just NB stop controlled  
- change the intersection of STH 50/Curtis and/or STH 50/West to all way stop controlled and keep the 
new driveway as is 
- look into signalizing one or multiple of the STH 50/Curtis, STH 50/new driveway, and STH 50/West 
intersections (I doubt any would meet signal warrants, so this would become more a question of would the 
City want to install one or more signals that are not currently warranted) 
 
One last question would be is there any way the development parking lot and the Lake Geneva Lanes 
parking lot could be connected? That would give drivers 3 potential driveway exit points instead of just 
one. 
 
Ultimately, I think all the possible alternatives would lead to more delay and less efficient operations in the 
system as a whole than the current proposal. If I had to guess between other alternatives, I think 
eliminating NB lefts would be the most reasonable comparison, followed by installing all way stop control 
at one or more of those three intersections. 
Sean Howell, P.E. 
Traffic Engineer 
Kapur & Associates, Inc. 
 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1124 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ Phone 262.767.2747 ~ Fax 262.767.2750     Page 5 of 5 
www.kapurengineers.com 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\170093_2017_Lake_Geneva_Plan_Review\PHSE10 Lake Geneva Plaza\Shell Plaza 
Engineers Report 2-4-2019.doc 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  We recommend approval of the proposed site plan subject with meeting any 
requirements of the City Planner, Utility Director, and Building Inspection. 

The plans have been reviewed for conformance with generally accepted engineering practices and 
City of Lake Geneva policies.  Although the material has been reviewed, the design engineer is 
ultimately responsible for the thoroughness and accuracy of the plans and supplemental data and for 
compliance with state, county, and other local ordinances and procedures. 

Please contact me if you have any questions or comments pertaining to this project at (262) 758-
6010 ggovernatori@kapurinc.com 

 

CC: Mayor Mr. Tom Hartz 
 Mr. Dave Nor 
 Mrs. Lana Kropf – City Clerk 
 Mr. Fred Walling – Building & Zoning Administrator 
 Mr. Dan Draper - City Attorney 
 Mr. Tom Earle – Director of Public Works 
                       Mr. Josh Gajewski – Utility Director 





 1 

STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  February 18, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description:  

This request is to approve an Extraterritorial Zoning Plat review for the separation of farm 

structures from farmland Tax Key No. IL2600001 located in the Town of Linn. 

 

This request is to approve the proposed Certified Survey Map dated 12/27/2018 for the property 

located at N891 State Road 120 for a 4.904 acre land separation to include the farm buildings 

from the primary property located adjacent to this request. 

 

The parcel included in this request does not currently have any buildings on the property. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Exterritorial Zoning request (ETZ)  

As part of the consideration of the requested ETZ, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed ETZ 

review. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed  

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the Exterritorial 

Zoning request (ETZ): as submitted, subject to approval Walworth County Land Use 

Zoning. 

Agenda Item: 7 

Applicant: 

John & Jelka Leedle 

N891 State Road 120 

Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request: ETZ Town of Lynn CSM 

Extraterritorial Zoning Plat review for the 

separation of farm structures from farmland 

Tax Key No. IL2600001 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1224 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ www.kapurengineers.com                                 Page 1 of 1 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\180015_2018_Lake Geneva Plan Review 

                               Memo to the City of Lake Geneva 
 

  Phone: (262) 767-2747 
 Fax: (262) 767-2750 
 
 
To: Brenda Follensbee, Building & Zoning Clerk                  Date:     February 12, 2019 

   
From: Gary R. Splinter, P.L.S.       
   
CC: Fred Walling - Zoning Administrator 
 William Vanderstappen – Vanderstappen Land Surveying, Inc. 
  Greg Governatori - Kapur & Associates, Inc. 
 
Subject: Extraterritorial Review of Certified Survey Map for Joseph and Jelka 

Leedle N879 State Road 120 in the Town of Bloomfield 
    
  

 

We have completed a review of a Certified Survey Map prepared by William Vanderstappen 
of Vanderstappen Land Surveying, Inc. Our review was conducted to determine compliance with 
Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin State Statutes, Chapter 66 of the City of Lake Geneva Municipal 
Code and good surveying practices.  The Certified Survey Map dated December 27, 2018 was 
reviewed.  
 

Comments for the Certified Survey Map: 

• As per 66-36(1) & 66-15 Please revise the “Town Approval” to the “City of Lake Geneva 
Extraterritorial Approval” certificate, list the “Planning Commission” as the approver and remove 
the Chairman and Treasure signature lines with the Mayor and City Clerk.  

• As per 236.34 (1m)(c) Please list at the top of each sheet the location of the land by 
government lot, recorded private claim, quarter-quarter section, section, township, range and 
county noted. 

We recommend approval of the Certified Survey Map, if the above comments are addressed. Although 
the material has been reviewed, the surveyor is ultimately responsible for the thoroughness and accuracy of the 
Certified Survey Map with state statutes and municipal city code. 

Please contact me if you have any questions pertaining to this project. 

http://www.kapurengineers.com/












 1 

STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  February 18, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description:  

This request is to approve an Extraterritorial Zoning Plat review for the northeast property line 

adjustment to Tax Key No. MA403300001 located in the Town of Bloomfield. 

 

This request is to approve the proposed Certified Survey Map dated 7/27/2018 for the property 

located at N1886 State Road 120 for a property line adjustment of approximately 10’ of land that 

is currently enclosed by a fence. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Exterritorial Zoning request (ETZ)  

As part of the consideration of the requested ETZ, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed ETZ 

review. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed  

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the Exterritorial 

Zoning request (ETZ): as submitted, subject to approval Walworth County Land Use 

Zoning. 

 

Agenda Item: 8 

Applicant: 

Purnell Enterprises LLC. 

N1886 State Road 120 

Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request: ETZ Town of Bloomfield CSM 

Extraterritorial Zoning Plat review for the 

property line adjustment 

Tax Key No. MA403300001 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1224 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ www.kapurengineers.com                                 Page 1 of 1 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\180015_2018_Lake Geneva Plan Review 

                               Memo to the City of Lake Geneva 
 

  Phone: (262) 767-2747 
 Fax: (262) 767-2750 
 
 
To: Brenda Follensbee, Building & Zoning Clerk                  Date:     February 12, 2019 

   
From: Gary R. Splinter, P.L.S.       
   
CC: Fred Walling - Zoning Administrator 
 Mark Bolender – Ambit Land Surveying 
  Greg Governatori - Kapur & Associates, Inc. 
 
Subject: Extraterritorial Review of Certified Survey Map for Purnell Enterprises 

LLC in the Town of Bloomfield 
    
  

 

We have completed a review of a Certified Survey Map prepared by Mark A. Bolender of 
Ambit Land Surveying. Our review was conducted to determine compliance with Chapter 236 of 
the Wisconsin State Statutes, Chapter 66 of the City of Lake Geneva Municipal Code and good 
surveying practices.  The Certified Survey Map dated July 27, 2018 was reviewed.  
 

Comments for the Certified Survey Map: 

• As per 66-36(1) & 66-15 Please revise the City of Lake Geneva Extraterritorial Approval 
certificate to list the Planning Commission as the approver and not the “City Board”.  

We recommend approval of the Certified Survey Map, if the above comments are addressed. Although 
the material has been reviewed, the surveyor is ultimately responsible for the thoroughness and accuracy of the 
Certified Survey Map with state statutes and municipal city code. 

Please contact me if you have any questions pertaining to this project. 

http://www.kapurengineers.com/


 
 

EXPERIENCE IS THE DIFFERENCE 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

February 1, 2019 
 
 
VIA EMAIL (bzadmin@cityoflakegeneva.com) 
  
Lake Geneva City Hall 
Attn:  Fred Walling 
Building & Zoning Administrator 
626 Geneva Street 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 
 

Re: Parcel 1:  N1886 Hwy 120, Lake Geneva, WI, Tax Id No. MA403300001 
 Parcel 2:  N1922 Hwy 120, Lake Geneva, WI Tax Id No. MA403300002 
 Amount Owed as of January 31, 2019:  $12,202.65 
 

Dear Mr. Walling: 
 

Enclosed for the Plan Commission’s consideration is an Application for Land Division Review pursuant 
to Lake Geneva’s extraterritorial zoning authority of neighboring lands.  I have also enclosed for the 
Commission’s consideration Resolution No. 2018-R-09 dated November 12, 2018 from the Town of 
Bloomfield approving the lot line adjustment.  Further, I have enclosed the CSM prepared by Ambit Land 
Surveying identifying the ten foot area that is requested to be adjusted.  As you can see, the CSM has already 
been signed by the Town of Bloomfield and the notation on page 2 indicates that Walworth County is not 
required to sign off on the CSM.  The last step before the lot line adjustment can be recorded is review and 
approval by the City of Lake Geneva.  Finally, I have enclosed the application submitted to the Town of 
Bloomfield from which the Town approved the lot line adjustment application. 

 
I submit this request on behalf Purnell Enterprises, LLC for the Plan Commission meeting scheduled for 

February 18, 2019.  I will follow up the email request with the mailing of 20 copies of the application and 
supporting materials and mail the same to City Hall.  If you require anything further, please let me know.  
Thank you. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 

      /s/ Thomas M. Santarelli 
 

Thomas M. Santarelli 
Attorney at Law 

 

MADRIGRANO, AIELLO, 
& SANTARELLI, LLC 
Attorneys at Law 
 

1108 56th Street, Kenosha, WI 53140 
Phone:  262-657-2000 Fax: 262-657-2018 
http://kenoshalaw.com 

 

Joseph F. Madrigrano, Jr. 
Thomas P. Aiello, also licensed in IL 
Thomas M. Santarelli, also licensed in MN 
Nicholas J. Infusino 
Gianna Tenuta 



 
 

EXPERIENCE IS THE DIFFERENCE 
 
 

 
List of Enclosures 
 
 

1. Application for Land Division - Lake Geneva 

2. Resolution No. 2018-R-09 dated November 12, 2018 

3. Certified Survey Map 

4. Town of Bloomfield Planning and Zoning Application for Lot Line Adjustment 





























__________VILLAGE        TOWN__________ 
VILLAGE/TOWN OF BLOOMFIELD 

PLANNING AND ZONING 
APPLICATION FOR LOT LINE ADJUSTMENT (PAGE 1) 

 
Fee:  See Schedule. 
This application form is to be used for the approval of all transfers of land between adjoining property 
owners, when the land is of the same zoning district.  Attach one of the following, prepared by a 
Wisconsin Registered Land Surveyor: 
____If the lot line adjustment is between subdivision lots in the same subdivision, attach a Plat of
 Survey. 
____If the lot line adjustment is between metes and bounds parcels, attach a Plat of Survey. 
____If the lot line adjustment changes the exterior boundary of a subdivision, attach a Certified
 Survey Map (without County signature lines). 
____If the lot line adjustment changes the exterior boundary of a Certified Survey Map, attach a
 Certified Survey Map (without county signature lines). 
*For all lot line adjustments the following notation must be included on the Plat of Survey and on the 
deed: 
*For all lot line adjustments requiring a Certified Survey Map, the following notation shall be included in 
place of the County signature line: 
NOTE:  THIS LOT LINE ADJUSTMENT IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF A SALE OR EXCHANGE OF LAND BETWEEN 
ADJOINING LAND OWNERS THAT DOES NOT CREATE ADDITIONAL LOTS, AND THE ORIGINAL PARCELS 
ARE OT REDUCED BELOW THE MINIMUM SIZE REQUIRED BY THE VILLAGE/TOWN OF BLOOMFIELD’S 
MUNICIPAL CODES. 
***Please note:  A completed application, along with Plat of Survey or Certified Survey Map, and fees 
must be received by Zoning Administrator no later than the last day of any month in order to be put 
on the agenda for the Planning and Zoning Commission’s next hearing.*** 
 
Date:  ____________________________________ 
 
Affected Tax Parcel Number(s):  ___________________________ and ___________________________ 
 
Zoning District(s):  ________________________________ and _________________________________ 
 
Purpose of Transfer:  ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Are the existing improvements?  __________ Yes __________ No 
 
If yes, are they serviced by:  __________ Public Sewer  __________Private Septic* 
*Please indicate septic system area on plat. 
 
Will this land transfer meet the minimum zoning district requirements of the Village/Town of 
Bloomfield’s Municipal Code for lot area and setbacks in relation to the applicable zoning districts? 
__________Yes  __________ No 
 
 
 

N1100 Town Hall Road, Pell Lake, WI   53157, Phone: 262-279-6039, Fax: 262-279-3545  Revised 08/2016 

X

X

October 2, 2018

MA40330001 MA40330002

Commercial Commercial

Transfer approximate 10' strip of land that is currently enclosed by a fence.

X

X

X







 1 

STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  February 18, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: 

This request is to approve a proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM) to create a three lot CSM. 

The result of this CSM will be the creation of three compliant commercial lots, lot one will retain the 

existing commercial structure and lot two & three will be a vacant parcel. Both of the vacant parcels will 

comply with all of the minimum standards of the Central Business (CB) zoning. 

Project Details from submittal dated January 16, 2019 CSM Map project 6668.18 generated by surveyor 

Brian M. Calson: 

The proposed CSM drawing is provided on one page on project No.6668.18  

Lot 3: 24,491 sq. ft. (Popeye’s Building) 

Lot 2: 2,809 sq. ft. (vacant land) 

Lot 3: 2,484 sq. ft. (vacant land) 

Staff Review Comments: 

The proposed CSM has been submitted by staff to the Public Works & Utilities for review for 

compliance or concerns and none were identified as needed to be addressed with this land division. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM): 

As part of the consideration of the requested CSM, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CSM. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM): 

Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the CSM as submitted. 

 

Applicant: 

Anagnos Properties, Inc. 

P.O. Box 1117 

Lake Geneva, WI. 53147 

Request:  

Create a three lot Certified Survey Map (CSM)  

811 Wrigley Drive 

ZOP00341 – ZOP00345 

Agenda Item: 9 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1224 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ www.kapurengineers.com                                 Page 1 of 1 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\160015_2016_Lake Geneva Plan Review 

                               Memo to the City of Lake Geneva 
 

  Phone: (262) 767-2747 
 Fax: (262) 767-2750 
 
 
To: Brenda Follensbee, Building & Zoning Clerk Date: January 30, 2019 

   
From: Gary R. Splinter, P.L.S.       
   
CC: Fred Walling - Zoning Administrator 
 Brian Carlson – Ferris, Hanson Associates 
  Greg Governatori - Kapur & Associates, Inc. 
 
Subject: Review of Certified Survey Map for Anagnos Properties LLC in the City 

of Lake Geneva 
    
  

 

We have completed a review of a Certified Survey Map prepared by Farris Hansen & Assoc. 
Inc. Our review was conducted to determine compliance with Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin State 
Statutes, Chapter 66-36 of the City of Lake Geneva Municipal Code and good surveying 
practices.  The Certified Survey Map dated January 16, 2019 was reviewed.  
 

Comments for the Certified Survey Map: 

• The Lake Geneva certificate should state “Lake Geneva Planning Commission Approval” 

We recommend approval of the Certified Survey Map contingent upon enclosed surveyor’s comments.       
Although the material has been reviewed, the surveyor is ultimately responsible for the thoroughness and 
accuracy of the Certified Survey Map with state statutes and municipal city code. 

Please contact me if you have any questions or comments pertaining to this project. 

http://www.kapurengineers.com/












 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by Daniel E. Schuld, 
281 Keyes Ave, Hampshire, IL 60140, for the renovation to the existing building located at 727 
Geneva St, located in the Planned Development (PD) zoning district, Tax Key No. ZOP00157. 

 
Committee: 

 
Plan Commission approved February 18, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 19-R13 Date: February 25, 2019 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of Daniel E. Schuld, 281 

Keyes Ave, Hampshire, IL 60140, for the renovation to the existing building; 
 
 WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper notice 
given on February 18, 2019. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is hereby 
authorized, to issue a Precise Implementation Plan to Daniel E. Schuld, 727 Geneva St, located in the 
Planned Development (PD) zoning district,  
 

Tax Key No. ZOP00157 
 
to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 
 
 Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
  
   Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                     Date 



1 

STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date: February 18, 2019 

Description: 

The applicant is submitting a request for a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) that would allow for the 

development of a Brewery, Tap-Room, & Gift Shops to be located at 727 Geneva Street.  

The alterations to the exterior building would include renovations to the deck and patio areas. 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

As part of the consideration of the requested PIP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed PIP;

 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for PIPs; and,

 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted.

Staff Review Comments: 

No impacts to neighboring properties are anticipated. 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PIP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed PIP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 

fact finding would be all of the following: 

1. In general, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is in harmony with the purposes,

goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance,

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official

notice by the City.

2. Specific to this site, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is in harmony with the

purposes, goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning

Applicant: 

Daniel Schuld 

281 Keyes Ave 

Hampshire, IL 60140 

Request:  

Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) 

Brewery, Tap-Room, Gift Shops 

727 Geneva Street 

Tax Key No. ZOP00157 

Agenda Item: 10 



2 

Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

3. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) in its proposed location, and as depicted on the

required site plan does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the

character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health,

safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan

or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official

notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development.

4. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) maintains the desired consistency of land uses,

land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property.

5. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is located in an area that will be adequately

served by, and will not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or

services provided by public agencies serving the subject property.

6. The potential public benefits of the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) outweigh all

potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the

Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such

impacts.

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 

finding would be one or more of the following: 

1. In general, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is not in harmony with the purposes,

goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance,

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official

notice by the City.

2. Specific to this site, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is not in harmony with the

purposes, goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning

Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to

official notice by the City.

3. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) in its proposed location, and as depicted on the

required site plan does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the

character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health,

safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan

or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official

notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development.

4. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) does not maintain the desired consistency of

land uses, land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject

property.

5. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is not located in an area that will be adequately

served by, and will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or

services provided by public agencies serving the subject property.



3 

6. The potential public benefits of the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) do not outweigh

all potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the

Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such

impacts.

Staff Recommendation on the Proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

If the Plan Commission members feel the submittal is acceptable - 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed Precise

Implementation Plan (PIP) as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above.

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above.



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1224 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ www.kapurengineers.com      Page 1 of 2 

D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\180132 2018 Lake Geneva Plan Review\PHSE13 727 Geneva Street\727 Geneva 
Engineering 2-11-2019.doc 

Memo to the City of Lake Geneva 

Phone:  (262) 767-2747 
Fax:  (262) 767-2750 

To: Fred Walling, Zoning Administrator Date: February 11, 2019 

CC: Josh Gajewski – Utility Director 
Dave Nord – City Administrator 
Tom Earle – Director of Public Works 

From: Greg Governatori  

Subject: Review of PIP Plan Submittal for 727 Geneva Street for a Brewery, Tap 
Room and Giftshops  

We have completed our review of the plans, and additional supporting documents prepared 
by McCormack & Etten Architects, LLP. for the subject project. The review was conducted to 
determine compliance with the City of Lake Geneva Municipal Code and good engineering 
practices. 

The applicant is submitting a request for a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) that would allow for 
the development of a Brewery, Tap-Room, & Gift Shops to be located at 727 Geneva Street. 

The following information was submitted for review. 
 Updated application dated February 7th, 2019
 Site Grading Plans, floors and elevations dated February 4th, 2019

Comments: 

 The applicant has worked extensively with the City and Utility District to provide
additional details into their brewing process as well as the anticipate waste byproduct
and management of the effluent.  The applicant has provided detailed information into
the anticipated volume of production, the proposed filtration system and the tank
cleaning products.  It is recommended that the attached information be included in the
PIP approval in the event production increase or changes occur.

 If not already required, It is also recommended that the Applicant keep a log or manifest
of both the production volume and volume of waste material to be disposed.

We recommend approval of the PIP submittal subject to the above conditions. 

Although the material has been reviewed, the Applicant and their consultants are ultimately 
responsible for the thoroughness and accuracy of the site plans for conformance with state 
statutes, standards and The Lake Geneva municipal city code. 



Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1124 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ Phone 262.767.2747 ~ Fax 262.767.2750     Page 2 of 2 
www.kapurengineers.com 

D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\180132 2018 Lake Geneva Plan Review\PHSE13 727 Geneva Street\727 Geneva 
Engineering 2-11-2019.doc 

Please contact me if you have any questions or comments pertaining to this project at (262) 
758-6010 or ggovernatori@kapurinc.com 





1

Gregory L. Governatori

Subject: FW: Submittal for Brewery at 727 Geneva Street

Hi Josh, 

I will try to show a framework of how any excess grains will be handle.  
Also attached filter spec sheet for your review. 

Our Brewery has a 3 bbl system. 
3 bbl system = (93 gallons) Smallest Commercial system brewing. 
Planning on brewing two 3 bbl batches per week. 
Each batch 93 gallons x 2 = 186 gallons per week of beer. 
Dry Grist (Milled Barley and/or oats, wheat) to be used equates 275 lbs. per batch of two 
batches which equates to 550lbs of grist per week. 
Spent grain weight is Approx. 300lbs (with moisture content) per batch of two batches per week 
which equates to 600lbs of spent grist per week to be removed for either high grade animal 
feed, fertilizer or disposal.  
Farmers often collect grist from brewers as its usually free to them and is a high value food source 
for cows, pigs and chickens. 

Ingredients input to mashtun: 
275 lbs. Dry Grist Loaded into Mashtun + 116 gallons of water 
Ingredients out from mashtun: 
200 lbs. Spent Grist removed with 25-30% remaining absorbed water in grist. 
Removed spent grist weight = 300lbs. Approx. for high quality animal feed, fertilizer or disposal. 
75lbs. Starches converted to fermentable and non-fermentable sugars to create the beer 
alcohol, flavor, color, body and head retention. 
Process of removal is: 
Manway door is opened and spent grist is raked out into collection bucket and dumped into 
20 gallon totes for removal to farm or landfill. 

Inline strainer/ filter 
Remain small bits of grist in removed by hosing down the mashtun with using an inline strainer 
basket on the end of the mashtun outlet to trap grist particulate and allow city water to pass 
through to drain. Strainer basket particulate is then emptied into the 20 gallon tote. 
Typically strainer basket traps around 1lbs of grist bits or less depending on how well the 
operator cleaned the mashtun while raking out the bulk of the spent grist into the collection 
bucket to be dumped into the tote.  
The cleaner the initial bulk cleaning the less weight of particulate trapped in the inline strainer 
basket. 

Please let me know if this was helpful. 

Thanks, 
Dan 

Dan Schuld 



TIME ACTION

TEMPERATURE CHEMICAL

10 MIN TANK BRUSH
PUMP RECIRC

GROUND TEMP. STAR SAN
SANITIZER

CIP WHEEL

Tank is first scrubbed by hand with Tank Brush.
Rinsed down with city water, inline strainer basket
collects any particulate- dumped to grist tote.
Ten (10) gallons of city water added to tank, Two (2)
ounces of Star San Sanitizer is added to the city
water in tank. Pump and hoses are attached to tank 
and recirculation of the sanitizing solution is ran for 
ten (10) minutes. 
Solution is collected and awaits use for next tank. 
Solution is used until pH is rendered useless, pH3>
Solution is ran to drain. 

For Kettle & Fermenters































































































 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) filed by Tom Koenig, 5802 
Arlington Dr., Palatine, IL 60067, for the Raze and Reconstruction of a new dwelling located at 715 
LaGrange Dr, located in the Estate Residential (ER-1) zoning district to utilize the Single-Family 
Residential – 4 (SR-4) zoning allowances, Tax Key No. ZLE00016. 

 
Committee: 

 
Plan Commission approved February 18, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 19-R14 Date: February 25, 2019 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of Tom Koenig, 5802 

Arlington Dr., Palatine, IL 60067, for the reconstruction of a new Single Family Dwelling; 
 
 WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper notice 
given on February 18, 2019. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is hereby 
authorized, to issue a Conditional Use Permit to Raze and the Reconstruct of a new dwelling located at 715 
LaGrange Dr, located in the Estate Residential (ER-1) zoning district utilizing the Single-Family   
Residential – 4 (SR-4) zoning allowances,  
 

Tax Key No. ZLE00016 
 

to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 
 
 Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February 2019. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
  
 
Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk 



 1 

STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  February 18, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: 

The applicant is submitting a proposal for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for a new residence. The 

project would begin with a complete removal of the existing residence. The applicants have carefully 

designed the proposed residence to increase building side yard setbacks, and have identified the building 

footprint area and impervious surface area coverage. 

 

The proposed roof design will meet the maximum 35-foot height limit, as measured from the lowest 

exposed building perimeter to the vertical mid-point of the highest pitched roof surface. 

 

Project Details from CUP Submittal 

The proposed project submittal meets or exceeds all requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Existing and Proposed Site Plans: Framing Design Concepts Project (dated 01/15/2019 respectively) 

The Site Plans for the existing and proposed homes demonstrate that the proposed home complies with 

all required setbacks. 

The proposed home provides the following setback measurements compared to the proposed home: 

 

Required in SR-4 Existing Home  Proposed Home 

Min Street Yard Setback 25 feet   30 approx. feet to garage 35 feet to garage 

North Side Yard Setback 15’ total combined 7 feet to home   7 feet to home 

South Side Yard Setback Min. 6 feet to home 8+ feet to home  8 feet to home 

East Side Yard Setback         57 feet to home 

Elevation Plan: Sheet: 

The lower elevation provided on the conceptual renditions depict the proposed building’s tallest height. 

The Zoning Ordinance measures building height from the lowest exposed grade to the mid-point height 

of the tallest roof plane. This elevation depicts a maximum height of 26.0 feet, which complies with the 

height limit for both the ER-1 and the SR-4 zoning districts. 

Applicant: 

Tom & Barb Koenig 

5802 Arlington Dr. 

Palatine, IL 60067 

Agenda Item: 11 

Request: 

715 LaGrange Drive 

Conditional Use Permit 

SR-4 Setbacks in ER-1 Zoning District 

Tax Key No. ZLE00016 

 



 2 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Conditional Use Permit (CUP): 

As part of the consideration of the requested CUP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CUP; 

 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 

 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

Staff Review Comments: 

The proposed conditional use includes modest increases in the setbacks provided on all four sides of the 

proposed home. 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the CUP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed CUP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 

fact finding would be all of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 

program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 

other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 

the City. 

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 

neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 

property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 

either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 

implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any 

other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed conditional use maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use 

intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed conditional use is located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will 

not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 

public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use outweigh all potential adverse 

impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal 

and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 

finding would be one or more of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 

program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 



 3 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 

other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 

the City. 

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 

neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 

property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 

either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 

implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any 

other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed conditional use does not maintain the desired consistency of land uses, land use 

intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed conditional use is not located in an area that will be adequately served by, and 

will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services 

provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use do not outweigh all potential 

adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 

proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed conditional 

use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above, 

noting that the proposal is a fully consistent with the setback requirements of the SR-4 zoning 

district, and results in compliance to the setbacks on all four sides of the building over the current 

home. 

 



 
Kapur & Associates, Inc. ~ 1224 S. Pine Street ~ Burlington, WI 53105 ~ www.kapurengineers.com                                 Page 1 of 1 
 
D:\Walworth_Co\Lake Geneva_City\Gov\190138 2019 Lake Geneva Plan Review\PHSE03 715 Lagrange Drive\715 Lagrange 
Engineering Report 2-11-2019.doc 

 

                               Memo to the City of Lake Geneva 
 

  Phone:  (262) 767-2747 
 Fax:  (262) 767-2750 
 
 
To: Fred Walling, Zoning Administrator Date: February 11, 2019 
 
CC: Dave Nord – City Administrator 
 Tom Earle – Director of Public Works 
 Josh Gajewski – Utility Director 
    
From: Greg Governatori, P.E 
   
Subject: Engineering review of 715 LaGrange Drive - CUP 
  
  

 

We have completed our review of the construction plans and additional supporting documents 
submitted by Tom and Barb Koenig owners of the property received January 29th, 2019. The review 
was conducted to determine compliance with the City of Lake Geneva Municipal Code and good 
engineering practices. 
 
The Following items were submitted as part of the application 

 Plat of Survey, grading and erosion control –dated January 15th, 2019 
 CUP Application and narrative dated January 29th, 2019. 

 
 The project consists of the demolition of the existing residence and replacing with a new 

proposed house very close to the same footprint and location. 

Utility Connections 

 The sanitary sewer services will connect to the existing manhole within the sanitary easement to 
the southwest.  The existing manhole is estimated at being six feet in depth from records.  The 
manhole depth should be confirmed and compared to the basement floor elevation of the house 
to provide adequate sewer service to the home. 

  A new water service will be provided to the lateral connection on South Lake Shore drive.  A new 
meter is required, with the existing outside meter pit being abandoned for construction of the new 
home. 

Grading and Storm water 

 The lot is shown as properly graded with erosion control around the perimeter of the property.  
Existing drainage patterns are maintained, and storm water runoff will not be affected by the 
replacement home construction.  

Although the material has been reviewed, the Applicant and their consultants are ultimately responsible 
for the thoroughness and accuracy of the site plans for conformance with state statutes, standards and 
The Lake Geneva municipal city code.  Please contact me if you have any questions or comments 
pertaining to this project at (262) 758-6010 or ggovernatori@kapurinc.com 





































 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by McMurr II, LLC, 351 
Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL. 60654, requesting a Planned Development for the property located on Lake 
Geneva Blvd. in the Summerhaven Condominium Subdivision to allow for the Precise Implementation Plan to 
continue the development of Phase II, located in the Planned Development (PD) zoning district and a 
corresponding Development Agreement, Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00001 thru ZSUM0000247. 

 
Committee: 

 
Plan Commission approved February 18, 2019 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 19-R15 Date: February 25, 2019 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of McMurr II, LLC, 351 Hubbard, Suite 

610, Chicago, IL. 60654, for the request for a Planned Development for the property located on Lake Geneva Blvd. in 
the Summerhaven Condominium Subdivision to allow for the Precise Implementation Plan to continue the 
development of Phase II; 
 
 WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper notice given on 
February 18, 2019. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is hereby authorized, to issue 
a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by McMurr II, LLC, 351 Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL. 60654, requesting 
a Planned Development for the property located on Lake Geneva Blvd. in the Summerhaven Condominium 
Subdivision to allow for the Precise Implementation Plan to continue the development of Phase II located in the 
Planned Development (PD) zoning district, and the Mayor’s authorized to sign on behalf of the City, the approved 
Development Agreement for Phase II, 
 

Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00001 thru ZSUM0000247 
 

to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 
 
 Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 25th day of February 2019. 
 
 

Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       
 
 

Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 
 
 
  
 

Thomas Hartz, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk 



1 

 

STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date: February 18, 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: 

The applicant is submitting a request for a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) that would allow for the 

development of Phase II for the north side of the development to include the 4 single family structures 

and road installation with a cul-de-sac. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

As part of the consideration of the requested PIP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed PIP; 

 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for PIPs; and, 

 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

Staff Review Comments: 

No impacts to neighboring properties are anticipated. 

 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PIP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed PIP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 

fact finding would be all of the following: 

1.  In general, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is in harmony with the purposes, 

goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City. 

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is in harmony with the 

purposes, goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning 

Applicant: 

McMurr II, LLC. 

351 Hubbard, Suite 610,  

Chicago, IL. 60654 

Request:  

Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) 

Summerhaven Phase II 

Lake Geneva Blvd. 

Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00001 thru ZSUM0000247 

Agenda Item: 12 



2 

 

Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

3.  The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) in its proposed location, and as depicted on the 

required site plan does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the 

character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, 

safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a 

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan 

or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

4.  The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) maintains the desired consistency of land uses, 

land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

5.  The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is located in an area that will be adequately 

served by, and will not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or 

services provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) outweigh all 

potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the 

Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 

impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 

finding would be one or more of the following: 

1.  In general, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is not in harmony with the purposes, 

goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City. 

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is not in harmony with the 

purposes, goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning 

Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

3.  The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) in its proposed location, and as depicted on the 

required site plan does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the 

character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, 

safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a 

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan 

or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

4.  The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) does not maintain the desired consistency of 

land uses, land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject 

property. 

5.  The proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) is not located in an area that will be adequately 

served by, and will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or 

services provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 



3 

 

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) do not outweigh 

all potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the 

Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 

impacts. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the Proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

If the Plan Commission members feel the submittal is acceptable - 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed Precise 

Implementation Plan (PIP) as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above. 

 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMERHAVEN 
OF  

LAKE GENEVA PHASE II 
 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT –  
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN  

Applicant: McMurr II, LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company 

 
January 11, 2019 

  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 2 
 

SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II  
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

NARRATIVE 
 
 
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN INTRODUCTION: 
 
  McMurr II, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (“McMurr II”), is the 
Successor Declarant of the Summerhaven development (“Summerhaven”), and the owner of all 
the lands composing the second phase of Summerhaven, more particularly described in the 
attached Exhibit A incorporated herein (sometimes, “Phase II,” or “Site”).  McMurr II has 
cleared Summerhaven of piles of broken asphalt, restored the capacity of the storm water 
management ponds, altered the storm water drainage to prevent the flooding of neighboring 
property, paved a portion of Summerhaven Drive to Lake Geneva Boulevard for emergency 
vehicles, and sold most of its units in Phase I of Summerhaven, approximately 8.04 acres 
(“Phase I”), resulting in considerable new single-family home construction.  
 
  Phase I is zoned by the City of Lake Geneva (“City”) as PD, Planned 
Development Zoning District, under a Precise Implementation Plan that has been amended in 
2014, 2017, and 2018 by McMurr II.  Phase I is under condominium ownership, subject to the 
Declaration of Condominium and the Plat of Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva 
Condominium, as amended by recorded amendments and addenda thereto (collectively, 
“Summerhaven of Lake Geneva Condominium”).  Under the 2017 amendment to the PD for 
Phase I, McMurr II has committed to install and repair the incomplete public and private 
infrastructure for the balance of Phase I, construct the pool promised by the original developer of 
Summerhaven, as well as a pool house, and install the final lift of asphalt for the Phase I private 
roads. 
 
  The public infrastructure (e.g., municipal water and sanitary sewer mains) and the 
private infrastructure (e.g., storm water management system, private streets, and public utilities) 
for Summerhaven have been designed and almost fully installed with sufficient capacity to 
accommodate not only the 37 units originally approved for Phase I, now reduced to 28 units, but 
also to accommodate an additional 47 units originally approved for Phase II and Phase III of 
Summerhaven, approximately 4.97 acres adjacent to the south boundary of Phase I (“Phase III”), 
now reduced to 27 single-family units.    
 
  As of late 2018, the City, at McMurr II’s request, has rezoned Phase II and Phase 
III to PD, Planned Development Zoning District, under a General Development Plan, using the 
TR-6, Two-family Zoning District, as the base district.      
 
  To restore the original vision for Summerhaven, to broaden the base of financial 
support for Summerhaven’s extensive private infrastructure, including, without limitation, the 
streets, the storm water management facilities, the pool and the pool house, and to provide 
quality infill development, McMurr II proposes this PD, Planned Development Zoning District, 
Precise Implementation Plan, for Phase II (“PIP”).   



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 3 
 

  The ten year period during which Phase II and Phase III could be added to the 
Summerhaven of Lake Geneva Condominium as expansion units under the Wisconsin 
Condominium Ownership Act has expired. 
 
  Phase II will be under condominium ownership, pursuant to a Declaration of 
Condominium and Plat of Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, consisting of four 
single-family site condominium units in Phase II, with Phase III designated as Expansion Area 
for up to 23 additional single-family site condominium units (“Condominium of Summerhaven 
of Lake Geneva II”).  Concurrently herewith, McMurr II is filing with the City an Application 
for Land Division Review for such Declaration and Plat of Condominium.  
 
    McMurr II proposes a cross-easement agreement between the condominium 
associations of the Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva and the Condominium of 
Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, to share, maintain, repair and replace the private roads, the 
storm water management facilities, the pool and pool house, and other common amenities and 
private infrastructure used by all.   
 
  The properties surrounding Phase II are zoned PB, Planned Business Zoning 
District, to the north and east, principally along Wells Street; MR-8, Multi-family Residential-8 
Zoning District, to the west, and PD-PIP (Summerhaven Phase I) and SR-4, Single-family 
Residential-4 Zoning District, to the south.  The single-family use and the proposed density 
should fit well within the neighboring properties.  
 
  A Precise Implementation Plan for Phase III and an addendum to condominium 
plat and an amendment to condominium declaration adding Phase III to the Condominium of 
Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II will be filed upon the completion of engineering and related 
work.   
    
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN REQUIREMENTS: 
 
1. Location Map:  See the Location Map, showing the location of Phase II on the City’s Land 
Use Plan Map, attached as Exhibit B and incorporated herein. 
 
2. Map of Site with Zoning and Names and Addresses of Owners within 300 feet of the Site:  
See Group Exhibit C incorporated herein. 
 
3. General written description of the proposed PIP: 
a. Specific project themes and images:  A Site Plan of Phase II and Phase III is attached as 
Exhibit D and incorporated herein.  Sample elevations and floor plans for one-story residences 
for Phase II are attached as Group Exhibit E and incorporated herein.  Two-story residences are 
planned, as well, for Phase II.  The Final Engineering Plans for the Phase I Buildout and Phase 
II are attached as Group Exhibit F and incorporated herein.  The landscaping, signage, lighting, 
organizational structure, and consistency of the GDP and the PIP for Phase II will be 
substantially similar to those of Phase I, to make an integrated community. 
b. Specific mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses:  Only single-family residences are 
proposed for Phase II. 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 4 
 

c. Specific residential densities: (i) Dwelling units per gross acre: Phase II, less than 2.3 
units/acre; (ii) floor area ratio: 25%; (iii) impervious surface area ratio: 40%. 
d. Specific treatment of natural features:  Phase II includes a detention pond that will serve 
not only Phase II improvements, but the Phase I improvements, as well.  Open space in Phase II 
will be treated much as open space is treated in Phase I. 
e. Specific relationship to nearby properties and public streets:  Access to Phase II will be 
through the existing Summerhaven Drive from Lake Geneva Boulevard and an extended Murray 
Drive.  The single-family residences of Phase II will relate well to the Phase I development. 
f. Statement of Rationale - why PD zoning proposed:  McMurr II requests PD zoning to 
obtain flexibilities from land use and bulk regulations for Phase II, the most significant of which 
have been granted in Phase I, to promote uniformity of development with Phase I, and to 
accommodate the number of single-family units sufficient to support the private infrastructure of 
Summerhaven, which has been planned for more multi-family units under the original PD.  
Despite the flexibilities sought under the requested PD zoning, permitted density in the Site’s 
existing zoning of Two-Family Residential District (TR-6) is up to six dwelling units per acre, 
while Phase II is less than 2.3 dwelling units per acre. 
g. Complete list of zoning standards not met by proposed PD and location(s) in which they 
apply, and complete list of zoning standards more than met by the proposed PD and 
location(s) in which they apply:  
 McMurr II reiterates the following flexibilities from bulk regulations for Phase II, 
which have been granted under the approved General Development Plan for Phase II and 
Phase III: 
 i. Easements for the private streets of 50 feet in width (Ordinance: minimum 66-  
  foot width); 
 ii. Cul-de-sac length of 720 feet (Ordinance maximum: 400 feet);  
 iii. Minimum front and rear eave width of six inches for side of gables (Ordinance:  
  eighteen inches); 
 iv. Side of front porch to side of adjacent front porch of twelve feet, minimum side  
  yard of six feet (Ordinance: minimum dwelling unit separation of fifteen feet,  
  minimum side yard of six feet); 
 v. Units in Phase II will range in size from approximately 5,046 square feet to  
  approximately 8,182 square feet, to accommodate single-family dwellings in  
  place of the duplex structures permitted under the TR-6, Two-family Zoning  
  District.  By comparison, some units in Phase I are below 7,000 square feet  
  in size. (Ordinance: 9,000 square foot minimum); 
 vi. Minimum Landscape Surface Ratio (LSR): 45% (Ordinance: 50%); 
 vii. Maximum Building Coverage: 45% (Ordinance: 40%); 
 viii. Minimum Lot Width: 50 feet (Ordinance: 75 feet); 
 ix. Total of Both Sides, Lot Lines to House/Garage: Twelve feet (Ordinance: fifteen  
  feet; and 
 x. Rear Lot Line to House or Garage: fifteen feet (Ordinance: 30 feet). 
 
 Phase II will meet the following bulk regulations: 
   Residential Density and Intensity Requirements: Conventional Development 
 xi. Minimum Zoning District Area: 9,000 square feet - Units in Phase II will   
  range in size from approximately 5,046 square feet to about 8,182 square   



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 5 
 

  feet, to accommodate single-family dwellings in place of the duplex   
  structures permitted under the TR-6, Two-family Zoning District.  By   
  comparison, some units in Phase I are below 7,000 square feet in size. 
 xii. Maximum Gross Density (MGD): Six du/acre - Phase II totals fewer than   
  2.3 dwelling units per acre. 
 xiii. Maximum Accessory Building Coverage: 10% 
 xiv. Residential Bulk Requirements: 
   1.  Minimum Street Frontage: 50 feet 
   2.  Minimum Setbacks:  
    Front or Street Lot Line to House: 25 feet 
    Front or Street Lot Line to Garage: 25 feet  
    Side Lot Line to House or Garage: six feet  
    Side Lot Line to Accessory Structure: three feet from property line  
    Rear Lot Line to Accessory Structure: three feet from property line  
    Minimum Paved Surface Setback: five feet from side or rear; ten  
    feet from street 
    Minimum Dwelling Unit Separation: twelve feet   
    Maximum Height of Dwelling Unit: 35 feet 
    Maximum Height of Accessory Structure: fifteen feet 
    Minimum Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required on the  
    Lot (Includes garage, drives, and all designated parking surfaces):  
    three 
    Minimum Dwelling Core Dimensions: 24 feet by 40 feet 
    Minimum Roof Pitch: 3 : 12 
   3.  Residential Landscaping Requirements: Not applicable for single- 
        family. 
 
4. Precise Implementation Plan Drawing showing at least the following information: 
a. PIP Site Plan conforming to §98-908(3).  See attached Exhibit G incorporated herein and 
McMurr II’s proposed Declaration and Plat of Condominium submitted concurrently herewith.    
b. Location of public recreational and open space areas and facilities.  None.  All amenities, 
including the pool and pool house in Phase I, are intended for the use of Summerhaven residents 
and their guests.   
c. Statistical data on minimum lot sizes in the development, the precise areas of all development 
lots and pads, density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor area ratio, impervious 
surface area ratio and landscape surface area ratio of various land uses, expected staging, and any 
other plans required by the City.  See 3(g), above. 
d. Notations relating (3)(a)3.a.-f., above to specific area.  See Exhibit G. 
 
5. Landscaping Plan, noting approximate locations of foundation, street, yard and paving, 
landscaping, and compliance with landscaping requirements, and the use of extra landscaping 
and bufferyards.  There are no residential landscaping requirements for single-family residences 
in the base district TR-6, Two-family Zoning District.  Each owner in Phase II will landscape his 
or her yard as he or she sees fit. 
 
6.  Building Elevations of exteriors of all buildings:  See Group Exhibit E. 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 6 
 

 
7. General Signage Plan, including all project identification signs and concepts for public 
fixtures and signs (such as street light fixtures and/or poles or street sign faces and/or poles) 
which vary from City standards or common practices.  Signage and light fixtures and poles for 
Phase II shall be substantially similar in appearance and location to the signage and light 
fixtures and poles for Phase I, to preserve continuity with Phase I.  Only directional and street 
signage is planned for Phase II; no project identification signage is needed. 
 
8. General Outline of Intended Organizational Structure:  Phase II will be under 
condominium ownership, pursuant to the Declaration of Condominium and Plat of 
Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, consisting of four single-family site 
condominium units in Phase II, with Phase III designated as Expansion Area for up to 23 
additional single-family site condominium units.  
 
    McMurr II proposes a cross-easement agreement between the condominium 
associations of the Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva and the Condominium of 
Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, to share, maintain, repair and replace the private roads, the 
storm water management facilities, the pool and pool house, and other common amenities and 
private infrastructure used by all.   
 
9.  Consistency of Proposed PIP with Approved GDP: The proposed PIP for Phase II is 
fully consistent with the approved GDP for Phase II and Phase III, and with the approved PIP for 
Phase I, using the same flexibilities from bulk and other zoning standards in all phases and 
implementing varied but complementary design themes, to create a phased, seamless, 
predominantly single-family development throughout Summerhaven.  
 
10.  All Variations between Requirements of GPD and PIP:  None. 
 
11.  Proof of Financing Capability:  McMurr II will enter into a development agreement with 
the City for the Phase II improvements and submit a performance bond thereunder in the amount 
of 120% of the value of the public improvements, as determined by the City Engineer and 
McMurr II.  
 
 McMurr II respectfully requests that the City grant the PIP pursuant to this Application, 
to complete this infill development in the City, subject to such reasonable conditions as the City 
may impose.     
  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 7 
 

EXHIBIT A 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PHASE II 

 

PARCEL 1: THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF 
SECTION 36, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 17 EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, 
WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY 
MAP NO. 754, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 OF WALWORTH COUNTY 
CERTIFIED SURVEYS, SAID POINT LOCATED S 89DEG 31MIN 36SEC W, 733.28 FEET 
FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36 (T2N, R17E); THENCE N 
89DEG 38MIN 40SEC E, 89.98 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 37MIN 23SEC E, 90.50 FEET TO 
THE WEST LINE OF LAKE GENEVA BOULEVARD; THENCE N 01DEG 34MIN 47SEC 
W, 348.82 FEET ALONG SAID BOULEVARD TO THE SOUTHWEST LINE OF WELLS 
STREET; THENCE N 37DEG 55MIN 32SEC W, ALONG SAID STREET, 202.94 FEET; 
THENCE S 89DEG 18MIN 48SEC W, 239.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE S 00DEG 41MIN 12SEC E, 50.00 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 55MIN 11SEC E, 
134.92 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 31MIN 07SEC W, 24.01 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 12MIN 
03SEC E, 16.91 FEET; THENCE S 88DEG 41MIN 15SEC W, 42.80 FEET; THENCE N 
86DEG 27MIN 48SEC W, 126.62 FEET; THENCE S 88DEG 58MIN 07SEC W, 199.39 FEET 
TO THE EAST LINE OF LAKE SHORE VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM; THENCE ALONG 
SAID CONDOMINIUM, N 00DEG 11MIN 05SEC W, 6.62 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, N 
00DEG 47MIN 32SEC W, 187.44 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 18MIN 48SEC E, 389.70 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 76,247 SQUARE FEET (1.75 ACRES) OF 
LAND, MORE OR LESS (end of legal description). 

Property Index Number: ZSUM 00001 

  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 8 
 

EXHIBIT B 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

LOCATION MAP 

 

  See attached. 

  





T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 9 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT C 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

MAP OF SITE AND LIST OF OWNERS WITHIN 300 FEET 

 

  See attached. 

 
  



300 foot Buffer
WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN

Gr id  
No rt hGeo de tic

Nort h

Ö

0 50 10 0 15 0 20 0 25 025
Fe e t

Wisconsin State Plane Coordinate System, South Zone
Hor izontal  Datum:  NAD27

Map Produced on:

Walworth County Information Technology Department
Land Information Division
1800 County Tr unk NN
Elk horn, Wisconsin  53121-1001
DISC LAI M ER: T HE I NF OR M AT IO N PR OV IDED  O N T H IS M AP HAS BEEN PRO DU CED 
AND PRO CESS ED F R OM  SO UR CES BEL IEVED  T O BE R ELI ABLE . N O WARR ANT Y,  
EXPRESS ED O R IM PL IED,  IS M ADE R EG ARDI NG  AC CUR ACY,  ADE QU ACY, CO M PLET EN ESS, 
LEG AL IT Y, R EL IABIL IT Y OR  USEF U LN ESS O F  T HI S IN F OR MA TI ON . T H E IN F OR MA TI ON  
CO NT AIN ED H EREI N W IL L N OT  BE AC CEPT ED  AS A N O F F ICI AL DO CUM EN T .

Author:
1 inch = 188 feet

10/17/2018















T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 10 
 

EXHIBIT D 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

SITE PLAN 

 

  See attached. 

  









T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 11 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT E 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

SAMPLE ELEVATIONS & FLOOR PLANS 

 

  See attached. 

  











T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 12 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT F 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

FINAL ENGINEERING PLANS FOR THE PHASE I BUILDOUT AND PHASE II 

  See attached. 

  























T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\pd-pip app-2.docx Page 13 
 

EXHIBIT G 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE II 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN DRAWING 

  See attached. 

 

 





1 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

Document Number Document Name 

 

 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made this   day of   , 2019, 
between the CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, Walworth County, Wisconsin (“City”), and McMURR II, LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company (“Developer”). 

 

RECITALS 

  WHEREAS, the City is a Wisconsin municipal corporation, organized and existing 
pursuant to Wis. Stat. Ch. 62, with authority to enter into this Agreement under its zoning and annexation 
ordinances, as well as the general home rule authority vested in it under Wisconsin law; and 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is the owner, developer, and declarant of two (2) parcels of real 
property located in the City, one (1) more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A incorporated 
herein, approximately 1.75 acres (“Phase II”), and the other, approximately 5.00 acres to the south of Phase 
II (“Phase III”), which parcels are commonly known as the expansion areas of Phase I of Summerhaven of 
Lake Geneva Condominium, approximately 8.03 acres  (“Phase I”).  Phases II and III are zoned PD, 
Planned Development Zoning District, with an approved General Development Plan for four (4) single-
family site condominium units in Phase II, and up to twenty-three (23) single family site condominium 
units in the expansion area of Phase III  (“GDP”).  The public improvements for Phase II, i.e., the sanitary 
sewer mains and the municipal water mains, and the private Phase II infrastructure, i.e., the private storm 
water management facilities, other utilities and the private streets (to their surface course), have been 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recording Area 
Name and Return Address 

James P. Howe 
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court 
Elkhorn, Wisconsin 53121 

 
ZSUM 00001 

Parcel Identification Number (PIN) 



2 
 

partially constructed and installed by the Developer in its completion of the infrastructure of the north 
portion of Phase I; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer is applying with the City for approval of a Declaration 
of Condominium and Plat of Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, consisting of four 
(4) single-family site condominium units encompassing Phase II, with Phase III designated as 
Expansion Area for up to 23 additional single-family units (“Condominium”); and    

 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to own and develop Phase II pursuant to a Precise 
Implementation Plan filed herewith (“Development”); and   

 WHEREAS, the Development conforms to the City’s Comprehensive Master Plan, 
because Phases II and III are planned as Two-Family/Townhouse Residential; and   

 WHEREAS, the City and the Developer desire to enter into this Agreement.   

  NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Developer enter into this Agreement on the 
date first set forth above, and agree as follows:     

 
SECTION 1 
 RESTATEMENT OF RECITALS 
 
SECTION 1.1 Recitals Incorporated.  The Recitals set forth hereinabove are restated in the 
text of this Agreement by reference as if set forth in full herein, and as such constitute agreements 
by and between the parties made part and parcel of this Agreement.  
 
SECTION 2 
 PUBLIC AND PRIVATE IMPROVEMENTS 
 
SECTION 2.1 Phasing/Staging.  The Development shall be developed in one phase.  The 
Developer will install all necessary infrastructure, including sanitary sewer, municipal water supply 
and related facilities (collectively, “Public Improvements”), as well as surface water drainage, 
private street, utilities, other private improvements and related facilities (collectively, “Private 
Improvements”), as may be necessary to serve the Development (Public Improvements and Private 
Improvements, sometimes, collectively, “Improvements”).  All Improvements shall comply with 
City and state standards, to be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer, as provided below, and 
the Public Improvements shall be dedicated and conveyed or transferred to the City pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2.2 Contractors.  The Developer shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, all labor 
and services, material, and work for the construction and completion of the Improvements.  The 
parties acknowledge and agree that the Developer may have any or all of the Improvements 
constructed and supplied by various contractors, and the City specifically agrees that this shall be 
permitted.  The City declares that the Developer may employ any such general contractor or 
subcontractors, in its own discretion and of its own choosing.  The contractors, however, shall 
appear on the City’s pre-qualification list of contractors.   
 
SECTION 2.3 Improvements’ Compliance with Plans.  The Developer will construct and 
complete, or cause to be constructed and completed, the Improvements in a thorough, workmanlike, 
and substantial manner in every respect, to the satisfaction and approval of both the City Engineer 



3 
 

and the City Council, within the times specified herein and in strict accordance with the instructions 
and information contained in this Agreement, the performance bond, and the plans and 
specifications submitted as part of the PIP and reviewed and approved by the City Engineer 
(collectively, “Plans”), all of which documents are hereby made a part of this Agreement and form 
the Agreement documents as fully as if the same were set forth at length herein.  The Developer, 
however, shall not be considered in default of any of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this 
Agreement if the Developer fails to perform any of its obligations hereunder and such failure is 
caused, in whole or in part, by any act of God, weather conditions, strikes, labor shortages, fires, 
casualties, shortages of materials, work stoppages, or other matters beyond the reasonable control 
of the Developer.  In the event that any matters set forth in this section delay the Developer’s ability 
to timely perform its obligations under this Agreement, the date upon which said obligations were 
to be completed shall be extended for a like number of days.   
 
SECTION 2.4 Required Improvements.  The following are the Improvements which will be 
required by the City.  No improvements which are not specifically contained in the Plans shall be 
required to be installed by the Developer or shall be required by the City to be installed without the 
express consent of the Developer, notwithstanding any new ordinances or any modifications to the 
ordinances or requirements of the City from time to time.   
 

a. Sanitary Sewer System.  The Developer shall construct the sanitary sewer Public 
Improvements to make adequate sanitary sewerage service available to Phase II.  
The size, type, and installation of all sanitary sewers, laterals and related facilities 
to serve the Development shall be in accordance with the Plans.  The Developer 
agrees that the City will not accept the sanitary sewer Public Improvements until 
the same have been installed in accordance with the Plans.   

 
b. Municipal Water Supply Facilities.  The Developer shall construct the municipal 

water supply Public Improvements in such a manner as to make adequate water 
service available to Phase II.  The size, type, and installation of all municipal water 
supply mains, laterals, and related facilities proposed to be constructed shall be in 
accordance with the Plans.  The Developer agrees that the City will not accept the 
municipal water supply Public Improvements until such Public Improvements 
have been installed in accordance with the Plans.    
 

c. Terminus of Murray Drive.  The Developer shall construct the binder course of 
Murray Drive to its north terminus, ending with a cul-de-sac of a size, and without 
an island, as shown in the Plans, that meets state standards for emergency vehicles.  
The developer shall install the final lift to Murray Drive and the Phase I portion of 
Summerhaven Drive within one (1) year after the completion of the construction 
of the last of the residential structures and their related improvements for Phase II.  
Prior to the installation of a final lift, the Developer shall repair all damaged road 
base and replace the surface course as required by the City Engineer.  
 

d. Wells Street Construction Entrance and Sidewalk.  Upon the completion of the 
construction of the Improvements and the single-family improvements in Phase II, 
the Developer shall properly abandon the temporary construction driveway onto 
Wells Street, including the curb cut for such entrance, and replace the damaged 
sections of sidewalk on Wells Street that are adjacent and contiguous to Phase I 



4 
 

with the same type of materials as the sections to be replaced.          
 

e. Storm Water Management System.  The Developer shall construct the storm water 
management system Private Improvements, which include catch basins and inlets, 
storm sewers, road ditches and open channels, detention/retention basins, and 
other water quality components as may be required for Phase II.  All such Private 
Improvements are to be of adequate size and grade to hydraulically accommodate 
maximum potential volumes of flow.  The type of Improvements required, the 
design criteria, and the sizes and grades shall be in accordance with the Plans.  The 
storm water management system Private Improvements shall be designed to 
present no hazard to life or property.  The size, type, and installation of all storm 
water drains and sewers proposed to be constructed shall be in accordance with 
the Plans.  In no event will the City accept the storm water management system 
Private Improvements, the maintenance of which shall be the responsibility of the 
condominium owners association for the Condominium for Phase II 
(“Association”), performed in accordance with a Storm Water Management 
Systems Maintenance Plan to be prepared by the Developer and approved by the 
City Engineer as part of the Plans.  If the Association fails to perform such 
maintenance, the City, upon advance written notice to such association, shall have 
the right of access to the storm water management system Private Improvements 
for inspection, public drainage conveyance, and repairs.  Actual costs incurred by 
the City for the repairs performed by the City or its agents shall be billed to and 
paid by the Association.  The condominium documents prepared for Phase II shall 
include provisions reflecting the foregoing authorizing the City to make repairs to 
the Private Water Management System and requiring the Association to pay the 
City for the costs of such repairs.  The provisions in the condominium documents 
reciting the foregoing shall not be amendable without the express written consent 
of the City, which may be withheld in the City’s sole discretion.   

 
f. Other Utilities.   

 
1. The Developer shall cause electrical power, natural gas, 

telephone facilities, and cable television service to be 
installed in such a manner as to make adequate service 
available to Phase II.  All electrical power, natural gas, 
telephone facilities, and cable television service shall be 
located, where practicable, in underground conduits.   

 
2. Plans indicating proposed locations of all electrical power, 

gas, and telephone distribution and transmission lines 
required to service Phase II shall be reviewed and approved 
by the City Engineer.   

 
g. Private Street Lights.  Site light and sign Private Improvements shall be installed at 

the Developer’s cost and shall conform to the Plans.  Installation shall be approved 
by the City Engineer.  Following installation and approval, such light and sign 
Improvements shall be the property of the Condominium owners, and the 
Association shall maintain the same.  

 



5 
 

h. Landscaping.  The Developer shall:   
 

1. Preserve, to the maximum extent possible, existing trees, 
shrubbery, vines, and grasses not lying in public roadway 
drainageways, building foundation sites, private driveway, 
parking lot, storm water management systems, paths, and 
trails, by use of sound conservation practices.   

 
2. Remove and lawfully dispose of all destroyed trees, brush, 

stumps, shrubs, and other natural growth and all rubbish.   
       

SECTION 3 
 DEDICATION 
 
SECTION 3.1 Dedication.  Subject to all of the other provisions of this Agreement, the 
Developer, without charge to the City, upon completion of all of the above-described Public 
Improvements, shall unconditionally give, grant, convey, and fully dedicate the same to the City, 
its successors and assigns, forever, free and clear of all encumbrances, together with, including, 
without limitation, all buildings, structures, mains, conduits, pipes, lines, and appurtenances which 
may in any way be a part of or pertain to such Public Improvements, and together with all necessary 
easements for access and maintenance thereto.  
 
SECTION 4 
 PLANS 
 
SECTION 4.1 Plans on Site.  The Developer shall keep itself supplied with the latest issues 
of all the Plans, and shall keep one (1) copy thereof at Phase II of the work, in good order and 
available to the City Engineer, or his or her inspectors, representatives, or agents. 
 
SECTION 4.2 Filing Plans.  At least two (2) complete copies of the Plans shall be filed with 
the City Clerk, together with two (2) sets of the Plans, one (1) set each in Mylar and digital format, 
of the Plans to the City Engineer and the Public Works Director, and all such copies of the Plans 
shall remain the property of the City. 
 
SECTION 4.3 City Engineer Instruction.  The City Engineer shall promptly furnish the 
Developer with such additional instructions relating to the Plans, by means of drawings, plans, or 
otherwise, as is required to proceed with the Public Improvements.  All such drawings and 
additional instructions shall be consistent with this Agreement and reasonably inferable therefrom. 
 
SECTION 4.4  Conformity with Plans.  All Improvements shall be executed in conformity 
with the Plans, including additional instructions.  The Developer shall cause no work to be 
performed without proper drawings, plans, and specifications. 
 
SECTION 4.5 Additional Plans.  If any additional plans or specifications are prepared by 
the Developer, the cost of same shall be paid for by the Developer.  If any additional plans or 
specifications are prepared by the City Engineer, the Developer shall pay to the City all costs 
incurred by the City for the preparation of said plans and specifications, which costs shall include 
engineering, legal, administrative, and all other miscellaneous costs.  The Developer shall pay to 



6 
 

the City all costs incurred by the City Engineer when he or she reviews the Plans that are prepared 
by, or at the direction of, the Developer. 
 
SECTION 4.6 As Built Drawings.  The Developer shall file with the City Engineer a 
complete set of “AS BUILT DRAWINGS,” one (1) set each in Mylar and digital format, for all of 
the Improvements under this Agreement upon the completion of Phase II.  Upon the completion of 
Phase III for Summerhaven, the Developer shall provide as built drawings of the storm water 
management system for all three (3) phases of Summerhaven to the City Engineer.  The Developer, 
in its sole discretion, may commission the City Engineer to prepare such drawings, at the 
Developer’s expense.   
 
SECTION 5 
 CONSTRUCTION AND INSPECTION 
 
SECTION 5.1 Commencement.  No construction, installation, or Improvements shall 
commence for Phase II until the Developer has made arrangements for inspection and construction 
staking, and the City Engineer has given written authorization. 
 
SECTION 5.2 Inspection.  The Developer, prior to any work within Phase II, shall make 
arrangements with the City Engineer to provide for adequate inspection during construction.  The 
City Engineer, and/or his or her inspector, shall inspect and approve all work to assure that the Plans 
comply with the laws, ordinances and regulations of the City (collectively, “Code”) and any other 
applicable governmental authority, subject to the provisions of this Agreement.  The City Engineer 
shall approve all work prior to release of the sureties. 
 
SECTION 5.3 Access.  The City Engineer, his or her inspectors, representatives, or agents, 
shall, at all times, have unrestricted access to all parts of the work and to other places where or in 
which the preparation of materials and other integral parts of the public Improvements are being 
carried on and conducted. 
 
SECTION 5.4 Assistance.   The Developer shall provide all facilities and assistance 
requested or required to carry out the work of supervision and inspection by the City Engineer, his 
or her inspectors, representatives, or agents. 
 
SECTION 5.5 Responsibilities Not Relieved.  Inspection of the Improvements by these 
authorities or their representatives shall in no manner be presumed to relieve, in any degree, the 
responsibility or obligations of the Developer or to constitute the Developer as an agent of the City. 
 
SECTION 5.6 Materials Inspection.  No material of any kind shall be used in the Public 
Improvements until it has been inspected and accepted by the City Engineer, or his or her inspector.  
All rejected materials shall be immediately removed from Phase II.  Any materials or workmanship 
found at any time to be defective shall be replaced or remedied at once, regardless of previous 
inspection.  Inspection of materials shall be promptly made and, where practicable, at the source of 
supply. 
 
SECTION 5.7 Request for Inspection.  Whenever the specifications, the instructions of the 
City Engineer, the Code, or the laws, ordinances, or regulations of any public authority require 
work to be specifically treated or approved, the Developer’s contractor shall give the City Engineer 



7 
 

timely notice of its readiness for inspection, and if the inspection is by another authority, of the date 
fixed for such inspection. 
 
SECTION 5.8 Compliance with Laws.  The Developer and every contractor or person doing 
or contracting to do any work contemplated by this Agreement shall keep itself fully informed of 
all national and state laws and the Code in any manner affecting the Improvements, and shall at all 
times observe and comply with such national and state laws and the Code regardless of whether 
such national and state laws and the Code are mentioned herein, and shall indemnify the City, its 
officers, agents, and employees, against any claim or liability arising from or based on the violation 
of any national and state laws and the Code. 
 
SECTION 5.9 Permits.  The Developer shall secure, at its own expense, all necessary 
certificates and permits from municipal or other public authorities required in connection with the 
Improvements, and shall give all notices required by law, ordinance, or regulation and the Code.  
The Developer shall pay all fees and charges incident to be due for the lawful prosecution of the 
work contemplated by this Agreement and any extra work performed by the Developer.   
 
SECTION 5.10  Engineering Fees.  The City shall require that the City Engineer provide the 
Developer with a written, detailed estimate of the anticipated cost of all engineering inspection of 
construction, construction staking, and all inspections by the City Engineer, or his or her inspector 
for Phase II, before commencement.  The Developer shall pay to the City the actual cost billed by 
the City Engineer.   
 
SECTION 6 

PROTECTION OF WORK, PROPERTY, AND PERSONS 
 
SECTION 6.1 Safety Precautions.  The Developer shall be responsible for initiating, 
maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the work on 
Phase II.  The Developer will take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the 
necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to, all employees on the work and other 
persons who may be affected thereby, all the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated 
therein, whether in storage on or off Phase II, and other property at Phase II, or adjacent thereto, 
including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, and utilities not designated 
for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction on Phase II. 
 
SECTION 6.2 No Nuisance.  The Developer shall provide all necessary privy 
accommodations for the use of its contractors, and shall maintain the same in a clean and sanitary 
condition.  The Developer shall not create or permit any nuisance to the public or to residents in the 
vicinity of the work on Phase II. 
 
SECTION 6.3 Safety Regulation Compliance.  The Developer will comply with all 
applicable safety laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders of any public body having jurisdiction, 
and the Code.  The Developer will erect and maintain, as required by the conditions and progress 
of the work on Phase II, all necessary safeguards for safety and protection.  The Developer will 
notify owners of adjacent properties when prosecution of the work may affect them.  The Developer 
will remedy all damage, injury, or loss to any property caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, by the Developer’s contractors or any subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them be liable. 
 



8 
 

SECTION 6.4 Preventing Damage.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the 
work or property at Phase II, or adjacent thereto, the Developer shall immediately act to prevent 
threatened damage, injury, or loss. 
 
SECTION 7 

TIME FOR COMPLETION OF WORK; PERFORMANCE BOND 
 
SECTION 7.1 Commencement.  It is anticipated that construction of the Improvements will 
commence no later than one (1) month after the closingapproval of the Developer’s purchase ofPIP 
for Phase II from the City, weather permitting.  The term of this Agreement shall expire on the tenth 
(10th) anniversary date of such commencement of construction; provided, however, that the 
Developer may seek extension as reasonably necessary to complete Phase II.   
 
SECTION 7.2 Security.  A surety bond will be filed with the City prior to construction of 
Phase II.  The procedure for the filing of the surety bond shall be as follows:  A surety bond equal 
in amount to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Public Improvements shall be issued by a 
financial institution acceptable to the City.  Said surety bond may be reduced from time to time by 
the value of the Public Improvements previously completed and fully paid.  The security will be 
reduced proportionately as each aspect of the construction for Phase II has been completed and paid 
for.  Should additional Public Improvements be added or the cost of the intended Public 
Improvements prove to be larger than originally anticipated, the surety bond shall be immediately 
supplemented to include any additional amounts or other estimated costs with respect to said Public 
Improvements.  To secure the Developer's warranty of the Public Improvements under subsection 
10.01(c), below, the Developer shall maintain maintenance bond in the amount of ten (10) percent 
of the cost of such Public Improvements for twelve (12) months.   
 
SECTION 7.3 Acceptance of Work.  No act of the City, of the City Engineer, or of any 
representative of either, in inspecting the Public Improvements, or any extension of time for the 
completion of such Improvements, shall be regarded as an acceptance of such Improvements or any 
part thereof, or of materials used therein, either wholly or in part.  Acceptance shall be evidenced 
only by the final certificate of the City Engineer.  No waiver of any breach of this Agreement by 
the City or anyone acting on its behalf shall be held as a waiver of any other subsequent breach 
thereof.  Any remedy provided herein shall be taken and construed as cumulative.   

 
SECTION 7.4 Breach, Completion.  In the event the Developer fails to complete the Public 
Improvements within the specified time, commits a material breach of any of the other covenants 
hereunder, or if the Developer becomes insolvent, or is declared bankrupt, or commits any act of 
bankruptcy or insolvency, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or from any other 
cause whatsoever, does not carry on the Public Improvements in an acceptable manner, the City 
shall give notice in writing to the Developer and its surety of such delay, neglect, or default, 
specifying the same, and if the Developer, within a period of ten (10) days after such notice, does 
not proceed in accordance therewith, subject to the provisions of Section 2.3 hereof, then the City 
shall, upon written certificate from the City Engineer of the fact of such delay, neglect, or default, 
and the Developer’s failure to comply with such notice, have full power and authority to call upon 
the surety or complete the work in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; or the City may 
take over the Public Improvements, including any or all materials and equipment on the ground as 
may be suitable and acceptable, and may complete the Public Improvements by or on its own 
account, or may enter into a new agreement with another party for the completion of the Public 
Improvements, according to the terms and provisions hereof, or use such other methods as, in its 



9 
 

opinion, shall be required for such completion of in an acceptable manner.  All costs and charges 
incurred by the City, together with the cost of completing the Public Improvements, shall be charged 
to the Developer, and the Developer and its surety shall be liable therefor.   
 
SECTION 8 

RISK OF LOSS 
 
SECTION 8.1 Risk of Loss.  The risk of loss or damage of any kind whatsoever to materials 
stored on Phase II, and the risk of damage or destruction to Phase II or any part thereof, at any time 
prior to the completion and acceptance of the Public Improvements to be performed under this 
Agreement, is assumed by the Developer.   
 
SECTION 9 

DEVELOPER’S INSURANCE 
 
SECTION 9.1 Insurance. The Developer shall not commence, or cause to be commenced, 
work under this Agreement until it has obtained all insurance required under this subsection, and 
such insurance has been approved by the City; nor shall the Developer allow any contractor or 
subcontractor to commence such Improvements until all such insurance required of the Developer 
has been so obtained and approved. 
 
SECTION 9.2 Worker’s Compensation Insurance.  The Developer shall take out and 
maintain during the life of this Agreement, Worker’s Compensation Insurance for all of its 
employees employed at Phase II, and in case any work is sublet, the Developer shall require all 
contractors and subcontractors to similarly provide Worker’s Compensation Insurance for all of 
their employees, unless such employees are covered by the protection afforded by the Developer.  
In case any class of employees at Phase II are engaged in hazardous work under this Agreement, 
but are not protected under the Worker’s Compensation Statute, the Developer shall provide, and 
shall cause such contractor and subcontractor to provide, Employer’s Liability Insurance for the 
protection of any employees not otherwise protected. 
 
SECTION 9.3 Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance.  The Developer shall take 
out and maintain during the life of this Agreement such public liability and property damage 
insurance as shall protect the Developer and any contractor or subcontractor performing work 
covered by this Agreement from claims for damages for personal injury, including accidental death, 
as well as from claims for property damages, which may arise from operations under this 
Agreement, whether such operations be by itself or by any contractor or subcontractor, or by anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and the amount of such insurance shall be as 
follows:  Public liability insurance in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) 
for injuries, including accidental death, to any one (1) person, and subject to the same limit for each 
person in an amount not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) on account of one (1) 
accident, and property damage insurance in an amount of not less than Five Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($500,000.00). 
 
SECTION 9.4  Contractor Insurance.  The Developer shall require each and every contractor 
and subcontractor to obtain and maintain similar policies with the same limits stipulated above, 
including contractor’s contingent or protective insurance, if necessary to protect the Developer from 
damage claims arising from operations under this Agreement. 
 



10 
 

SECTION 9.5 Insurance Covering Special Hazards.  The following special hazards shall be 
covered by rider or riders to the public liability and/or property damage insurance policy or policies 
herein before required to be furnished by the Developer, or by separate policies of insurance, in 
amounts not less than Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000.00) to cover injury to 
underground structures such as wires, conduits, pipes and sewers, and explosions of any kind, 
including blasting, and public liability insurance of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($250,000.00)/Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00), with property damage not less than 
One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) for each and every truck or other motor vehicle used 
in hauling materials to or from Phase II. 
 
SECTION 9.6 Proof of Carriage of Insurance. Prior to commencement of work hereunder, 
the Developer shall furnish to, and obtain approval from the City Administrator, of certificates of 
insurance relating to all coverages required hereby and herein.  
 
SECTION 9.7 Cancellation of Insurance. Each policy shall provide that it is non-
cancellable for a period of thirty (30) days following written notice of intention to cancel given by 
the insurance carrier via certified mail. 
 
SECTION 9.8 Endorsements. The Developer will secure a contractual endorsement 
covering the hold harmless and indemnity agreements contained in Section 10 hereof.  
 
SECTION 10 

HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENT 
 
SECTION 10.1 Indemnity. The Developer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, 
its agents and employees, from any and all claims of all persons, entities, or the like for damages of 
any kind relating to injury, death, or property damage arising directly or indirectly out of the work 
performed or to be performed under this Agreement, including extra work, by reason of negligent 
or wrongful conduct in whole or in part on the part of: 
 

a. The Developer, or any of its servants, employees, personnel, agents, 
representatives, contractors, or subcontractors, or the agents of said 
respective parties, or persons performing any work under this 
Agreement or in connection with any work performed under this 
Agreement. 

 
b. The City, or any of its officers, supervisors, officials, agents, 

servants, employees or personnel, or independent contractors 
(collectively, “Agents”) for which the City is responsible for any 
liability, except this provision shall not apply to negligent acts or 
omissions or wrongful conduct by the City or its Agents with respect 
to the design or inspection of the work performed by the City or any 
of its Agents, as provided in this Agreement.   

 
c. The Developer hereby warrants that all Improvements required 

herein will utilize good quality materials and workmanship.  The 
Developer further agrees to warrant all Public Improvements against 
all defects in material or workmanship for a period of one (1) year 
from the date of the acceptance of the public dedication thereof. 



11 
 

 
SECTION 10.2  Defense.  The Developer agrees to assume the defense of any action filed to 
which this hold harmless agreement applies, and to pay all costs and attorney fees incurred in 
connection therewith, and to pay any final judgments entered in an action to which this hold 
harmless agreement and indemnification agreement applies. 
 
SECTION 10.3  Immunity Not Affect. This indemnity and hold harmless agreement shall be 
applicable regardless of any provision of immunity provided for by law. 
 
SECTION 10.4  Certificate of Insurance. The Developer further agrees that prior to 
commencement of the public or private Improvements under this Agreement, it will deposit with 
the City Administrator certificates of insurance relating to the foregoing, together with a contractual 
indemnity endorsement relating to this hold harmless agreement. 
 
SECTION 11 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
SECTION 11.1  Complete Agreement, Amendment. There are no representations, covenants, 
warranties, promises, agreements, conditions, or undertakings, oral or written, between the City and 
the Developer, other than as set forth herein, which is to be read and interpreted in conjunction with 
this Agreement as to the subject matter hereof.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no 
subsequent alteration, amendment, change, or addition to this Agreement shall be binding upon 
either party unless made in writing by the City Council and the Developer, and signed by them. 
 
SECTION 11.2  Conflicts with Codes and Ordinances of the City.  Whenever the terms or 
provisions of this Agreement or any exhibits hereto conflict with the terms and provisions of any 
codes or ordinances of the City, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and 
control. 
 
SECTION 11.3  Cooperation with Permits, Easements.  The City shall cooperate with the 
Developer in the Developer’s endeavors to obtain required permits and approvals from all other 
governmental or quasi-governmental agencies or boards, whether federal, state, or local, with 
jurisdiction over any aspect or part of Phase II, which support and assistance shall also extend to 
any public and private utility companies.  The City shall also cooperate with the Developer in 
obtaining all necessary easements and shall grant the Developer access to all City owned rights-of-
way to enable the Developer’s provision of sanitary sewer, municipal water service, and electrical 
service to Phase II, in accordance with the Plans.  City shall process any applications and shall issue 
such permits within the following time periods after application of such permits are made:  Building 
Permits – 10 days; Occupancy Permits – 10 days. 
  
SECTION 11.4  Assessment Pending Development.  If allowed by law, Phase II shall be 
assessed as improved property in only those portions that have been actually improved and 
developed by the Developer.  The remainder of Phase II not so improved or developed shall be 
assessed as it is actually used.  If the provisions of this subsection should conflict with any future 
change in present state law relating to appropriate methods of assessment, then the provisions of 
said changed state law shall prevail.   
 
SECTION 11.5  Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement conflicts with 
applicable state or federal law, such conflict shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement 



12 
 

which can be given effect without the conflicting provision, and, to this end, the provisions of this 
Agreement are declared to be severable and the invalidity or partial invalidity or unenforceability 
of any one (1) provision or portion hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the 
remaining portions of said provision or any other provisions of this Agreement.   
 
SECTION 11.6 City Not Partner. The City does not, in any way or for any purpose, become 
a partner, employer, principal, agent, or joint venturer of or with the Developer.   
 
SECTION 11.7 Captions.  This Agreement shall be construed without reference to titles of 
any sections or subsections hereof, which are inserted only for convenience.   
 
SECTION 11.8 Binding Agreement, Assignment. This Agreement, and all of the terms, 
covenants, and conditions hereof and of the various instruments executed and delivered pursuant 
hereto, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors 
and assigns.  The Developer shall be permitted to assign any and all of its rights hereunder; 
provided, however, the City shall be notified, in writing, of any such assignment within thirty (30) 
days before the effective date of such assignment, and such written notice shall include the name, 
address, and telephone number of the assignee; and, provided further, that such assignment shall 
not be effective unless and until the assignee satisfies the City that it may succeed to the surety 
bond as provided under this Agreement, in such manner and form acceptable to the City Attorney, 
or assignee provides a new surety bond acceptable to the City.   
 
SECTION 11.9 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the 
State of Wisconsin.   
 
SECTION 11.10 Counterpart Execution. This Agreement, and all other documents or 
instruments that may be required by this Agreement, may be executed in several counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one (1) and the same 
instrument.  In addition, this Agreement may contain more than one (1) counterpart of the signature 
page, and this Agreement may be executed by the affixing of the signatures of each of the signers 
to one (1) of such counterpart signature pages; all of such counterpart signature pages shall be read 
as though one (1), and shall have the same force and effect as though all of the signers had signed 
a single signature page.   
 

(Signature page follows)



13 
 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date 
first written above. 

 
CITY: 

 
CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, a Wisconsin municipal 
corporation 

 
 

By:  
 Thomas Hartz, Mayor 

 
 

Attest:  
 Lana Kropf, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 APPROVAL OF COMMON COUNCIL 
 
  This Agreement was approved by the Common Council of the City of Lake 
Geneva by Resolution dated the    day of   , 2019. 
 
 
     DEVELOPER: 

 
 McMURR II, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company 

 
 
     By:           
       Murray S. Peretz, its Manager 

 
Drafted By: 
 
James P. Howe 
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
  HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court 
Elkhorn, Wisconsin  53121 
Telephone: (262) 723-3220 
Facsimile: (262) 723-5091 
email: jhowe@godfreylaw.com 
T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\dvpt agr-34.docx 
 
 
 
 
  

mailto:jhowe@godfreylaw.com


14 
 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION – PHASE II 

 
 
PARCEL 1: THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 
36, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 17 EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WALWORTH COUNTY, 
WISCONSIN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
NO. 754, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 OF WALWORTH COUNTY CERTIFIED 
SURVEYS, SAID POINT LOCATED S 89DEG 31MIN 36SEC W, 733.28 FEET FROM THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36 (T2N, R17E); THENCE N 89DEG 38MIN 
40SEC E, 89.98 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 37MIN 23SEC E, 90.50 FEET TO THE WEST LINE 
OF LAKE GENEVA BOULEVARD; THENCE N 01DEG 34MIN 47SEC W, 348.82 FEET 
ALONG SAID BOULEVARD TO THE SOUTHWEST LINE OF WELLS STREET; THENCE N 
37DEG 55MIN 32SEC W, ALONG SAID STREET, 202.94 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 18MIN 
48SEC W, 239.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S 00DEG 41MIN 12SEC 
E, 50.00 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 55MIN 11SEC E, 134.92 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 31MIN 
07SEC W, 24.01 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 12MIN 03SEC E, 16.91 FEET; THENCE S 88DEG 
41MIN 15SEC W, 42.80 FEET; THENCE N 86DEG 27MIN 48SEC W, 126.62 FEET; THENCE 
S 88DEG 58MIN 07SEC W, 199.39 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF LAKE SHORE VILLAGE 
CONDOMINIUM; THENCE ALONG SAID CONDOMINIUM, N 00DEG 11MIN 05SEC W, 
6.62 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, N 00DEG 47MIN 32SEC W, 187.44 FEET; THENCE N 
89DEG 18MIN 48SEC E, 389.70 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 
76,247 SQUARE FEET (1.75 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR LESS (end of legal description). 

Property Index Number: ZSUM 00001 



1 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

Document Number Document Name 

 

 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made this   day of   , 2019, 
between the CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, Walworth County, Wisconsin (“City”), and McMURR II, LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company (“Developer”). 

 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the City is a Wisconsin municipal corporation, organized and existing pursuant 
to Wis. Stat. Ch. 62, with authority to enter into this Agreement under its zoning and annexation ordinances, 
as well as the general home rule authority vested in it under Wisconsin law; and 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is the owner, developer, and declarant of two (2) parcels of real 
property located in the City, one (1) more particularly described in the attached Exhibit A incorporated 
herein, approximately 1.75 acres (“Phase II”), and the other, approximately 5.00 acres to the south of Phase 
II (“Phase III”), which parcels are commonly known as the expansion areas of Phase I of Summerhaven of 
Lake Geneva Condominium, approximately 8.03 acres  (“Phase I”).  Phases II and III are zoned PD, 
Planned Development Zoning District, with an approved General Development Plan for four (4) single-
family site condominium units in Phase II, and up to twenty-three (23) single family site condominium 
units in the expansion area of Phase III  (“GDP”).  The public improvements for Phase II, i.e., the sanitary 
sewer mains and the municipal water mains, and the private Phase II infrastructure, i.e., the private storm 
water management facilities, other utilities and the private streets (to their surface course), have been 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recording Area 
Name and Return Address 

James P. Howe 
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court 
Elkhorn, Wisconsin 53121 

 
ZSUM 00001 

Parcel Identification Number (PIN) 



2 
 

partially constructed and installed by the Developer in its completion of the infrastructure of the north 
portion of Phase I; and  

 WHEREAS, the Developer is applying with the City for approval of a Declaration 
of Condominium and Plat of Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, consisting of four 
(4) single-family site condominium units encompassing Phase II, with Phase III designated as 
Expansion Area for up to 23 additional single-family units (“Condominium”); and    

 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to own and develop Phase II pursuant to a Precise 
Implementation Plan filed herewith (“Development”); and   

 WHEREAS, the Development conforms to the City’s Comprehensive Master Plan, 
because Phases II and III are planned as Two-Family/Townhouse Residential; and   

 WHEREAS, the City and the Developer desire to enter into this Agreement.   

  NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Developer enter into this Agreement on the 
date first set forth above, and agree as follows:     

 
SECTION 1 
 RESTATEMENT OF RECITALS 
 
SECTION 1.1 Recitals Incorporated.  The Recitals set forth hereinabove are restated in the 
text of this Agreement by reference as if set forth in full herein, and as such constitute agreements 
by and between the parties made part and parcel of this Agreement.  
 
SECTION 2 
 PUBLIC AND PRIVATE IMPROVEMENTS 
 
SECTION 2.1 Phasing/Staging.  The Development shall be developed in one phase.  The 
Developer will install all necessary infrastructure, including sanitary sewer, municipal water supply 
and related facilities (collectively, “Public Improvements”), as well as surface water drainage, 
private street, utilities, other private improvements and related facilities (collectively, “Private 
Improvements”), as may be necessary to serve the Development (Public Improvements and Private 
Improvements, sometimes, collectively, “Improvements”).  All Improvements shall comply with 
City and state standards, to be reviewed and approved by the City Engineer, as provided below, and 
the Public Improvements shall be dedicated and conveyed or transferred to the City pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
 
SECTION 2.2 Contractors.  The Developer shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, all labor 
and services, material, and work for the construction and completion of the Improvements.  The 
parties acknowledge and agree that the Developer may have any or all of the Improvements 
constructed and supplied by various contractors, and the City specifically agrees that this shall be 
permitted.  The City declares that the Developer may employ any such general contractor or 
subcontractors, in its own discretion and of its own choosing.  The contractors, however, shall 
appear on the City’s pre-qualification list of contractors.   
 
SECTION 2.3 Improvements’ Compliance with Plans.  The Developer will construct and 
complete, or cause to be constructed and completed, the Improvements in a thorough, workmanlike, 
and substantial manner in every respect, to the satisfaction and approval of both the City Engineer 



3 
 

and the City Council, within the times specified herein and in strict accordance with the instructions 
and information contained in this Agreement, the performance bond, and the plans and 
specifications submitted as part of the PIP and reviewed and approved by the City Engineer 
(collectively, “Plans”), all of which documents are hereby made a part of this Agreement and form 
the Agreement documents as fully as if the same were set forth at length herein.  The Developer, 
however, shall not be considered in default of any of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this 
Agreement if the Developer fails to perform any of its obligations hereunder and such failure is 
caused, in whole or in part, by any act of God, weather conditions, strikes, labor shortages, fires, 
casualties, shortages of materials, work stoppages, or other matters beyond the reasonable control 
of the Developer.  In the event that any matters set forth in this section delay the Developer’s ability 
to timely perform its obligations under this Agreement, the date upon which said obligations were 
to be completed shall be extended for a like number of days.   
 
SECTION 2.4 Required Improvements.  The following are the Improvements which will be 
required by the City.  No improvements which are not specifically contained in the Plans shall be 
required to be installed by the Developer or shall be required by the City to be installed without the 
express consent of the Developer, notwithstanding any new ordinances or any modifications to the 
ordinances or requirements of the City from time to time.   
 

a. Sanitary Sewer System.  The Developer shall construct the sanitary sewer Public 
Improvements to make adequate sanitary sewerage service available to Phase II.  
The size, type, and installation of all sanitary sewers, laterals and related facilities 
to serve the Development shall be in accordance with the Plans.  The Developer 
agrees that the City will not accept the sanitary sewer Public Improvements until 
the same have been installed in accordance with the Plans.   

 
b. Municipal Water Supply Facilities.  The Developer shall construct the municipal 

water supply Public Improvements in such a manner as to make adequate water 
service available to Phase II.  The size, type, and installation of all municipal water 
supply mains, laterals, and related facilities proposed to be constructed shall be in 
accordance with the Plans.  The Developer agrees that the City will not accept the 
municipal water supply Public Improvements until such Public Improvements 
have been installed in accordance with the Plans.    
 

c. Terminus of Murray Drive.  The Developer shall construct the binder course of 
Murray Drive to its north terminus, ending with a cul-de-sac of a size, and without 
an island, as shown in the Plans, that meets state standards for emergency vehicles.  
The developer shall install the final lift to Murray Drive and the Phase I portion of 
Summerhaven Drive within one (1) year after the completion of the construction 
of the last of the residential structures and their related improvements for Phase II.  
Prior to the installation of a final lift, the Developer shall repair all damaged road 
base and replace the surface course as required by the City Engineer.  
 

d. Wells Street Construction Entrance and Sidewalk.  Upon the completion of the 
construction of the Improvements and the single-family improvements in Phase II, 
the Developer shall properly abandon the temporary construction driveway onto 
Wells Street, including the curb cut for such entrance, and replace the damaged 
sections of sidewalk on Wells Street that are adjacent and contiguous to Phase I 



4 
 

with the same type of materials as the sections to be replaced.          
 

e. Storm Water Management System.  The Developer shall construct the storm water 
management system Private Improvements, which include catch basins and inlets, 
storm sewers, road ditches and open channels, detention/retention basins, and 
other water quality components as may be required for Phase II.  All such Private 
Improvements are to be of adequate size and grade to hydraulically accommodate 
maximum potential volumes of flow.  The type of Improvements required, the 
design criteria, and the sizes and grades shall be in accordance with the Plans.  The 
storm water management system Private Improvements shall be designed to 
present no hazard to life or property.  The size, type, and installation of all storm 
water drains and sewers proposed to be constructed shall be in accordance with 
the Plans.  In no event will the City accept the storm water management system 
Private Improvements, the maintenance of which shall be the responsibility of the 
condominium owners association for the Condominium for Phase II 
(“Association”), performed in accordance with a Storm Water Management 
Systems Maintenance Plan to be prepared by the Developer and approved by the 
City Engineer as part of the Plans.  If the Association fails to perform such 
maintenance, the City, upon advance written notice to such association, shall have 
the right of access to the storm water management system Private Improvements 
for inspection, public drainage conveyance, and repairs.  Actual costs incurred by 
the City for the repairs performed by the City or its agents shall be billed to and 
paid by the Association.  The condominium documents prepared for Phase II shall 
include provisions reflecting the foregoing authorizing the City to make repairs to 
the Private Water Management System and requiring the Association to pay the 
City for the costs of such repairs.  The provisions in the condominium documents 
reciting the foregoing shall not be amendable without the express written consent 
of the City, which may be withheld in the City’s sole discretion.   

 
f. Other Utilities.   

 
1. The Developer shall cause electrical power, natural gas, 

telephone facilities, and cable television service to be 
installed in such a manner as to make adequate service 
available to Phase II.  All electrical power, natural gas, 
telephone facilities, and cable television service shall be 
located, where practicable, in underground conduits.   

 
2. Plans indicating proposed locations of all electrical power, 

gas, and telephone distribution and transmission lines 
required to service Phase II shall be reviewed and approved 
by the City Engineer.   

 
g. Private Street Lights.  Site light and sign Private Improvements shall be installed at 

the Developer’s cost and shall conform to the Plans.  Installation shall be approved 
by the City Engineer.  Following installation and approval, such light and sign 
Improvements shall be the property of the Condominium owners, and the 
Association shall maintain the same.  

 



5 
 

h. Landscaping.  The Developer shall:   
 

1. Preserve, to the maximum extent possible, existing trees, 
shrubbery, vines, and grasses not lying in public roadway 
drainageways, building foundation sites, private driveway, 
parking lot, storm water management systems, paths, and 
trails, by use of sound conservation practices.   

 
2. Remove and lawfully dispose of all destroyed trees, brush, 

stumps, shrubs, and other natural growth and all rubbish.   
       

SECTION 3 
 DEDICATION 
 
SECTION 3.1 Dedication.  Subject to all of the other provisions of this Agreement, the 
Developer, without charge to the City, upon completion of all of the above-described Public 
Improvements, shall unconditionally give, grant, convey, and fully dedicate the same to the City, 
its successors and assigns, forever, free and clear of all encumbrances, together with, including, 
without limitation, all buildings, structures, mains, conduits, pipes, lines, and appurtenances which 
may in any way be a part of or pertain to such Public Improvements, and together with all necessary 
easements for access and maintenance thereto.  
 
SECTION 4 
 PLANS 
 
SECTION 4.1 Plans on Site.  The Developer shall keep itself supplied with the latest issues 
of all the Plans, and shall keep one (1) copy thereof at Phase II of the work, in good order and 
available to the City Engineer, or his or her inspectors, representatives, or agents. 
 
SECTION 4.2 Filing Plans.  At least two (2) complete copies of the Plans shall be filed with 
the City Clerk, together with two (2) sets of the Plans, one (1) set each in Mylar and digital format, 
of the Plans to the City Engineer and the Public Works Director, and all such copies of the Plans 
shall remain the property of the City. 
 
SECTION 4.3 City Engineer Instruction.  The City Engineer shall promptly furnish the 
Developer with such additional instructions relating to the Plans, by means of drawings, plans, or 
otherwise, as is required to proceed with the Public Improvements.  All such drawings and 
additional instructions shall be consistent with this Agreement and reasonably inferable therefrom. 
 
SECTION 4.4  Conformity with Plans.  All Improvements shall be executed in conformity 
with the Plans, including additional instructions.  The Developer shall cause no work to be 
performed without proper drawings, plans, and specifications. 
 
SECTION 4.5 Additional Plans.  If any additional plans or specifications are prepared by 
the Developer, the cost of same shall be paid for by the Developer.  If any additional plans or 
specifications are prepared by the City Engineer, the Developer shall pay to the City all costs 
incurred by the City for the preparation of said plans and specifications, which costs shall include 
engineering, legal, administrative, and all other miscellaneous costs.  The Developer shall pay to 



6 
 

the City all costs incurred by the City Engineer when he or she reviews the Plans that are prepared 
by, or at the direction of, the Developer. 
 
SECTION 4.6 As Built Drawings.  The Developer shall file with the City Engineer a 
complete set of “AS BUILT DRAWINGS,” one (1) set each in Mylar and digital format, for all of 
the Improvements under this Agreement upon the completion of Phase II.  Upon the completion of 
Phase III for Summerhaven, the Developer shall provide as built drawings of the storm water 
management system for all three (3) phases of Summerhaven to the City Engineer.  The Developer, 
in its sole discretion, may commission the City Engineer to prepare such drawings, at the 
Developer’s expense.   
 
SECTION 5 
 CONSTRUCTION AND INSPECTION 
 
SECTION 5.1 Commencement.  No construction, installation, or Improvements shall 
commence for Phase II until the Developer has made arrangements for inspection and construction 
staking, and the City Engineer has given written authorization. 
 
SECTION 5.2 Inspection.  The Developer, prior to any work within Phase II, shall make 
arrangements with the City Engineer to provide for adequate inspection during construction.  The 
City Engineer, and/or his or her inspector, shall inspect and approve all work to assure that the Plans 
comply with the laws, ordinances and regulations of the City (collectively, “Code”) and any other 
applicable governmental authority, subject to the provisions of this Agreement.  The City Engineer 
shall approve all work prior to release of the sureties. 
 
SECTION 5.3 Access.  The City Engineer, his or her inspectors, representatives, or agents, 
shall, at all times, have unrestricted access to all parts of the work and to other places where or in 
which the preparation of materials and other integral parts of the public Improvements are being 
carried on and conducted. 
 
SECTION 5.4 Assistance.   The Developer shall provide all facilities and assistance 
requested or required to carry out the work of supervision and inspection by the City Engineer, his 
or her inspectors, representatives, or agents. 
 
SECTION 5.5 Responsibilities Not Relieved.  Inspection of the Improvements by these 
authorities or their representatives shall in no manner be presumed to relieve, in any degree, the 
responsibility or obligations of the Developer or to constitute the Developer as an agent of the City. 
 
SECTION 5.6 Materials Inspection.  No material of any kind shall be used in the Public 
Improvements until it has been inspected and accepted by the City Engineer, or his or her inspector.  
All rejected materials shall be immediately removed from Phase II.  Any materials or workmanship 
found at any time to be defective shall be replaced or remedied at once, regardless of previous 
inspection.  Inspection of materials shall be promptly made and, where practicable, at the source of 
supply. 
 
SECTION 5.7 Request for Inspection.  Whenever the specifications, the instructions of the 
City Engineer, the Code, or the laws, ordinances, or regulations of any public authority require 
work to be specifically treated or approved, the Developer’s contractor shall give the City Engineer 



7 
 

timely notice of its readiness for inspection, and if the inspection is by another authority, of the date 
fixed for such inspection. 
 
SECTION 5.8 Compliance with Laws.  The Developer and every contractor or person doing 
or contracting to do any work contemplated by this Agreement shall keep itself fully informed of 
all national and state laws and the Code in any manner affecting the Improvements, and shall at all 
times observe and comply with such national and state laws and the Code regardless of whether 
such national and state laws and the Code are mentioned herein, and shall indemnify the City, its 
officers, agents, and employees, against any claim or liability arising from or based on the violation 
of any national and state laws and the Code. 
 
SECTION 5.9 Permits.  The Developer shall secure, at its own expense, all necessary 
certificates and permits from municipal or other public authorities required in connection with the 
Improvements, and shall give all notices required by law, ordinance, or regulation and the Code.  
The Developer shall pay all fees and charges incident to be due for the lawful prosecution of the 
work contemplated by this Agreement and any extra work performed by the Developer.   
 
SECTION 5.10  Engineering Fees.  The City shall require that the City Engineer provide the 
Developer with a written, detailed estimate of the anticipated cost of all engineering inspection of 
construction, construction staking, and all inspections by the City Engineer, or his or her inspector 
for Phase II, before commencement.  The Developer shall pay to the City the actual cost billed by 
the City Engineer.   
 
SECTION 6 

PROTECTION OF WORK, PROPERTY, AND PERSONS 
 
SECTION 6.1 Safety Precautions.  The Developer shall be responsible for initiating, 
maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the work on 
Phase II.  The Developer will take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and will provide the 
necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to, all employees on the work and other 
persons who may be affected thereby, all the work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated 
therein, whether in storage on or off Phase II, and other property at Phase II, or adjacent thereto, 
including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, and utilities not designated 
for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction on Phase II. 
 
SECTION 6.2 No Nuisance.  The Developer shall provide all necessary privy 
accommodations for the use of its contractors, and shall maintain the same in a clean and sanitary 
condition.  The Developer shall not create or permit any nuisance to the public or to residents in the 
vicinity of the work on Phase II. 
 
SECTION 6.3 Safety Regulation Compliance.  The Developer will comply with all 
applicable safety laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders of any public body having jurisdiction, 
and the Code.  The Developer will erect and maintain, as required by the conditions and progress 
of the work on Phase II, all necessary safeguards for safety and protection.  The Developer will 
notify owners of adjacent properties when prosecution of the work may affect them.  The Developer 
will remedy all damage, injury, or loss to any property caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in 
part, by the Developer’s contractors or any subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them be liable. 
 



8 
 

SECTION 6.4 Preventing Damage.  In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the 
work or property at Phase II, or adjacent thereto, the Developer shall immediately act to prevent 
threatened damage, injury, or loss. 
 
SECTION 7 

TIME FOR COMPLETION OF WORK; PERFORMANCE BOND 
 
SECTION 7.1 Commencement.  It is anticipated that construction of the Improvements will 
commence no later than one (1) month after the approval of the PIP for Phase II, weather permitting.  
The term of this Agreement shall expire on the tenth (10th) anniversary date of such commencement 
of construction; provided, however, that the Developer may seek extension as reasonably necessary 
to complete Phase II.   
 
SECTION 7.2 Security.  A surety bond will be filed with the City prior to construction of 
Phase II.  The procedure for the filing of the surety bond shall be as follows:  A surety bond equal 
in amount to one hundred twenty percent (120%) of the Public Improvements shall be issued by a 
financial institution acceptable to the City.  Said surety bond may be reduced from time to time by 
the value of the Public Improvements previously completed and fully paid.  The security will be 
reduced proportionately as each aspect of the construction for Phase II has been completed and paid 
for.  Should additional Public Improvements be added or the cost of the intended Public 
Improvements prove to be larger than originally anticipated, the surety bond shall be immediately 
supplemented to include any additional amounts or other estimated costs with respect to said Public 
Improvements.  To secure the Developer's warranty of the Public Improvements under subsection 
10.01(c), below, the Developer shall maintain maintenance bond in the amount of ten (10) percent 
of the cost of such Public Improvements for twelve (12) months.   
 
SECTION 7.3 Acceptance of Work.  No act of the City, of the City Engineer, or of any 
representative of either, in inspecting the Public Improvements, or any extension of time for the 
completion of such Improvements, shall be regarded as an acceptance of such Improvements or any 
part thereof, or of materials used therein, either wholly or in part.  Acceptance shall be evidenced 
only by the final certificate of the City Engineer.  No waiver of any breach of this Agreement by 
the City or anyone acting on its behalf shall be held as a waiver of any other subsequent breach 
thereof.  Any remedy provided herein shall be taken and construed as cumulative.   

 
SECTION 7.4 Breach, Completion.  In the event the Developer fails to complete the Public 
Improvements within the specified time, commits a material breach of any of the other covenants 
hereunder, or if the Developer becomes insolvent, or is declared bankrupt, or commits any act of 
bankruptcy or insolvency, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or from any other 
cause whatsoever, does not carry on the Public Improvements in an acceptable manner, the City 
shall give notice in writing to the Developer and its surety of such delay, neglect, or default, 
specifying the same, and if the Developer, within a period of ten (10) days after such notice, does 
not proceed in accordance therewith, subject to the provisions of Section 2.3 hereof, then the City 
shall, upon written certificate from the City Engineer of the fact of such delay, neglect, or default, 
and the Developer’s failure to comply with such notice, have full power and authority to call upon 
the surety or complete the work in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; or the City may 
take over the Public Improvements, including any or all materials and equipment on the ground as 
may be suitable and acceptable, and may complete the Public Improvements by or on its own 
account, or may enter into a new agreement with another party for the completion of the Public 
Improvements, according to the terms and provisions hereof, or use such other methods as, in its 



9 
 

opinion, shall be required for such completion of in an acceptable manner.  All costs and charges 
incurred by the City, together with the cost of completing the Public Improvements, shall be charged 
to the Developer, and the Developer and its surety shall be liable therefor.   
 
SECTION 8 

RISK OF LOSS 
 
SECTION 8.1 Risk of Loss.  The risk of loss or damage of any kind whatsoever to materials 
stored on Phase II, and the risk of damage or destruction to Phase II or any part thereof, at any time 
prior to the completion and acceptance of the Public Improvements to be performed under this 
Agreement, is assumed by the Developer.   
 
SECTION 9 

DEVELOPER’S INSURANCE 
 
SECTION 9.1 Insurance. The Developer shall not commence, or cause to be commenced, 
work under this Agreement until it has obtained all insurance required under this subsection, and 
such insurance has been approved by the City; nor shall the Developer allow any contractor or 
subcontractor to commence such Improvements until all such insurance required of the Developer 
has been so obtained and approved. 
 
SECTION 9.2 Worker’s Compensation Insurance.  The Developer shall take out and 
maintain during the life of this Agreement, Worker’s Compensation Insurance for all of its 
employees employed at Phase II, and in case any work is sublet, the Developer shall require all 
contractors and subcontractors to similarly provide Worker’s Compensation Insurance for all of 
their employees, unless such employees are covered by the protection afforded by the Developer.  
In case any class of employees at Phase II are engaged in hazardous work under this Agreement, 
but are not protected under the Worker’s Compensation Statute, the Developer shall provide, and 
shall cause such contractor and subcontractor to provide, Employer’s Liability Insurance for the 
protection of any employees not otherwise protected. 
 
SECTION 9.3 Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance.  The Developer shall take 
out and maintain during the life of this Agreement such public liability and property damage 
insurance as shall protect the Developer and any contractor or subcontractor performing work 
covered by this Agreement from claims for damages for personal injury, including accidental death, 
as well as from claims for property damages, which may arise from operations under this 
Agreement, whether such operations be by itself or by any contractor or subcontractor, or by anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and the amount of such insurance shall be as 
follows:  Public liability insurance in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) 
for injuries, including accidental death, to any one (1) person, and subject to the same limit for each 
person in an amount not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) on account of one (1) 
accident, and property damage insurance in an amount of not less than Five Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($500,000.00). 
 
SECTION 9.4  Contractor Insurance.  The Developer shall require each and every contractor 
and subcontractor to obtain and maintain similar policies with the same limits stipulated above, 
including contractor’s contingent or protective insurance, if necessary to protect the Developer from 
damage claims arising from operations under this Agreement. 
 



10 
 

SECTION 9.5 Insurance Covering Special Hazards.  The following special hazards shall be 
covered by rider or riders to the public liability and/or property damage insurance policy or policies 
herein before required to be furnished by the Developer, or by separate policies of insurance, in 
amounts not less than Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000.00) to cover injury to 
underground structures such as wires, conduits, pipes and sewers, and explosions of any kind, 
including blasting, and public liability insurance of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($250,000.00)/Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00), with property damage not less than 
One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) for each and every truck or other motor vehicle used 
in hauling materials to or from Phase II. 
 
SECTION 9.6 Proof of Carriage of Insurance. Prior to commencement of work hereunder, 
the Developer shall furnish to, and obtain approval from the City Administrator, of certificates of 
insurance relating to all coverages required hereby and herein.  
 
SECTION 9.7 Cancellation of Insurance. Each policy shall provide that it is non-
cancellable for a period of thirty (30) days following written notice of intention to cancel given by 
the insurance carrier via certified mail. 
 
SECTION 9.8 Endorsements. The Developer will secure a contractual endorsement 
covering the hold harmless and indemnity agreements contained in Section 10 hereof.  
 
SECTION 10 

HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENT 
 
SECTION 10.1 Indemnity. The Developer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, 
its agents and employees, from any and all claims of all persons, entities, or the like for damages of 
any kind relating to injury, death, or property damage arising directly or indirectly out of the work 
performed or to be performed under this Agreement, including extra work, by reason of negligent 
or wrongful conduct in whole or in part on the part of: 
 

a. The Developer, or any of its servants, employees, personnel, agents, 
representatives, contractors, or subcontractors, or the agents of said 
respective parties, or persons performing any work under this 
Agreement or in connection with any work performed under this 
Agreement. 

 
b. The City, or any of its officers, supervisors, officials, agents, 

servants, employees or personnel, or independent contractors 
(collectively, “Agents”) for which the City is responsible for any 
liability, except this provision shall not apply to negligent acts or 
omissions or wrongful conduct by the City or its Agents with respect 
to the design or inspection of the work performed by the City or any 
of its Agents, as provided in this Agreement.   

 
c. The Developer hereby warrants that all Improvements required 

herein will utilize good quality materials and workmanship.  The 
Developer further agrees to warrant all Public Improvements against 
all defects in material or workmanship for a period of one (1) year 
from the date of the acceptance of the public dedication thereof. 



11 
 

 
SECTION 10.2  Defense.  The Developer agrees to assume the defense of any action filed to 
which this hold harmless agreement applies, and to pay all costs and attorney fees incurred in 
connection therewith, and to pay any final judgments entered in an action to which this hold 
harmless agreement and indemnification agreement applies. 
 
SECTION 10.3  Immunity Not Affect. This indemnity and hold harmless agreement shall be 
applicable regardless of any provision of immunity provided for by law. 
 
SECTION 10.4  Certificate of Insurance. The Developer further agrees that prior to 
commencement of the public or private Improvements under this Agreement, it will deposit with 
the City Administrator certificates of insurance relating to the foregoing, together with a contractual 
indemnity endorsement relating to this hold harmless agreement. 
 
SECTION 11 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
SECTION 11.1  Complete Agreement, Amendment. There are no representations, covenants, 
warranties, promises, agreements, conditions, or undertakings, oral or written, between the City and 
the Developer, other than as set forth herein, which is to be read and interpreted in conjunction with 
this Agreement as to the subject matter hereof.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no 
subsequent alteration, amendment, change, or addition to this Agreement shall be binding upon 
either party unless made in writing by the City Council and the Developer, and signed by them. 
 
SECTION 11.2  Conflicts with Codes and Ordinances of the City.  Whenever the terms or 
provisions of this Agreement or any exhibits hereto conflict with the terms and provisions of any 
codes or ordinances of the City, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and 
control. 
 
SECTION 11.3  Cooperation with Permits, Easements.  The City shall cooperate with the 
Developer in the Developer’s endeavors to obtain required permits and approvals from all other 
governmental or quasi-governmental agencies or boards, whether federal, state, or local, with 
jurisdiction over any aspect or part of Phase II, which support and assistance shall also extend to 
any public and private utility companies.  The City shall also cooperate with the Developer in 
obtaining all necessary easements and shall grant the Developer access to all City owned rights-of-
way to enable the Developer’s provision of sanitary sewer, municipal water service, and electrical 
service to Phase II, in accordance with the Plans.  City shall process any applications and shall issue 
such permits within the following time periods after application of such permits are made:  Building 
Permits – 10 days; Occupancy Permits – 10 days. 
  
SECTION 11.4  Assessment Pending Development.  If allowed by law, Phase II shall be 
assessed as improved property in only those portions that have been actually improved and 
developed by the Developer.  The remainder of Phase II not so improved or developed shall be 
assessed as it is actually used.  If the provisions of this subsection should conflict with any future 
change in present state law relating to appropriate methods of assessment, then the provisions of 
said changed state law shall prevail.   
 
SECTION 11.5  Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement conflicts with 
applicable state or federal law, such conflict shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement 



12 
 

which can be given effect without the conflicting provision, and, to this end, the provisions of this 
Agreement are declared to be severable and the invalidity or partial invalidity or unenforceability 
of any one (1) provision or portion hereof shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the 
remaining portions of said provision or any other provisions of this Agreement.   
 
SECTION 11.6 City Not Partner. The City does not, in any way or for any purpose, become 
a partner, employer, principal, agent, or joint venturer of or with the Developer.   
 
SECTION 11.7 Captions.  This Agreement shall be construed without reference to titles of 
any sections or subsections hereof, which are inserted only for convenience.   
 
SECTION 11.8 Binding Agreement, Assignment. This Agreement, and all of the terms, 
covenants, and conditions hereof and of the various instruments executed and delivered pursuant 
hereto, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors 
and assigns.  The Developer shall be permitted to assign any and all of its rights hereunder; 
provided, however, the City shall be notified, in writing, of any such assignment within thirty (30) 
days before the effective date of such assignment, and such written notice shall include the name, 
address, and telephone number of the assignee; and, provided further, that such assignment shall 
not be effective unless and until the assignee satisfies the City that it may succeed to the surety 
bond as provided under this Agreement, in such manner and form acceptable to the City Attorney, 
or assignee provides a new surety bond acceptable to the City.   
 
SECTION 11.9 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the 
State of Wisconsin.   
 
SECTION 11.10 Counterpart Execution. This Agreement, and all other documents or 
instruments that may be required by this Agreement, may be executed in several counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one (1) and the same 
instrument.  In addition, this Agreement may contain more than one (1) counterpart of the signature 
page, and this Agreement may be executed by the affixing of the signatures of each of the signers 
to one (1) of such counterpart signature pages; all of such counterpart signature pages shall be read 
as though one (1), and shall have the same force and effect as though all of the signers had signed 
a single signature page.   
 

(Signature page follows)



13 
 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date 
first written above. 

 
CITY: 

 
CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, a Wisconsin municipal 
corporation 

 
 

By:  
 Thomas Hartz, Mayor 

 
 

Attest:  
 Lana Kropf, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 APPROVAL OF COMMON COUNCIL 
 
  This Agreement was approved by the Common Council of the City of Lake 
Geneva by Resolution dated the    day of   , 2019. 
 
 
     DEVELOPER: 

 
 McMURR II, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company 

 
 
     By:           
       Murray S. Peretz, its Manager 

 
Drafted By: 
 
James P. Howe 
GODFREY, LEIBSLE, BLACKBOURN & 
  HOWARTH, S.C. 
354 Seymour Court 
Elkhorn, Wisconsin  53121 
Telephone: (262) 723-3220 
Facsimile: (262) 723-5091 
email: jhowe@godfreylaw.com 
T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2018 phase 2\off copy\PD-P 2 & 3\off copy\dvpt agr-4.docx 
 
 
  

mailto:jhowe@godfreylaw.com


14 
 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION – PHASE II 

 
 
PARCEL 1: THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 
36, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 17 EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WALWORTH COUNTY, 
WISCONSIN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
NO. 754, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 OF WALWORTH COUNTY CERTIFIED 
SURVEYS, SAID POINT LOCATED S 89DEG 31MIN 36SEC W, 733.28 FEET FROM THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36 (T2N, R17E); THENCE N 89DEG 38MIN 
40SEC E, 89.98 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 37MIN 23SEC E, 90.50 FEET TO THE WEST LINE 
OF LAKE GENEVA BOULEVARD; THENCE N 01DEG 34MIN 47SEC W, 348.82 FEET 
ALONG SAID BOULEVARD TO THE SOUTHWEST LINE OF WELLS STREET; THENCE N 
37DEG 55MIN 32SEC W, ALONG SAID STREET, 202.94 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 18MIN 
48SEC W, 239.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S 00DEG 41MIN 12SEC 
E, 50.00 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 55MIN 11SEC E, 134.92 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 31MIN 
07SEC W, 24.01 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 12MIN 03SEC E, 16.91 FEET; THENCE S 88DEG 
41MIN 15SEC W, 42.80 FEET; THENCE N 86DEG 27MIN 48SEC W, 126.62 FEET; THENCE 
S 88DEG 58MIN 07SEC W, 199.39 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF LAKE SHORE VILLAGE 
CONDOMINIUM; THENCE ALONG SAID CONDOMINIUM, N 00DEG 11MIN 05SEC W, 
6.62 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, N 00DEG 47MIN 32SEC W, 187.44 FEET; THENCE N 
89DEG 18MIN 48SEC E, 389.70 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 
76,247 SQUARE FEET (1.75 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR LESS (end of legal description). 

Property Index Number: ZSUM 00001 



                           2/1/19 - 2/15/19

Total:
$37,542.61

Checks over $5,000:
17,212.14$        Alliant Energy
7,220.27$          WE Energies

City of Lake Geneva
Finance, License, & Regulation Committee

February 19, 2019

              Prepaid Checks



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Check Register - Prepaid Check Register Report Page:     1

Check Issue Dates: 2/1/2019 - 2/16/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:28AM

Report Criteria:

Report type:  Summary

[Report].Check Issue Date = 02/06/2019,02/13/2019

Check.Type = {<>} "Adjustment"

Check Issue Date Check Number Vendor Number Payee Amount

02/06/2019 69656 2046 ALLIANT ENERGY 17,212.14

02/06/2019 69657 2670 HOME DEPOT CREDIT 46.04

02/06/2019 69658 2630 LUKE HANSEN 36.00

02/06/2019 69659 5386 MCNEIL, KYLE 33.00

02/06/2019 69660 2662 SEAN HINZPETER 36.00

02/06/2019 69661 2547 SHANNON GEE 33.00

02/06/2019 69662 5387 SHEPPARD, MORGAN 154.28

02/06/2019 69663 5326 STEPHANIE LYNN LAKE GENEVA LLC 2,666.00

02/06/2019 69664 4944 TRACTOR SUPPLY CREDIT PLAN 323.59

02/06/2019 69665 5239 WALMART COMMUNITY 35.72

02/06/2019 69666 5239 WALMART COMMUNITY 22.39

02/13/2019 69818 2046 ALLIANT ENERGY 1,586.21

02/13/2019 69819 2273 CHASE CARD SERVICES 4,405.41

02/13/2019 69820 5242 ELDER, NAN 465.45

02/13/2019 69821 2977 MIDWEST TAPE 240.63

02/13/2019 69822 5385 SAM BORGHGRAEF 31.97

02/13/2019 69823 4918 TIME WARNER CABLE 74.98

02/13/2019 69824 4973 US BANK 1,218.59

02/13/2019 69825 4975 US CELLULAR 522.66

02/13/2019 69826 5001 VERIZON WIRELESS 538.28

02/13/2019 69827 5071 WE ENERGIES 7,220.27

02/13/2019 69828 5394 KLEIN, GAIL 580.00

02/13/2019 69829 5034 WALWORTH CO REGISTER OF DEEDS 60.00

          Grand Totals:  37,542.61

Summary by General Ledger Account Number

GL Account Debit Credit Proof

11-00-00-21100 .00 27,639.49- 27,639.49-

11-10-00-53160 60.00 .00 60.00

11-14-20-53100 168.23 .00 168.23

11-14-20-53240 940.00 .00 940.00

11-14-30-53320 300.00 .00 300.00

11-15-10-53100 26.10 .00 26.10

11-16-10-52210 293.89 .00 293.89

11-16-10-52220 2,666.63 .00 2,666.63

11-16-10-52240 1,714.13 .00 1,714.13

11-21-00-53310 138.00 .00 138.00

11-21-00-53420 167.05 .00 167.05

11-21-00-53800 94.36 .00 94.36

11-21-00-54100 50.00 .00 50.00

11-22-00-52210 613.26 .00 613.26

11-22-00-52220 1,310.30 .00 1,310.30

11-22-00-52240 939.54 .00 939.54

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Check Register - Prepaid Check Register Report Page:     2

Check Issue Dates: 2/1/2019 - 2/16/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:28AM

GL Account Debit Credit Proof

11-22-00-53400 1,519.91 .00 1,519.91

11-22-00-54100 63.61 .00 63.61

11-22-00-54120 362.32 .00 362.32

11-22-00-58100 2.48 .00 2.48

11-24-00-52620 11.50 .00 11.50

11-24-00-53100 183.59 .00 183.59

11-29-00-52220 55.45 .00 55.45

11-32-10-52210 78.25 .00 78.25

11-32-10-52240 2,015.31 .00 2,015.31

11-32-10-53400 166.48 .00 166.48

11-32-10-53500 33.84 .00 33.84

11-34-10-52220 326.50 .00 326.50

11-34-10-52230 8,849.61 .00 8,849.61

11-51-10-52220 709.97 .00 709.97

11-51-10-52240 942.00 .00 942.00

11-52-00-52220 698.27 .00 698.27

11-52-00-53520 416.40 .00 416.40

11-52-00-59220 304.06 .00 304.06

11-52-01-52220 637.37 .00 637.37

11-52-01-52240 96.63 .00 96.63

11-70-00-57200 684.45 .00 684.45

40-00-00-21100 .00 3,285.03- 3,285.03-

40-54-10-52210 11.50 .00 11.50

40-55-10-52210 11.50 .00 11.50

40-55-10-52240 976.45 .00 976.45

40-55-10-53160 37.00 .00 37.00

40-55-20-53500 31.97 .00 31.97

40-55-30-52220 2,216.61 .00 2,216.61

42-00-00-21100 .00 631.77- 631.77-

42-34-50-52210 104.52 .00 104.52

42-34-50-52500 6.00 .00 6.00

42-34-50-53320 521.25 .00 521.25

43-00-00-21100 .00 465.45- 465.45-

43-40-00-17010 465.45 .00 465.45

47-00-00-21100 .00 2,666.00- 2,666.00-

47-70-00-57155 2,666.00 .00 2,666.00

48-00-00-21100 .00 520.51- 520.51-

48-00-00-52210 11.50 .00 11.50

48-00-00-52220 313.61 .00 313.61

48-00-00-52240 159.68 .00 159.68

48-00-00-53410 18.55 .00 18.55

48-00-00-53990 17.17 .00 17.17

50-00-00-21100 183.42 1,090.60- 907.18-

50-21-00-58000 1,090.60 183.42- 907.18

99-00-00-21100 .00 1,427.18- 1,427.18-

99-00-00-52220 1,086.50 .00 1,086.50

99-00-00-53120 50.00 .00 50.00

99-00-00-53320 49.00 .00 49.00

99-00-00-54110 214.39 .00 214.39

99-00-00-54140 26.24 .00 26.24

99-00-00-55150 1.05 .00 1.05

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Check Register - Prepaid Check Register Report Page:     3

Check Issue Dates: 2/1/2019 - 2/16/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:28AM

GL Account Debit Credit Proof

          Grand Totals:  37,909.45 37,909.45- .00

           Dated: ______________________________________________________

           Mayor: ______________________________________________________

  City Council: ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

City Recorder: _____________________________________________________

Report Criteria:

Report type:  Summary

[Report].Check Issue Date = 02/06/2019,02/13/2019

Check.Type = {<>} "Adjustment"

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check



Fund #
 1.   General Fund 11 86,961.34$            

 2.    Debt Service 20 -$                      

 3.   TID #4 34 -$                      

 4.   Lakefront 40 5,573.06$              

 5.   Capital Projects 43,52 392.00$                 

 6.   Parking 42 760.36$                 

 7.   Cemetery 48,49 118.93$                 

 8.   Equipment Replacement 50 269,345.00$          

 9.   Library Fund 99 -$                      

10.  Impact Fees 45 6,539.00$              

11. Tourism Commission 47 25,000.00$            

12.  Use of Building Funds-Library 98 -$                      

Total All Funds $394,689.69

Utility DOT Consortium Fee $30.00

City of Lake Geneva
Finance, License, & Regulation Committee

February 19, 2019

Accounts Payable 



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE UNPAID ITEMS OVER $5,000

FINANCE, LICENSE, & REGULATION COMMITTEE
2/19/2019

394,689.69$       

ITEMS > $5,000

RNOW, Inc - DPW Sweeper Truck 253,045.00$       
Johns Disposal - February Refuse & Recycling Service 41,659.20$         
Lake Geneva Convention & Visitors Bureau - 1st Quarter Payment 25,000.00$         
Capital Equipment & Handling - DPW Forklift 16,300.00$         
Lake Geneva Utility Commission - Impact Fees 6,539.00$           
Lakeside International - Truck #27 Repairs 6,209.21$           
State of Wisconsin - January Court Fines 5,108.74$           
Geneva Lake Environmental Agency - February Payment 5,000.00$           

-$                   
-$                   
-$                   
-$                   

Balance of Other Items 35,828.54$         

TOTAL UNPAID ACCOUNTS PAYABLE



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     1

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0.00 included.

Only unpaid invoices included.

Invoice.Batch = "190225","190226","181231D","181231E"

Invoice.Payment due date = 02/26/2019

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

ALL OUT TRUCKING LLC

INV1157 01/31/2019 SNOW REMOVAL-1/21,1/25,1/29 11-32-12-52200  CONTRACT HAULING SERVICES 4,972.00

          Total ALL OUT TRUCKING LLC: 4,972.00

ANAGNOS PROPERTIES INC

2/12/19 02/12/2019 REF PLAN COMM APP 11-24-00-44400  ZONING PERMITS & FEES 400.00

          Total ANAGNOS PROPERTIES INC: 400.00

ARROW PEST CONTROL INC

77753 01/24/2019 PEST CONTROL-JAN 11-16-10-53600  CITY HALL MAINT SERVICE COSTS 55.00

          Total ARROW PEST CONTROL INC: 55.00

AURORA HEALTH CARE

1053410 01/20/2019 DOT CONSORTIUM FEE 61-00-00-92600  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 15.00

1053410 01/20/2019 DOT CONSORTIUM FEE 62-00-00-92600  EMPLOYEE PENSIONS & BENEFITS 15.00

1053410 01/20/2019 DOT CONSORTIUM FEE 11-32-10-52050  DRUG AND MEDICAL TESTING 30.00

          Total AURORA HEALTH CARE: 60.00

BEAR GRAPHICS

815424 01/30/2019 INNER ABSENTEE ENVELOPE 11-14-30-53110  BALLOTS/OTHER ELECTION EXPENSE 165.38

815425 01/30/2019 OUTER ABSENTEE ENVELOPE 11-14-30-53110  BALLOTS/OTHER ELECTION EXPENSE 351.57

815647 01/31/2019 VOTER# SLIPS-2019 11-14-30-53110  BALLOTS/OTHER ELECTION EXPENSE 206.10

          Total BEAR GRAPHICS: 723.05

BOTTS WELDING & TRK SERV INC

643088 01/31/2019 BRAKE CHAMBER-#25 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 133.34

          Total BOTTS WELDING & TRK SERV INC: 133.34

BRUCE EQUIPMENT INC

P09644 02/11/2019 SNOW BLOWER/LOADER CABL 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 3,436.13

          Total BRUCE EQUIPMENT INC: 3,436.13

BUMPER TO BUMPER AUTO PARTS

662-402737 01/30/2019 2WAY ANTENNA 11-32-12-52500  SNOW & ICE CONTROL-REPAIRS 6.09

662-402821 01/31/2019 BRAKE ROTOR 48-00-00-53510  CEM VEHICLE MAINT/REPAIR 118.93

662-402846 02/01/2019 WHEEL NUTS-SKIDSTEER 11-32-12-52500  SNOW & ICE CONTROL-REPAIRS 5.70

662-403003 02/04/2019 MINI LAMP-BOBCAT 11-32-10-53510  VEHICLE/EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 8.39

662-403075 02/05/2019 OIL,FILTER-GENERATOR 11-32-10-53500  BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES-STR DEPT 34.57

          Total BUMPER TO BUMPER AUTO PARTS: 173.68

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT & HANDLING INC

02E4026100 01/30/2019 FORKLIFT 50-32-00-58000  DPW EQUIPMENT PURCHASES 16,300.00



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     2

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

          Total CAPITAL EQUIPMENT & HANDLING INC: 16,300.00

CINTAS CORP

5012930689 02/11/2019 1ST AID KIT REFILL 11-32-10-53900  FIRST AID AND SAFETY SUPPLIES 43.94

          Total CINTAS CORP: 43.94

DENISE GALGANO

REFUND-GAL 02/05/2019 GOVPAY REFUND-WRONG PLC  11-00-00-46900  MISCELLANEOUS SALES 30.00

          Total DENISE GALGANO: 30.00

DUNN LUMBER & TRUE VALUE

749293 02/01/2019 ICE SCOOP,BATTERIES 40-55-20-53500  BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES-LOWER RIV 57.37

749298 02/01/2019 NUTS/BOLTS 11-32-10-53400  OPERATING SUPPLIES-STREET DEPT 42.52

749458 02/04/2019 GRINDING WHEEL 11-32-10-53400  OPERATING SUPPLIES-STREET DEPT 49.90

749493 02/04/2019 BATTERIES 11-32-10-53500  BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES-STR DEPT 12.99

749979 02/08/2019 KEYS-FLAG POLE 11-16-10-53500  CITY HALL BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES 3.98

750084 02/11/2019 NUTS,BOLTS-SKIDDER PLOW 11-32-12-52500  SNOW & ICE CONTROL-REPAIRS 26.92

K49663 02/05/2019 DRILL BIT 11-32-10-53400  OPERATING SUPPLIES-STREET DEPT 4.59

K49671 02/05/2019 VAC CORD TIRE TUBE PLUG 11-16-10-53500  CITY HALL BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES 9.98

          Total DUNN LUMBER & TRUE VALUE: 208.25

ELKHORN NAPA AUTO PARTS

142459 01/15/2019 RETURN FILTERS 11-32-10-53510  VEHICLE/EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 447.25-

144150 01/30/2019 DIESEL ANTI-GEL 11-32-12-53400  OPERATING SUPPLIES-SNOW & ICE 181.44

144897 02/05/2019 OIL,FUEL FILTERS 11-32-10-53510  VEHICLE/EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 46.63

144900 02/05/2019 OIL DRY,HYD/STARTER/WASH 11-32-10-53510  VEHICLE/EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 534.96

145683 02/13/2019 BELT-TRK#16 11-32-10-53510  VEHICLE/EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 34.50

          Total ELKHORN NAPA AUTO PARTS: 350.28

GENEVA LAKE ENVIRONMENTAL AGCY

FEB 2019 02/01/2019 FEBRUARY PAYMENT 40-54-10-57300  GLAKE ENVIRONMENTAL AGENCY 5,000.00

          Total GENEVA LAKE ENVIRONMENTAL AGCY: 5,000.00

GENEVA ONLINE INC

1076998 02/01/2019 EMAIL SVC-FEB 11-12-00-52210  MUNICIPAL CT TELEPHONE 2.00

          Total GENEVA ONLINE INC: 2.00

HE STARK AGENCY INC

6089-PARK 1/3 01/31/2019 COLLECTION FEES-JAN 42-34-50-52160  LUKE CC AND COLLECTION FEES 719.17

          Total HE STARK AGENCY INC: 719.17

ITU ABSORB TECH INC

7181011 02/08/2019 MATS 11-16-10-53600  CITY HALL MAINT SERVICE COSTS 98.52

          Total ITU ABSORB TECH INC: 98.52

IWORQ SYSTEMS

161269 02/01/2019 IWORQ SUPPORT-3/2019-2/202 11-24-00-54500  COMPUTER IT SVC & EQUIPMENT 4,000.00



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     3

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

          Total IWORQ SYSTEMS: 4,000.00

JERRY WILLKOMM INC

245666 01/17/2019 1400 GALS GAS 11-32-10-53410  VEHICLE-FUEL & OIL 2,700.60

          Total JERRY WILLKOMM INC: 2,700.60

JOHN FABICK TRACTOR CO

C 174089 01/29/2019 MIRRORS-BACKHOE 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 255.82

C 176312 01/30/2019 FENDER RPR-BACKHOE 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 226.05

          Total JOHN FABICK TRACTOR CO: 481.87

JOHNS DISPOSAL SERVICE INC

255471 02/05/2019 FEB SVC 11-36-00-52940  SOLID WASTE-RESIDENTIAL 28,670.40

255471 02/05/2019 FEB SVC 11-36-00-52970  SOLID WASTE-RECYCLING 12,988.80

          Total JOHNS DISPOSAL SERVICE INC: 41,659.20

KAESTNER AUTO ELECTRIC CO

324545 02/05/2019 LED LIGHT-TRK#22 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 269.00

          Total KAESTNER AUTO ELECTRIC CO: 269.00

KAPUR & ASSOCIATES INC

96728 01/15/2019 ENG-2018 STREET PROGRAM 43-32-10-17010  2018/2019 STREET IMP PROGRAM 152.00

          Total KAPUR & ASSOCIATES INC: 152.00

KROPF, ERIC

1 02/08/2019 INPUT KIOSK-RIV RENO 43-40-00-17010  RIVIERA RENOVATION 240.00

          Total KROPF, ERIC: 240.00

LAKE GENEVA CONVENTION

1ST QTR 2019 02/01/2019 1ST QTR 2019 PAYMENT 47-00-00-57100  HOTEL/MOTEL ASSN-CHAM OF COMM 25,000.00

          Total LAKE GENEVA CONVENTION: 25,000.00

LAKE GENEVA REGIONAL NEWS

1280277 01/10/2019 LN-333 CENTER ST GDP 11-10-00-53150  PUBLICATION FEES REIMBURSABLE 51.06

1280278 01/10/2019 LN-727 GENEVA ST PIP 11-10-00-53150  PUBLICATION FEES REIMBURSABLE 53.50

1280281 01/10/2019 LN-333 CENTER ST PIP 11-10-00-53150  PUBLICATION FEES REIMBURSABLE 52.28

1280553 01/10/2019 LN-831 WRIGLEY DR PIP 11-10-00-53150  PUBLICATION FEES REIMBURSABLE 49.85

1280677 01/10/2019 LN-9/24/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 189.97

1280682 01/10/2019 LN-10/22/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 209.07

1280685 01/10/2019 LN-11/26/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 230.90

1280689 01/10/2019 LN-11/2/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 50.12

1280690 01/10/2019 LN-10/29/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 52.53

1280693 01/10/2019 LN-12/10/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 199.52

1280698 01/10/2019 LN-10/8/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 210.44

1280702 01/10/2019 LN-11/12/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 280.02

1280707 01/10/2019 LN-12/26/18 COUNCIL MIN 11-10-00-53140  OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS & NOTICE 250.69

1280716 01/31/2019 2019 BRIDAL EXPO 40-55-10-53160  PUBLICATIONS & PROMOTIONS 233.78



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     4

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

          Total LAKE GENEVA REGIONAL NEWS: 2,113.73

LAKE GENEVA UTILITY

300 CADENCE  01/28/2019 300 CADENCE CIR 45-00-00-24520  WATER IMPACT FEES 1,690.00

300 CADENCE  01/28/2019 300 CADENCE CIR 45-00-00-24530  SEWER IMPACT FEES 1,865.00

905 BAYVIEW  01/04/2019 905 BAYVIEW DR 45-00-00-24530  SEWER IMPACT FEES 2,984.00

          Total LAKE GENEVA UTILITY: 6,539.00

LAKESIDE INTERNATIONAL LLC

2045329 11/30/2018 REPAIRS-TRK#27 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 6,209.21

          Total LAKESIDE INTERNATIONAL LLC: 6,209.21

LASER ELECTRIC SUPPLY

1467411-00 01/26/2019 MOTION SWITCH 40-55-20-53500  BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES-LOWER RIV 25.34

          Total LASER ELECTRIC SUPPLY: 25.34

LEVEQUE TRUCKING & SERVICES

1059 02/11/2019 SNOW REMOVAL-1/21,1/25 11-32-12-52200  CONTRACT HAULING SERVICES 1,144.00

          Total LEVEQUE TRUCKING & SERVICES: 1,144.00

MARLIN PRINTING & GRAPHICS

503740 02/01/2019 WINDOW ENVELOPES 11-14-30-53100  CITY CLERK OFFICE SUPPLIES 82.38

503740 02/01/2019 WINDOW ENVELOPES 11-15-10-53100  ACCTG OFFICE SUPPLIES 82.38

503740 02/01/2019 WINDOW ENVELOPES 11-24-00-53100  BLDG INSPECTOR OFFICE SUPPLIES 41.19

503740 02/01/2019 WINDOW ENVELOPES 42-34-50-53100  OFFICE SUPPLIES 41.19

          Total MARLIN PRINTING & GRAPHICS: 247.14

MIDSTATE EQUIPMENT

D45817 01/31/2019 SKID STEER PLOW-BC #11 11-32-12-52500  SNOW & ICE CONTROL-REPAIRS 405.19

D45965 02/04/2019 HYDRAULIC HOSE,FITTINGS-B 11-32-12-53510  EQUIP MAINT SUPPL-SNOW & ICE 10.03

D46058 02/05/2019 HYD FITTING-#11 11-32-10-52500  ST DEPT EQUIPMENT REPAIRS 270.04

          Total MIDSTATE EQUIPMENT: 685.26

MIDWEST DOOR COMPANY

2938 01/28/2019 DOOR SEAL-1070 CAREY 11-32-10-53600  ST DEPT BLDG MAINT SERV COSTS 180.00

          Total MIDWEST DOOR COMPANY: 180.00

OFFICE DEPOT

260532689001 01/16/2019 FILES/PENS 11-12-00-53100  MUNICIPAL CT OFFICE SUPPLIES 136.70

265381638001 01/25/2019 LAMINATING POUCH 11-14-30-53100  CITY CLERK OFFICE SUPPLIES 22.01

265381638001 01/25/2019 LABELS 11-15-10-53100  ACCTG OFFICE SUPPLIES 7.00

265381638001 01/25/2019 MARKERS 11-24-00-53100  BLDG INSPECTOR OFFICE SUPPLIES 4.10

265381928001 01/30/2019 LETTER OPENER 11-15-10-53100  ACCTG OFFICE SUPPLIES 1.49

          Total OFFICE DEPOT: 171.30

OFFICE PRO INC

0333819-001 01/29/2019 SOAP 40-55-20-53500  BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES-LOWER RIV 138.81

0334551-001 02/05/2019 TP DISPENSER 40-55-20-53500  BLDG MAINT SUPPLIES-LOWER RIV 117.76



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     5

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

          Total OFFICE PRO INC: 256.57

PAL STEEL COMPANY INC

60225 02/05/2019 STEEL-PLOW#11 11-32-12-52500  SNOW & ICE CONTROL-REPAIRS 433.40

          Total PAL STEEL COMPANY INC: 433.40

RC ELECTRONICS

645047 02/07/2019 RADIO REPAIRS-GARBAGE/PL 11-32-10-52620  ST DEPT COMM SYSTEM MAINT FEES 210.00

          Total RC ELECTRONICS: 210.00

RHYME BUSINESS PRODUCTS

24169339 01/30/2019 TASKALFA 3011I-FEB 11-24-00-53100  BLDG INSPECTOR OFFICE SUPPLIES 157.89

AR277999 01/29/2019 M3550IDN-FEB 11-12-00-53610  EQUIPMENT MAINT SERVICE COSTS 22.00

AR278001 01/29/2019 SHARP-JAN COLOR 11-16-10-55310  CH OFFICE EQUIPMENT CONTRACTS 117.52

AR278001 01/29/2019 SHARP-JAN B&W 11-16-10-55310  CH OFFICE EQUIPMENT CONTRACTS 21.16

          Total RHYME BUSINESS PRODUCTS: 318.57

RNOW INC

2019-55125 02/05/2019 SWEEPER TRUCK 50-32-00-58000  DPW EQUIPMENT PURCHASES 253,045.00

          Total RNOW INC: 253,045.00

ROTE OIL COMPANY

1903700203 02/06/2019 357.6 GALS CLEAR DIESEL 11-32-10-53410  VEHICLE-FUEL & OIL 879.34

1903700204 02/06/2019 97.5 GALS DYED DIESEL 11-32-10-53410  VEHICLE-FUEL & OIL 209.54

1903900809 02/08/2019 198.4 GAL CLEAR DIESEL 11-32-10-53410  VEHICLE-FUEL & OIL 487.87

1903900810 02/08/2019 90.9 GAL DYED DIESEL 11-32-10-53410  VEHICLE-FUEL & OIL 195.34

          Total ROTE OIL COMPANY: 1,772.09

SEYMOUR KREMER KOCH

48715 01/31/2019 ATTY CONFLICT 11-13-10-52140  OUTSIDE ATTORNEYS FEES 160.00

          Total SEYMOUR KREMER KOCH: 160.00

STATE OF WISCONSIN

INV64-246 1/1 01/31/2019 COURT FINES-JAN 2019 11-12-00-24240  COURT FINES-STATE 5,108.74

          Total STATE OF WISCONSIN: 5,108.74

TEREX SERVICES

90936113 01/24/2019 LINER/COVERS-TRK#31 11-32-13-54200  TREE & BRUSH-REPAIR 986.01

          Total TEREX SERVICES: 986.01

WALWORTH COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS

114-2019 02/08/2019 SALT-JAN 11-32-10-53400  OPERATING SUPPLIES-STREET DEPT 3,815.30

          Total WALWORTH COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS: 3,815.30

WALWORTH COUNTY SHERIFF

DEC-2018 01/07/2019 PRISONER CONFINES-DEC 11-12-00-52900  CARE OF PRISONERS 30.00



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     6

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

          Total WALWORTH COUNTY SHERIFF: 30.00

WALWORTH COUNTY TREASURER

INV64-246 1/1 01/31/2019 COURT FINES-JAN 2019 11-12-00-24200  COURT FINES-COUNTY 1,656.40

          Total WALWORTH COUNTY TREASURER: 1,656.40

WELDERS SUPPLY CO

10050945 02/01/2019 WELDER/TORCH PARTS 11-32-10-53400  OPERATING SUPPLIES-STREET DEPT 458.60

          Total WELDERS SUPPLY CO: 458.60

WI MUNICIPAL COURT CLERKS ASOC

DUES-2019 02/04/2019 2019 DUES 11-12-00-53320  MUN CT CONFERENCES & SCHOOL 90.00

          Total WI MUNICIPAL COURT CLERKS ASOC: 90.00

WI MUNICIPAL JUDGES ASSOC

DUES-2019 02/07/2019 2019 DUES 11-12-00-53320  MUN CT CONFERENCES & SCHOOL 100.00

          Total WI MUNICIPAL JUDGES ASSOC: 100.00

WI SUPREME COURT

64-0246 2019 01/08/2019 JUDICIAL EDUCATION 11-12-00-53320  MUN CT CONFERENCES & SCHOOL 700.00

          Total WI SUPREME COURT: 700.00

YAKES TRUCKING

001 02/05/2019 SNOW REMOVAL-1/29 11-32-12-52200  CONTRACT HAULING SERVICES 1,056.00

          Total YAKES TRUCKING: 1,056.00

          Grand Totals:  394,719.69

           Dated: ______________________________________________________

           Mayor: ______________________________________________________

  City Council: ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

                       ______________________________________________________

City Recorder: _____________________________________________________



CITY OF LAKE GENEVA Payment Approval Report Page:     7

Report dates: 7/1/2018-2/28/2019 Feb 15, 2019  10:14AM

Invoice Number Invoice Date Description GL Account and Title Net 

Invoice Amount

Report Criteria:

Detail report.

Invoices with totals above $0.00 included.

Only unpaid invoices included.

Invoice.Batch = "190225","190226","181231D","181231E"

Invoice.Payment due date = 02/26/2019


	0-February 25, 2019 Council Agenda
	Regular City Council Meeting
	Monday, February 25, 2019 – 6:00 PM
	Council Chambers, City Hall

	08-February 11, 2019 Council Minutes
	Regular City Council Meeting Minutes
	Monday, February 11, 2019 – 6:00 PM
	Council Chambers, City Hall

	09a-Original Operator License FLR
	09b-Haywood Graduation Party Cobb Park
	09c-Aldi Agent Change Application
	12aa-Resolution 19-R08- Budget Amendment-Contingency for Part-Time Front Counter Clerk Wages
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	12ab-Part Time Front Counter Clerk Wage Comparison
	Sheet1

	12ba-Resolution 19-R09- Budget Amendment 2018- Contingency to cover overages
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	12bb-2018 Proposed Budget Amendments
	Sheet1

	12ca-Resolution 19-R10- 2018 Budget Carryover- Equipment Replacement Fund
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	12cb-2018 Proposed Budget Carryovers
	Sheet1

	12da-Resolution 19-R11- Transfer from General Fund to Lakefront and Parking Fund
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	12db-Lakefront and Parking Transfers
	12e-Resolution 19-R12- Fee Schedule- Establishing 2019 Pier, Lagoon, Buoy, and Dinghy Rates- Adding Commercial Launch Fees
	Schedule of Fees

	12fa-2019-20 TAPCo contract
	12fb-2018 TAPCo Contract
	12ga-memo to PWC Cale meter 2-14-19
	12gb-Cale Parking Equipment Proposal
	12ha-PWC license lookup request 2-12-19
	12hb-License Lookup Contract
	13aa-Resolution 18-R72- CUP to Lake Geneva Plaza- Dunkin Donuts
	14aa-Resolution 18-R72 CUP Dunkin Donut - Gas Station
	14ab-190 E Main St CUP
	190 E Main St CUP
	190 E Main St CUP
	Application A
	PLAZA SHELL SHOWING REVISED VACUUMS B
	PLAZA SHELL LANDSCAPING REVISED VACUUMS C
	PLAZA SHELL SHOWING SIGNAGE AREAS D
	Plaza Shell Lighting Plan E
	Basement Foundation Plan Overall Floor Plan Car Wash Floor Plan F


	14ac-5 21 2018 Plan Commission Minutes

	13ab-Shell Plaza Engineers Report 2-4-2019
	13ac-Fuel Truck Exhibit
	13b-N891 State Road 120 CSM
	N891 Hwy 120 ETZ CSM
	N879 State Road 120 CSM Final
	N879 State Road 120 CSM ETZ
	doc01795120190208115649
	doc01795220190208115701

	N879 HWY 120_CSM_Review
	Memo to the City of Lake Geneva



	13c-N1886 Hwy 120 & N1922 Hwy 120 CSM
	N1886 Hwy 120 ETZ CSM
	N1886 Hwy 120 & N1922 Hwy 120 CSM Final
	N1886 Hwy 120 & N1922 Hwy 120 CSM - ETZ
	Lot line Application for submittal.pdf
	Pages from Lot Line Application.pdf
	Pages from Application Pollard Signature.pdf
	Pages from Application Purnell Signature.pdf


	N1886 HWY 120_CSM_Review.pdf
	Memo to the City of Lake Geneva



	13d-811 Wrigley Drive CSM
	811 Wrigley Dr. Popeye's CSM
	811 Wrigley Drive CSM Final
	Application for Land Division signed
	proposed 3 lot csm
	Anagnos Properties_LLC_CSM_Review
	Memo to the City of Lake Geneva



	13ea-Resolution 19-R13-727 Geneva St PIP
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	13eb-Geneva Street PIP
	727 Geneva Brewery PIP
	727 Geneva Street PIP Revised Final
	727 Geneva Street PIP Revised 020719


	13fa-Resolution 19-R14 -715 Lagrange CUP
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	13fb-715 LaGrange Drive CUP
	715 LaGrange Dr CUP SR-4  ER-1
	715 LaGrange Drive CUP Application Final 3
	715 LaGrange Drive CUP Application Final 2
	715 LaGrange Drive CUP Application Final
	715 LaGrange Drive CUP Application
	2019.0009.01 - Topo - Green Stamp (3)
	koenig1
	koenig2
	koenig3
	koenig4
	koenig5

	Koenig Conditional Use FAR-LSR
	Koenig Conditional Use Proposed Home
	KoenigConditional Use Existing Home

	715 Lagrange Engineering Report 2-11-2019


	13ga- Resolution 19-R15-Summerhaven Phase II PIP
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	13gb-Summerhaven Phase II PIP
	Summerhaven Phase II
	Summerhaven Phase II - PIP Final
	pd-pip app-2 w exhs-1 of 3
	pd-pip app-2 w exhs-2 of 3
	pd-pip app-2 w exhs-3 of 3


	13gc-McMurr Summerhaven Phase II- Compare 3 to 4
	13gd-McMurr Summerhaven Phase II- Developer's Agreement 4
	14aa-COUNCIL - Prepaids - Coversheet and Description
	Prepaids

	14ab-Prepaids 2-6-19, 2-13-19
	14ba-COUNCIL - REG - Coversheet and Descriptions
	FLR Cover Sheet
	FLR Items over $5000

	14bb-Detail Board Report 02 19 19



